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FOREWORD

. the human ego . . . learns that
the world, supposedly made for its
enjoyment, has existed for untold eons
entirely indifferent to its coming.
The chill vapors of time and space are
beginning to filter under the closed
door of the human intellect.

-~Loren Eiseley

Gordon Robinson, the door of whose intellect has
remained a bit ajar, is the man Les Pengelly would cast
in the role of forest reformer. It is Les, Montanan and
current president of the Wildlife Society, who said
"selective logging means you select a mountain and you
log it" and who described Smokey the Bear as Anthro-
pomorphous ursinity.

It was providential that the Sierra Club was ready
for Gordon Robinson when he was ready for it. It will
also be providential when the day comes, as it will, when
2 stultified profession—--which vies with economics for
the title of the Dismal Science--lets some of his light
into its thinking. On the day this happens, a fresh
breeze will blow, and the decrepit, old-growth, snag-
topped, widow-maker trees will wave gracefully in it.
They got where they are, as their countless generations
of ancestors did, and as their progeny still may, because
their DNA knows what forestry schools don't teach. The
trees got here somehow, unaided by foresters, and we are
grateful.

These lines of appreciation for Gordon are in-
flammatory and are meant to be so. Conventional Wisdom
Sawlog Forestry requires that they be written, explained,
underlined, and reiterated. It is hard to imagine any
other profession that has been traveling so long and
covered so little distance. Forests, of all resources,
should inspire long-range thinking. Forests should nur-
ture, in forest stewards, a forest ethic, a system of
taboos, if need be, ensuring that forests be considered
a trust, not an opportunity to cut and get out, leaving
the carnage artfully disguised. The forestry profession
might have been custodians of the conservation ethic, but
although they heard the advice of a few greats--Aldo
Leopold among them--they speedily dismissed it.
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These are angry lines perhaps in part because they
are written just after a brief flight over the ecological
nonsense of vast and ever-expanding clearcuts on steep
slopes in Washington's North Cascades. They also follow
close on the latest in a long series of challenges to
timber engineers to be responsible in their work. The
challenge, which I have made year after year, is for
someone in the Forest Service, in forestry schools, or
in forest industries to reveal what, if any, comprehensive
research they are carrying out on the effects of forest
monoculture-~of infectious monoculturosis. There has been
no response to plea after plea that someone would at long
last say if the profession was indeed studying the matter--
evaluating the dangers to the U.S. forests that mono-
culture poses, or doesn't pose if I am wrong and natural
systems are only in the way. That silence bodes ill for
the hopes of anyone who believes that future generations
deserve forests as fine as ours were when I started look-
ing at them sixty years ago, beéfore they were as plagued
by insensitive forest practices as they are now--practices
in wanton violation of public trust.

Apparently the foresters in the Service, the graduate
schools, and the industry are not curious about the long-
range effects of monoculture, but Gordon Robinson is. He
has been looking into it; but it is a lonely vigil.

For his vigilance, for his honesty, for his will-
ingness to speak out, for his demand that excellent
forestry be substituted for shabby forestry, we can be
grateful, and so can the trees. But he should not be so
lonely in his work. We can pray that his vision and per-
sistence will bring about a new generation of foresters,
prepared to realize that they have done enough harm al-
ready, and with enough Robinsonian courage to travel a
new, gentler path, not the old swath through American
forests.

David R. Brower
April 1979
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PREFACE

Gordon Robinson has '""the courage of his convictions.”
A kind, friendly man, he nonetheless tells his story in
a forthright, let-the-chips-fall-where-they-may fashion.
Expressive and articulate, his sentences flow readily
into paragraphs interrupted by spontaneous laughter and
punctuated with booming exclamations and introspective
near-whispers. The interviewer's job was easy; turn on
the recorder and keep still, except for an occasional
nudge of Gordon's memory.

This interview with Gordon Robinson tells us much
of the man--and of the Sierra Club. It describes events,
explains issues, and offers insights into important
personalities. It also points to the club's Robinson-
like self-confidence, for its history committee has been
given the charge to "tell it 1like it was.'" This insti-
tutional history program is clearly the best supported
by any conservation group in the nation.

The interview was conducted in three sessions spot-
ted over a year. The first session took place in the
television studio of the University of . California, Santa
Cruz, on September 20, 1977. Both of us were a bit
intimidated by the sterile surroundings, bright lights,
and time constraints--sixty scheduled minutes ran into
seventy--and we weren't well acauainted. We soon became
immersed in the topics at hand, however, and the session
went well.

The goal of making the video session complete in
itself required framing guestions that would produce a
cross section of Gordon's substantial impacts on con-
servation affairs. For the sake of overall continuity,
therefore, the first session has been woven into the
other two. The video tape is part of the historical
record and is held by the Forest History Society, Santa
Cruz, California.

The second session on February 10, 1978, took place
in the Robinson home in Tiburon, a half hour north of
San Francisco. Rambling architecture typical of postwar,
suburban California fronts on a quiet street and overlooks
a comfortable yard--patio, lawn, vegetable garden, flowers,
fruit trees. Sitting at the dining-room table with the
tape recorder between us, we could watch his neighbor's
pet chickens hop the back fence to hunt snails and bugs--
natural pest removers, Gordon would comment. Paintings,



sculpture, books, .and guitars were in ample evidence from
room to room, and lunch was Gordon's homemade leek soup.
A pleasant day and a substantive session.

Back in Santa Cruz for the final taping on October 3,
1978, we sat this time at my dining-room table. By now we
were fast friends and fully relaxed--too relaxed, some
will feel, because I broke the rules of oral history time
and again by interjecting opinions and swapping stories.
Supposedly this was to be Gordon's interview. The edi-
torial process allows interviewers ample opportunity to
cover up their transgressions, as I strongly suspect that
many do, but for the sake of clearly presenting the terrain
surrounding Gordon's answers, my bits of vanity remain.
It was still a gooed session.

The Texas lawsuit to prevent Forest Service clearcuts,
a hot topic that was evolving during all three sessions, is
covered in Chapter 6. We picked up the thread each time
and brought the story up to date. Merging the three bits
into one chapter might have been smoother had all verbs
been edited into agreeing tenses. Instead, the two major
segments remain intact, and are dated on pages 85 and 99
to aid the reader. '

The matter of editing deserves comment, for there
are schools of thought. The text has been edited as
lightly as possible to retain spontaneity, one of the
most valuable ingredients of an interview. GCGordon's opin-
ions, recollections, and interpretations are presented in
a conversational format, to the extent that the written
word can imperfectly convey. He is an accomplished author,
and had he written this account, syntax and substance
would undoubtedly differ. But this difference is precisely
the point; an oral interview is just that, and the reader
should use it accordingly. For the record, Gordon made
almost no changes in the transcript, except to add an
occasional clarifying phrase or to correct the transcriber's
infrequent errors. As already noted, Gordon Robinson has
the courage of his convietions, and he stands by what he
says.

This very quality of self-assurance dominates
Gordon's comments and explains, at least in part, how
he has secured a place for himself in the history of con-
servation. Compact in stature but full-sized in force of
personality, he has stood toe to toe with bevies of experts
who espoused contrary views. And if a side backed down,
it was not Gordon's.

A David and Goliath comparison is a bit too slick,

but apt nonetheless. The simile works well for the Sierra
Club, too, where a fraction of 1 percent of our population
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tugs, with vengeance it must seem to some, at the nation's
drifting resource policies. Gordon was a natural choice
to be the club's consultant, after it became clear that
technical expertise was needed to bolster its forestry
tactics.

Gordon's affection for David Brower, admiration for
Edgar Wayburn, and respect for Michael McCloskey link him
closely to these three giants of recent Sierra Club his-
tory. That a forester, following nearly three decades of
employment in the private sector, would become an intimate
to the club's inner circles speaks to Gordon's commitment
of purpose and to the organization's pragmatism. What
seems at first glance to have been a strange alliance
quickly becomes an obvious team--loosely coordinated at
times--fielding stars that are able to work together to
achieve common goals. These goals have been of great
importance to Gordon, but his often successful efforts to
reach them are only partial justification for this inter-
view. A document as personal as this one can be fully
warranted only if the man himself merits it--and Gordon
does.

Harold K. Steen
April 1979
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EARLY LIFE AND GROWTH OF A PERSONAL PHILOSOPHY

Harold Steen: Let's go back to where you were born;
time, place, and date.

Gordon Robinson: I was born in Vancouver, British
Columbia, in 1911. My parents were American
citizens, but my father was an engineer, and he
was living there at the time. My mother died
when I was five.

I had a stepmother who was an Englishwoman,
a very strict disciplinarian. We had some major
battles when I was very small. I remember one in
particular. She insisted that I had to be baptized
in the Church of England or I would never go to
heaven. So she dragged me, kicking and screaming,
to be baptized in this church.

They insisted in putting a lace frock on me,
which was terribly embarrassing. I remember I bit
the preacher, but he went through the ceremony and
baptized me in the name of the Father and the Son
and the Holy Ghost. [Laughs] I'm surprised he
didn't say, "You little son-of-a-bitch!"

[Laughter] He probably did under his breath.

They insisted on me going to their dumb
Sunday School, too, and she gave me a little card
with a picture of Jesus on it, with his flowing
robes and halo and all this stuff, and it said at
the bottom, "Suffer, little children, to come unto
me." I remember asking my stepmother why they
wanted little children to suffer. She thought I
misinterpreted it, but she was quite wrong.

But anyhow, we got off to that kind of
start. Fortunately, she died about two years
later. [Laughs] So from there on, I--well, I
was always pretty independent, but I had to fight
my way, pretty much. My next stepmother was an
Irish Catholic woman.



0Of course, I was a child of the forest up
there. Our house in Vancouver was on two and
a half acres that my ‘father had bought, virgin
forest about halfway from Vancouver, to New
Westminster. They cleared one acre and built
a house on it.

Steen: What was his occupation?

Robinson: He was an engineer. He was chief engineer
for the B.C. Electric at that time, which is the
Vancouver equivalent of the PG&E here. He went
into business for himself and failed during the
First World War. That resulted in us moving
down here.

Steen: He was a college-trained engineer?

Robinson: Yes. He went to Boston Tech, which later
became MIT. Then he got a master's degree at
Union University in Schenectady. It was a combi-
nation of electrical and hydraulic engineering.
He was a very bright, philosophical guy, pretty
inept at handling family and financial affairs,
but a very good guy.

Steen: In the move to Berkeley, he apparently changed
his job.

Robinson: Yes. He went to work for the PG&E down
here, building powerhouses and a batch of new
substations under construction in the early
twenties. He worked with those.

But I was going to tell you about the trip
to California. We came by ship. At that time,
I thought the whole world was forest. 1I'd heard
of the prairies, but I figured that that's where
the trees just weren't so big. My stepbrother,
who was my age, and I thought that California was
the land of plenty. We thought that it was a
tropical jungle. I remember asking my step-
mother, "I guess nobody has to work in California
unless they want to, do they?" I don't know what
her reply was, but it wouldn't have made any
difference. [Laughs] This was our illusion,
and we weren't going to let go of it.



We imagined that it was full of bananas and
monkeys and coconuts and breadfruit and all these
things. We could just pick fruit out of the trees
to live on. [Laughter]

We had to go into Astoria to ride out a
storm, so we were somewhat late getting to San
Francisco. When we finally arrived, we kept
asking one of the deckhands when we were coming
into the harbor, and he said, '"Six a.m. we go
through the Golden Gate." '"Well, why can't we go
in earlier?" '"Well, because we have to wait for
two angels to come down and open the Golden Gate."

Well, we didn't believe him, you know. But
just in case, we were out on deck at five o'clock

to make sure we didn't miss anything. [Laughter]
But as we got in close to the headlands, my gosh,
there were no trees! It was September, I recall,

and it was all dry. We were absolutely stunned.
So from there on, my brother and I--every weekend
we'd go for a hike. We'd see a grove of eucalyptus
trees someplace, and we'd hike, take a lunch, and ’
go for miles and find them all in straight rows
and be disgusted, get poison oak, go home. I
always wanted to get back to the forest.

As I mentioned, my stepmother was Catholic,
and so she believed she was under obligation to
send her kids to a Catholic school, but they told
me I was free to go to public school if I wanted
to.

Steen: But you had been baptized, after all?

Robinson: But I didn't have a Catholic baptism, so
that didn't count for her. [Laughs] Well, I
decided that in the interest of family unity, I
would go to the school with them. I just thought
it would help make this family merge. We hadn't
been very successful up to that point. Somewhere
along the line, I became converted to Catholicism.
I'm more ashamed of that than anything that I
ever did in my life.

Steen: It doesn't seem consistent that they would
have nabbed you.



Robinson: I know. I'm really ashamed that I let
anybody persuade me with all that stuff, but I
did. Anyhow, they had to baptize me all over
again, because the first one was not legitimate.
[Laughs] I remember my father was quite angry,
though. He was overwhelmed.

A few years later, I left home in this
quarrel over religion. I reasoned my way out
of the Church--whatever other complications is
more than you want to hear about, I guess. Oh,
well, I'11 tell you. We lost our house. My
father lost his job in 1928, I guess it was. We
were buying a house and furniture and a car and
all this, a washing machine, on the installment
plan, you know. So they came and got all that
stuff. My father got a job in South America
some place. We moved up to central Oregon, to
a forty-acre tract that my stepmother had acquired,
her former husband had gotten on a bad debt
somehow. So I took charge of the situation, to
move up there.

We went down to Richmond and looked at used
cars. I selected a 1916 Oldsmobile touring car.
I had been working after school in a garage,
and I knew something about tuning automobiles
and stuff. So I took this down to the garage
where I worked and put in new plugs and breaker
points and we bought five recaps for two dollars
and a half apiece, so the whole thing came to
fifty bucks.

Then we made three piles of our earthly
belongings--one, the essentials; and one, the
non-essentials, and then one pile of things
that we would like to keep if there was room
for them. So we loaded the car with the essentials,
and we got on all of the keepsakes, and I thought
we still had room, so we went back through the
other [laughs] to pick out things that we wanted,
loaded the car, and took off for Oregon.

It took us two days to drive up there, and
we just abandoned the house.

Steen: What was the highway then?



Robinson: It was 99. They had just completed it. We
went up from Klamath Falls to Bend, and then went
up--I believe it was a dirt road from Klamath
Falls to Bend, but it was paved to Klamath Falls.
We went to Ashland and over the hill. The road
through Weed wasn't in yet.

So we found a local person to build a one-
room house, of boards and bats for the family,
and when I saw that they were okay, I left and
went to San Francisco and got a job with the
telephone company.

Steen: What was your age?

Robinson: Sixteen. I was working as a--what do you
call it? I was a messenger in the mailroom at
140 New Montgomery Street. The boss was an old
Irish Catholic woman, Mrs. Mousang, and somehow
she found out about everybody's religion, and
all of the kids that had a Catholic background
had to go to mass or else we could get no advance-
ment in the telephone company! Those people are
terrible. [Chuckles]

Well, we fought about that. She also
threatened me with the law. The law required
that anybody under eighteen years of age had to
go to school. Well, I couldn't go to school,
because I had to earn a living. So she held that
over my head.

One of my friends introduced me to the
company librarian, who invited me to read the
biographies of great men. I read a lot of them.
The one thing that really got to me was the
discovery that every one of them rebelled against
the church they had been brought up in, and they
became agnostics. All, that is, but one, Edward
Bok. I didn't like him; he was a phony.

There was a young Jewish girl who gave me
some encouragement. She was the only person I
knew if the world who supported me in trying to
fight my way out of that church. But I finally
reasoned something like this, that if there is
a God--I'm not sure there is, still not. But
if there is, and he provided me with a brain,



he expects me to use it. If God would punish

me for all eternity for acting on the conclusion
reached by using the brain that he endowed me
with, then God is unjust. And so either God is
unjust, or the Church is wrong. And if God is
unjust, there isn't a thing I can do about it,
and so I'm going to have my integrity and that's
that.

So one Sunday morning, I got as far as 01ld
St. Mary's Church on California Street--I was
living in North Beach at the time--1I was scared.
You know, the Catholics believe that if you miss
mass only once, even, you're all through, unless
you confess it and get back in the good graces
of the Deity.

I looked in the door and saw all these
miserable people in there, fumbling their beads,
and I made up my mind I would not go in there.

I went through this logic of mine once more, to
see if there was any flaw in it, and I couldn't
find anything wrong with it, and I said, "I'm

not going to go in." So I turned and I walked

up California Street, and I just kept going. Well,
I walked clear out to Land's End, and I stood out
there with the fog blowing in through my open
shirt, tears streaming down my face, and I was
free.

Well, you know, ever since then--that's
basic to me. First of all, I didn't think of
it at the time, but I look back on it now as a
religious experience, a strong one. From there
on, when I'm involved in a controversy, if I
figure out something and reach a conclusion, and
everybody disagrees with me, I just think back
on that and I stand my ground.

Steen: The majority rule doesn't necessarily mean
truth.

Robinson: It doesn't mean anything. It just means
that lots of people have unthinkingly gone along
together, and that doesn't do anything except
create political problems. The point is that
I never again allowed anyone to con me into
saying I believe something I'm not convinced of



in my own mind to avoid controversy. The
difficulties it raises are just too painful
to bear. '

Steen: In the letter you wrote to me six months
ago or so, you were suggesting ideas to pursue,
and one was the Unitarian Fellowship. So you
did get back into religion, of sorts.

Robinson: Well, yes. I was belligerently opposed
to being involved in any church. From there
on, people were always trying to convert me and
get me to come to their church, because it was
different, and all that. I'd get there, and
it would just be an embarrassing display of
nonsense. 8o I just refused to have anything
to do with it.

When we were married, I made sure that my
wife was of the same persuasion. She had gotten
out of the Mennonites in much the same way I had
left the Catholic Church, although more gently.
Her parents had survived it. They had good
strong family ties. She didn't want to hurt
her parents' feelings, but she had outgrown it.

Anyhow, I just wanted to be sure we didn't
have any of that stuff in our family. When our
kids started coming along, one day she told me
that the kids were being proselyted by some
orthodox church people in the neighborhood, and
they wanted to go to Sunday school. I was going
to have to do something about it.

My first thought was that I was being
betrayed by my wife, but then I realized that
that wasn't so. She got me to realize that if
I had my way and told them that they couldn't
go, I'd lose. Either they would go in a reaction
to me later, or I'd just weaken and they'd get
involved and be terrified by stories of Hell and
all this stuff, which I wanted to avoid.

So it was up to me to go find a church that
made sense, and Adina suggested that I look in
on the Unitarians. There happened to be a
Unitarian church in Sacramento, and I went there.



Here was an obviously well-informed, intelligent
man saying what he really believed from a pulpit
in the church. I could hardly believe it. I
had never heard of such a thing.

Well, I kept going back Sunday after Sunday
looking for the catch, and there was no catch. So
I became a very enthusiastic Unitarian. [Laughs]
We enrolled our kids, and they got along fine.
Then in 1949, I was transferred to San Francisco
to set up the timber management plan for the
Southern Pacific Company, after I had persuaded
them to change their policy, you know.

That meant moving down here, so we chose
Marin County. That was when we bought this
house. We rented in San Rafael for a year
first. I looked for a Unitarian Sunday school
here, and there was none. 1I'd heard that the
Congregationalists were very similar, so I asked
the Congregational minister if that was the case
with his church, and he said, '"Nope! We're
Bible-believing Trinitarians. You might look
in on the Christian Scientists." Well, I wasn't
about to get involved with the Christian
Scientists. I didn't know what to do about it.

Then I discovered that the Unitarians
were starting Fellowships around the country.

So I got in touch with the regional director

at Berkeley and found out what that was about.

We organized the Marin congregation of the
Unitarians, which is now a flourishing establish-
ment. So that's how that came to be.

But for a long time, I thought that if
I didn't do anything else in my life, that
was worthwhile.

Steen: You've talked about your personal philosophy,
at least as related to religion, and how you
used that as a benchmark. When you're convinced
you're right, you go ahead. Do you have other
philosophies that you consider your own?

Robinson: Well, yes. My father was a freethinker,
too. When I was quite little, I used to ask



him to help me decide what I should be when I
grow up. Teachers in school would say, '"Now,
you've got to decide what you're going to be,
what you're to study." So I'd ask my father,
and he'd say, '""Be yourself." That used to annoy
me. [Chuckles] I thought it was a copout. But
I later realized he was right.

He would also say, '""Know thyself.'" I would
ask how to determine what's right or wrong about
things that seemed strange in the world, and his
answer was always, ''Know thyself.' So I suppose
that's where it came from. And that's where I am.

Whatever God there is, to my way of thinking,
is the universe itself taken in its entirety.

Steen: When I teach at U.C. Santa Cruz, a lot of my
students feel guilty because they don't know
what they want to be yet. They feel great
pressures to make that decision, and of course,
they have to make it sometime. But you're
always being asked, "What do you want to be
when you grow up?"

Robinson: I'm still wonderings. I don't think you

have to decide. I find that life just unfolds.
Everything I've done of any significance has
turned out to be one of the qualifying experiences
for the next thing I do. It's always been like
that. I think life just unfolds like a flower.

I think the important thing is to know that you
are doing something that is socially useful.

Another thing that my father used to insist
on, and which I found verifications for in all
my life, and that is that there's pleasure in
any kind of work, no matter what it is, providing
it's socially useful and that it's well done.
Don't you find that?

Steen: Right. I think that everybody wants to be
useful. We define it differently.

You expressed interest in art, and I see
that there's a range of art objects around the
house. 1Is that your wife's or yours, these
oriental things here?
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Robinson: Most of these things you see in this room
are things that we've acquired. That's Eskimo
art there. The one over here, on this wall as
you come in, is a painting by a famous Chinese
artist. He had studied in Europe for awhile, and
he did that while he was a student.

Steen: Do you paint or draw?

Robinson: Paint, and I also make an art of photo-
graphy.

Steen: You and Ansel Adams.

Robinson: [Modestly]l] O©Oh, no, no. All I do are
slides. I have some darn good slide shows.
Through studying painting, I learned how to make
good composition. I shoot for composition.

How I got into that is kind of interesting.
About 1953 or '54, a neighbor who is a good
friend of ours came by and asked me to go with
her to something up at the College of Marin. I
didn't notice what it was, and I didn't care.
She was a good friend, and I thought she just
wanted an escort. Her husband was away that
night or something, and so I went with her. It
turned out to be a course entitled "Art for
Parents and Teachers." The instructor was Ann
O'Hanlon. Have you heard of her?

Steen: No.

Robinson: Her husband, Dick O'Hanlon, taught
sculpture at Berkeley for a number of years,
and she was director of the art department at
Dominican College at the time. She is a genius
at teaching, and she is an extremist in the
philosophy of experience-centered teaching
techniques. At that time, teaching methods
were a matter of great controversy in the public
schools. Some people thought that kids should
have the 3 R's drilled into their heads, and
others felt that the kids should be given
experiences so that the education would consist
very largely of answering their questions.
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So Ann was an extremist on the experience-
centered side, and I felt, well, here's a chance
to see if that works. [Laughs] So I went
regularly to her class. She couldn't lecture
about art, she had to just put us through the
experiences that she hoped parents and teachers
would provide for children learning art. So
we did fingerpainting and we did all kinds of
things. Made designs with torn paper and collages
and just all kinds of stuff.

Steen: Do you think that this training in art,
interest in photography, developed a sense
of aesthetics that you didn't have before and
had an impact on you as a forester that other
foresters might not have? 1Is that part of
why you worked for the Sierra Club?

Robinson: 1It's something like that, yes. Actually,
what it did was not to provide any new tech-
niques or knowledge, particularly, but it
simply reaffirms that adage of my father's:
"Know yourself.” One of the things Ann insisted
on was that we should keep everything we do.

I was in that course for four or five years.
Well, at first, I thought the difference between
the things I did and the things that artists
did was a measure of my inferiority. Several
years later, after I knew that I knew how to
paint, I went back and looked at the things I
did at first and found that they weren't very
much different. But then I knew that the
difference between the things I did and the
things other painters did was a measure of my
individuality.

Ninety percent of learning to paint is
making that transition.

I carried that over into other areas of
concern. I think this is true of everything.
I know that in learning a foreign language, at
first you are struggling with the mechanics of
the language and trying to build a vocabulary,
and you're being very careful about the sequence
of words, to be sure that your grammar is correct.
But as long as you're doing that, you haven't
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learned it. When you decide that you don't need
that stuff, and make up sentences of your own,
and think in the language, then you've mastered
it.

It's similar to learning English. Teachers
give us all these rules of grammar, and when you
get to the point where you phrase the sentences
the way you want to, because that's the way you
want it, you don't give a shit about the rule,
then you've learned to write.

S0 the experience in art was a strong
affirmation of that principle, that learning
is a matter of discovering oneself, and creates
a developing confidence in oneself.

Steen: It heightens your ability to perceive.
Robinson: Oh, yes.

Steen: A lot of people can drive down a highway and
never see left or right. They're looking at the
highway, because they haven't been trained, or
they're not interested, or some such thing.

Robinson: Or haven't thought about it.

Steen: It's like somebody trained in architecture
can walk down a city street and see all sorts
of things that you and I might not have seen.
We don't even know that they're there to see.
It's all a matter of aesthetics. And what is
pretty is certainly a factor of forest management.

Robinson: Well, I think what it comes down to in

relation to forestry is that a lot of my work

is in giving people who are not foresters self-
assurance. I want people to realize that their
gut reaction to what they see is reliable. If
they see the land torn up and the soil eroding
and the forest destroyed, and somebody tries to
tell them, "Oh, yeah. This is even-aged manage-
ment, and this is scientific forestry,'" and they
don't believe them. I want them to know that
they need not be confused by this guy's sales
line. They should have confidence enough to go
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and look for supporting data to substantiate
their observations and not worry about his
propaganda.

Steen: Does your philosophy or attitude distinguish
between natural environment as opposed to man-
made? For example, you like Oriental art, and
certainly they do a lot of landscaping in Japan.
But so much of the ecology movement is tied up
with bean sprouts, natural food, and the natural
landscape, and anything that we might do has to
be inferior. Is that part of your attitude?

A well-managed stand apparently is attractive
to you. I've seen some of your slides. You
point to it with pride; there's a well-managed,
selectively cut stand of ponderosa pine. And
yvet that's a man-made or man-manipulated stand.

Robinson: Well, it's hardly man-manipulated. The
growth of the vegetation takes care of a lot of
it. I just think that the beauty of the forest
is mostly a by-product of good management. I
don't think you should work for it directly.

Steen: The Forest Service is hiring more and more
landscape architects, as an example.

Robinson: Yes, and I'm contemptuous of that. I think
of the Forest Service hiring landscape architects
the same way I do the military hiring chaplains.

I really do. I think that--well, I've said it
already. The beauty of the forest is a by-product
of good management. If it doesn't look good,

then it isn't good management. It's as simple

as that.



FORESTRY EDUCATION

Harold Steen: Let's turn now, if we might, to your
forestry education. Why did you enter forestry?

Gordon Robinson: That's a good yarn. I went to
school and dropped out and went back to school,
several times, you know. I told you how I left
in the first place. Then I found I wasn't
getting anywhere unless I had a high school
diploma. So I went back and lived with my family
on a farm in central Oregon, finished high
school, and then came back to San Francisco
again.

This time I worked for Remington Rand.
There was a girl named Dorothy Olney, who kept
telling me I ought to go to college. I told her,
"But I can't," and she said, "But yes, you can."
Finally one day I told her, "But my grades
aren't good enough." I really had done miserably
in high school. She said, "But you can go to
Junior college as a special student.'" "How do
yvou know?" '"Well, my father is president of
Marin Junior College. I think if you go talk
to him, he will assure you."

After a little prodding, I took a day off
and went to Kentfield and talked to Mr. Olney,
and lo and behold, she was correct! I could
enter as a special student. So I did, and I
made arrangements with Remington Rand to work
half-time. They were grateful for that, because
they were laying people off, owing to the declined
business during the Depression. It was '31, I
believe.

So I decided first I wanted to be a teacher.
I loved physics and chemistry, but I had never
dreamed--I just didn't think it was possible
for me to ever become a chemist or physicist or
college professor, but I thought I might be able
to get to teach it on a high school level. I
thought I could do that.

14
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But when I got a closer look at the teachers,
and the way their lives were, how they were
harrassed by school board members and parents,
about their smoking habits and their sex habits
and all this stuff, I decided that I wasn't going
to be involved in that. So I decided to be an
engineer like my father.

The professor of physics was a Roman
Catholic who took it upon himself to find out
who were the Catholic students on the campus--

Steen: That's incredible.

Robinson: --and force them to go to church or else.
So I ran into the same goddamn thing that I had
in the telephone company. [Laughs] Well, he
flunked me, because we fought about religion for
a year. I don't know if that was the reason,
but I think it must have been, because I'm good
in that kind of subject.

Anyway, [laughs] I changed my major again.
After a while I was really very disturbed about
this major business. Dr. Souza, who taught
chemistry, was a real good person. I was telling
him my troubles one day, and he said, "Why don't
you forget about your major and just go to school
to enhance your enjoyment of 1life?" Well, that
took an immense load off my back! Of course,
that's what I'm doing anyway, isn't it? I hadn't
realized it, you know.

So I took psychology and art and philosophy
to answer my questions. I was curious about all
kinds of stuff. 8So I took an extra year--1 was
three years here at this school--and then I
figured it was over, because I didn't see how
I could finance my way through Cal. Some kid--
I've forgotten who it was--insisted that I should
go to Berkeley at least one semester, to see what
it's 1like. I didn't know what I was going to
do, so I decided I'd do that.

I went over to Berkeley and enrolled. They
said, "What's your major?'" and I said, "I don't
have one," and they said, '""Oh, you have to have
a major or we can't accept your enrollment."
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[Laughs] There I was in the soup again! [Laughs]
Fortunately, I had taken Dr. Strong's professional
aptitude test. You know.about Dr. Strong at
Stanford?

Steen: No.

Robinson: Well, he did a lot of work correlating
the likes and dislikes of the whole gamut of
the human experience of people who are happy in
their professions--not successful, because he
doesn't know what success means, but happy in
their professions--with the students, on the
theory that if you have the same likes and dis-
likes as the people you are working with, you'll
probably be happy in that profession.

Well, he couldn't assure me of anything
because my tastes covered such a wide range, I
guess. [Laughs] Anyway, he had doctor, minister
(which was absurd, because I didn't believe in
God--I hadn't heard of the Unitarians yet),
chemist, physicist, engineer. In those days,
preople were hanging on advice about Jjob oppor-
tunities in various professions, too. Every
time a new report would come out, a lot of
people would change their majors to increase
their opportunities of employment. [Laughs]
Times were pretty desperate, you know. So I
got the most recent of those, and I matched the
things in this Strong test with the job oppor-
tunities.

Then I took that again and matched it up
with the prerequisites that were required for
these different courses, and somehow wound up
in a major of foreign trade. I'll never know
how I did it, but that's what happened. It
served the purpose of the moment, and so I worked
out a schedule in foreign trade. There would
have been a class at eight o'clock Monday morning,
and so I was content for the weekend. The phone
rang, and it was Ed Griffith, a friend of mine
from Marin, who transferred to Cal a year ahead
of me. He said, "I found your name in the list
of new students, I want to come and see you."
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I said, "Oh good, come on up! 1I'd love to see
you.'" So Ed came and he asked, "What are you
majoring in?" and I told him this long tale.

He said, "Why don't you take forestry?"
"What's that? I never heard of it.'" Nobody had
mentioned it. He said, '"Well, it's taking care

of forest property." '"Is that what you're major-
ing in?'" '"Yes.'" '"Well, what are your job
opportunities going to be?" He said, "Well, I
don't know." '"Then why are you doing it?'" He

said, "I just want to stop them from pulling
up all the trees.'

That sounded pretty good to me. He said,
"What are your prerequisites?” and I said, "I
don't know, what are they for forestry?" He
said, "Let me see." So he worked out a schedule
for me for forestry. Well, it turned out that
I would have to begin all over again, practically.
I didn't have half of the prerequisites. It was
kind of fun. But if I took that, there would be
an eight o'clock class in dendrology, by Baker,
Monday morning.

We laughed it off, and Ed went home and I
went to bed. But then I kept waking up wondering,
should I go to that forestry course or that
foreign trade course at eight o'clock tomorrow
morning? [Laughs] And I couldn't go to sleep.
I finally decided, in order to get this out of
my head and go to sleep, that if it was a
socked-in foggy day, I'll go take the foreign
trade course. But if it's a bright clear day
and the birds were all hollering and yelling,
I'll go take that course in forestry.

It was a beautiful day.
Steen: What else could you do then?

Robinson: And that's how I came to be a forester.
I had the courage to do this because my father
had always insisted that [laughs] there's
pleasure in any work if it's well done and it's
socially useful, and this was up to me.
Certainly it was useful.
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Steen: The sunny day. That's how you got to be a
forester.

Robinson: Yes.
Steen: Who was your favorite professor?

Robinson: Oh, Dr. Baker. Baker was teaching silvi-
culture and dendrology at the time I was a
student. He later became the dean. He is the
author of two textbooks on silviculture which
are part of the American Forestry Series. His
philosophy is pretty well described in the
foreword to his second book which is called
the Principles of Silviculture.

He uses a quotation from Cotta, a German
forester who lived a hundred and fifty years
ago, saying something to the effect that the
ideal forest is where there are no foresters
and, therefore, no forestry. And this was
translated and used by Fernow in the first
edition of what later became the Journal of
Forestry. And he used it again in his book,
as I said.

Steen: You use that as an introductory paragraph
in your essay entitled "Excellent Forestry": -
""The good forester takes the highest yield from
the forest without deteriorating the soil. The
poor one neither obtains this yield nor preserves
the fertility of the soil." In terms of
excellent forestry, how does one translate that
into what's going on today?

Robinson: Well, at the present time, foresters
throughout the world are performing as though
the soil theory has somehow been discredited.
Really! I have seen this in Australia and
New Zealand and Norway and Canada and the United
States. They're using big heavy machines. The
research is designed to develop ways of logging
the least expensively with little or no con-
sideration for the impact on the soil.

Steen: There's another quote that I want to read
from that introduction to Baker's second
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textbook: '""The forester who practices much
writes but little. And he who writes much
practices but little." Do we have the wrong

people writing textbooks today? Baker apparently
wrote a textbook that meant a lot to you and
influenced your personal philosophy toward
dealing with the forest. If this statement from
Cotta is correct, how do we deal with that? The
people who know forestry aren't writing the books.

Robinson: I don't know. I've been inclined to say
that's somewhat of a cliché. Probably it's true.
I know that the textbooks of today are not nearly
as satisfactory as the ones we had when I was in
school. They expound at length on detail without
showing the derivation of the subject matter.
There are whole volumes on things like data
processing techniques and photo interpretation,
stuff like that.

But the books that I've seen, and this is
verified by the students that I've met, too,
don't seem to deal with what I think are the
real basics. You should be able to go right
from observable data and the axioms of Euclid
and somehow find your way down -to the conclusions
and justification for your practices.

If you can't do that, not that you should
do that all the time, but this should be the
course of thought in the development of thought
in the process of teaching. I don't think that's
happening today and I don't think that's the way
our books are being written.

Steen: Let's go back to Baker for a minute. As best
you can remember about his actual lectures, did
he teach silviculture with an obvious sense of
ethics, defining ethics as decisions you make
that effect other people-—-and certainly applied
silviculture effects people all the time. Was
silviculture a biological concept or was there
a social element to the man? Judging from the
foreword, it's hard to know what the rest of
the book is about.

Robinson: He dealt with a long series of generali-
zations that have been developed by foresters,
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mostly European ones, I believe. Although not
all together.

Steen: What I'm trying to find out is how your ideas
formed. You refer to Baker as a very important
person in your education.

Robinson: I saw him as a whole man. He'd be what we
refer to as a Renaissance man, you know. All
kinds of things, every kind of experience that
he knew or had found its way into his thinking,
and there was a place for it. And he wasn't
torn with inconsistency and he wasn't covering
anything up. He was a free, comfortable, rather
broad person. He was gentle and philosophical,
too.

Steen: You said that Baker was your best professor.
But how do you rank a professor? When you say
that somebody was good or bad, what's the criterion
you use for evaluating a professor?

Robinson: I think in Baker's case I liked him best
because his philosophy agreed with mine. The
things that he brought us to in his teaching
confirmed my love of the forest. I just had a
rapport, because he showed me how to do the kinds
of things I thought needed to be done to manage
a forest in the way that I would like, having it
managed. That really was it.

Steen: What other classes did you like? Baker taught
dendrology and silviculture, right?

Robinson: Yes. I liked silviculture, very much. I
liked mensuration, and I liked management. Dr.
Barr taught those. He also was my kind of man.

Steen: You've mentioned him before. Percy Barr was
somebody you thought was one of the best profs.

Robinson: Yes. He was a rigid disciplinarian, and
he piled great work on us, and he gave us
hurdles to jump. He was tough in that sense.
But I enjoyed that because I was always good
at math and I liked to solve problems and I
could do it. So I could excel at the kind of
thing that he did. That was part of my reason.
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But more than that, he was fearless in arguing
against the people who lobbied for the timber
industry, trying to put down the Forest Service
for their sustained yield policies and their
selection management and that sort of thing.

Steen: You had Walter Mulford, too?
Robinson: And he was dean at the time.
Steen: Did he teach policy?

Robinson: Yes, and I think forest economics. But
I never had a course from him. Actually, I

had a minimum of forestry courses. I would
have liked to have had more, but it took me
six years to get as much as I did. [Laughter]

And I really didn't want to stay on any more.
.Forest influences would have been another good
one. I admired Kittredge, and I bought his
book and got a lot out of it.

Steen: This might be hard to generalize, but what
were the attitudes of your classmates toward
forestry, both in terms of technology and _
also in the ethical sense of the conservation
movement. Did they want to go into industry
and make money or what?

Robinson: I think that probably half of them were
just going along because they thought that was
a way of getting a job. They weren't really
thinking much about anything else. I don't
think they had any particular objectives.

You know, at that time--this is probably
largely still true--the boys seemed to excel
in mathematics and science, but did not do
well in the reading subjects of history and
literature. So more boys took engineering--I
mean, boys took engineering more than any other
subject.

The ones who couldn't cut the math in
engineering transferred to forestry, so we had
the dregs of the university in forestry school.

Steen: That's pretty much the way at the University
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of Washington when I was at school, the same

kind of people flunking out of engineering because
of the math, and they didn't like to read, so

they came out of the humanities.

Robinson: Yes. So there they were--the least qualified
people, the ones with the least interest in
intellectual concerns. That must have accounted
for half the people in that class.

Then I'd say the bulk of the ones who were
interested weren't just drifting like that.
They were associated somehow with families in
the timber industry, and they wanted to be
logging engineers. There were a few who loved
the forest for its biological considerations.

I remember John Mahoney was one. He's now with
the Park Service. He never did want to do
anything except work for the Park Service. He
didn't want to do any logging. That disturbed
him.

I'm the only one I know of in that class
who wanted to manage the forest commercially,
but do it in such a way that it remained useful
for the recreational values.

Steen: How ébout wilderness areas and so forth? Were
most of your classmates opposed to that non-
utilitarian approach to forest management?

Robinson: Yes, most were opposed to it. The word
"wilderness'" hadn't yet entered our vocabulary.
There were Primitive Areas at the time. I
remember at summer camp, when Emanuel Fritz was
one of the instructors. We had two instructors--
I think it was six weeks' summer session. For
three weeks, we had Percy Barr, and the other
three weeks, Emanuel Fritz. Fritz brought in
the timber management officer from the Plumas
National Forest, a guy named Peckinpah, and -
another guy named Hank Norton, who later became
forester for Feather River Lumber Company. They
were scoffing at the Forest Service, or rather
at the recreation-minded people--what did they
call them?--the little old women in tennis shoes
or something~-who were trying to get a Primitive
Area around Spanish Peak. Peckinpah told us how
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he prevented that from happening by selling some
timber to Meadow Valley Lumber Company within the
area they wanted and requiring as part of the
contract that they build a road up to it. They
wanted to make them start logging at the most
remote place and work down toward the mill, partly
so that they wouldn't high-grade the forest, but
primarily to frustrate the conservationists. He
was very proud of that. I was pretty disgusted
with it. But that was the first I'd heard of
Primitive Areas. I didn't know they did that.

Steen: It seems to me that I got through forestry
school without being exposed to any philosophy.
You learn forestry as a technology, and you
graduate, and go to work for somebody, and
you follow their rules, and you lay out timber
sales, and you log carefully and maintain the
productivity of the land, but it was strictly
a technology. It was never an ethic. This
view of forestry came much later for me, really
after I left the Forest Service, when I began
to look at it in a more professional sense than
a technical sense.

Robinson: The whole faculty in Berkeley, with the
exception of Myron Krueger and Emanuel Fritz,
were people who would be very strongly supporting
my position, the Sierra Club position today, I'm
sure. There was one guy I don't know about named
Malmsden. He was there only for a year or two,
and I never knew what he was about. But all the
rest of them were clearly interested in what we
would now call multiple use forestry, as opposed
to what's happening. They would have all been
appalled at what's happening to the national
forests.



FORESTER FOR THE SOUTHERN PACIFIC LAND COMPANY

Harold Steen: You graduated after a mere six years
[laughter]. Why the Southern Pacific Land
Company? During the Depression, why did they
even hire a forester?

Gordon Robinson: Right after I got out of school, I
worked temporarily for the Forest Service. I
worked for Don Jackson making maps. They were
making maps from aerial photographs of the whole
national forest system. I guess it would turn
out to be that forest inventory they called the
Resurvey in 1945. It was the basic work for that.
But this was Jjust until the end of June, when
their budget ran out, or their appropriation
ran out.

About that time I got a job with the state
Division of Forestry in Sacramento. This was
interesting. There was a guy named Daniel
Blood, who worked for the Department of Forestry,
the Division of Forestry they called it then.

We had a law on the statutes, chapter 3.13,
under which every forest land owner had to pay
three cents an acre per year in tax to support
the Division of Forestry, which at that time
was the fire department--period.

They were collecting this from the large
owners, but ignoring the smaller ones. Dan
Blood's idea was that they should either collect
it from everybody or repeal the law. He was
right. So I was hired temporarily to help
compile the names and addresses of all of the
landowners of forest land in the state for
implementing this tax.

In the process, I found out who were the
major timberland owners, just by the process
of working there. The next year I cruised timber
for the Forest Service. I think that's what it
was. And then my cousin--in Sacramento, who

24
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worked for the Southern Pacific Company, showed
me his little company magazine. It indicated
that Mr. Impey, who was the Land Commissioner,
that's chief executive of the land department

of the Southern Pacific Company, had died. I
thought, gee, I guess everybody will move up a
notch, and there'll be a place for a low man on
the totem pole. So I applied for a job with them.

About the same time, Baker got in touch
with me and told me that there was an offer for
someone, a forester for the Associated 0il Company
on a lot of timberland they had acquired for the
oll--for the prospects of o0il in the southern
states. I also got notice of a job offer from
the Forest Service, because I'd passed the junior
forester's exam. This would have been work for
the Klamath National Forest up in Yreka. So I
had these three jobs, all at once.

Well, I decided that it was better not to
be in public employment if I could avoid it.

Steen: Why was that?

Robinson: I don't know. It was a wrong decision,
but I thought that. You know, there's always
- this contempt for the people on the public

payroll. I had picked up some of that, and I
just thought that way at the moment. I didn't
want to go down south because my sympathies were
with the blacks, and at that time, the racial
conditions in the south were really bad. I just
didn't think that I could survive in that social
climate.

But the Southern Pacific looked like a
tremendous opportunity, because they had more
timberland than anyone else in the state, and
they weren't doing anything with it, just selling
it to the lumber companies. So it was really an
easy choice. I probably think it was that, more
than the idea of not working for the government.

Steen: What was the junior forestry exam like? They
had done away with it by the time I went to work
for the Forest Service. I didn't have to take a
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civil service exam as such. Legend has it that
it was very difficult. There were people who

had made district ranger and still hadn't passed
the test. You had to know the difference between
a board and a plank and all kinds of artificial
definitions of things.

Robinson: No, it was a lot of technical stuff. I
don't remember what the questions were. It's
been a long time. But I know it was quite
comprehensive. We went through quite a bit of
material on silviculture and mensuration and
on policy matters. It was a well-rounded,
comprehensive examination.

Steen: How about the fellows you went to school with?
You went to work for S.P. Didn't they mostly go
to work for the Forest Service, if they got a job
in forestry at all?

Robinson: Yes. Well, about half and half. I think
about half went to work for lumber companies.

Steen: That many? I'm surprised.
Robinson: I don't know. I didn't keep track.

Steen: In my own class, at .the University of
Washington, the draft from the Korean War
really took a big bite out of the enrollment.
We started with seventy-six freshmen; only
fourteen of us got through to graduation.
Almost everybody was over in Korea with an M-1.
You had to be in the upper guarter of your class
to keep a draft deferment.

Thirteen of the fourteen, including myself,
went to work for public forestry. Only one in
my class went to work for industry. There's
been a lot of shifting since graduation, and a
lot of them have left public employment for
private enterprise.

Robinson: It seems to me, if I remember right, that
something like 2000 or 2500 people took the
junior forestry exam in a year, and about 1200
of them passed, and seven of them were given
jobs. This was during the Depression.
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Steen: All right, so you're working for S.P. And
you have all this technical knowledge and a
certain ethic, and they weren't doing anything.
How in the hell do you get them to do the right
thing, with all the inertia built into a large
corporation?

Robinson: I was the first professional forester the
company had ever employed. They had a long series
of woodsmen, cruising timber and appraising it
for them. During the Depression, they laid those
guys off, because there was no sales in land.

They had this one guy, an Indian whom they liked,
and they kept him I guess just because he was
an Indian.

Well, there's several things. For one
thing, I was proud that the Southern Pacific
Company--1 went there and met the people who
were managing the company, and the land depart-
ment, and I liked them immediately. They were
gentlemen. They were educated people, and they
had a conscience and a concern. They were not
trying to wring all they could get out of the
land. They wanted to see these lands used
properly.

They welcomed me as a professional forester
who could give them some advice as to how these
lands could best be managed. Really, it was
just amazing, but they did. I didn't feel mature
enough to give them that kind of advice.

Steen: They weren't really freight-oriented, though?
I worked one summer for N.P. Railroad, and to
the company timber was freight. It wasn't some-
thing you managed. If they wanted freight from
the north forty--that's when they logged it, not
because it was time to cut.

Robinson: This is true of the people in the freight
traffic department, but they weren't running
the company. They were one of three factors.

Steen: What was the relationship between the S.P.
Land Company and the railroad itself? Was there
any relationship?
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Robinson: Not very much. It was pretty loose. The

land company was a wholly owned subsidiary. Of
course, the Southern Pacific had been intimidated
too by that lawsuit in which they lost the O & C
land from Oregon. The land department was pretty
well divorced from the company because of that.
I think probably that's why they were more or
less altruistic in their policy, because they
didn't want to lose the rest of the land, and
were pretty well beat by that decision.

But I didn't even know about that at the
time. I just saw these people as the sort of
people I felt comfortable with, and was really
delighted to have the chance to work with them.
But it bothered me that the policy was to sell
the land to lumber companies.

Steen: To sell the land, not the--

Robinson: To sell the land, and the timber. The
Jumber company then just simply disposed of it,
cut the timber and disposed of the land. After
I'd been all over the land grant and could see
what it was, I became aware of what we really
ought to be doing, and I kept telling the boss
that we really should withdraw this land from
sale and manage it. He said, 'Yes, but that's
against policy."

One day I asked him, "Well, who makes
policy?" and he said, "I guess I do." So we
changed the policy. That's how I came to be
brought into the office.

Steen: They probably made as much money selling the
timber as they did the land too, in those days,
when companies didn't want the land.

Robinson: Oh yes, if not more. They don't know how
much of a favor I gave them, doing that. Sure.
Well, I guess the thing that immediately pre-
ceded withdrawing the land from sale was an
assignment to go study the management policies
of three railroads headquartered in Seattle--
the Northern Pacific and the Great Northern and
the Milwaukee.
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Great Northern had some 200,000 acres of
cut-over forest land near Swan Lake in Montana.
We went up there and looked at it. They had just
shut the mill, and they just cut the last of the
timber. The town was on the auction block.
Depressed, unhappy people wandering around the
streets. They wished they had done otherwise.
This was land they'd bought.

The Milwaukee had two or three hundred
thousand acres that they'd purchased out on the
Olympic Peninsula. They were managing that for
sustained yield, but it was still pretty young,
and they wished they had more.

The Northern Pacific had two or three
million acres, two and a half million acres, I
think, still of timberland in the land grant
after having sold the best of it to Weyerhaeuser
to get them settled on the land in the early
twenties.

They were managing it for sustained yield.
Their people were just wonderful. They showed
us their plans, and how they arrived at the
sustained yield, and how they managed their sales
and all. I was greatly inspired by that, and
came back and wrote a detailed report, pointing
out what these people did and recommending that
the Southern Pacific do the same.

Apparently they needed that. Most business-
men don't want to do anything unless they know
that some other businessmen are doing the same
thing. This told them that one was doing the
same thing, and two others wished that they had
been doing the same thing. So that seemed to be
all they needed.

Steen: Was your boss under pressure to bring in a
certain amount of income each year? He was
obviously making some money all along. If his
income dropped to the company, was that a problem
he had to overcome, or could he just--?

Robinson: I suppose. I suppose. But I didn't worry
about that.
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Steen: When I worked for N.P., again--this was at a
very low level. I just was running compass for
timber cruisers. They said that their land
company had a quota. They had to earn six million
dollars—--some figure like that--every year for
the railroad. That's what the railroad wanted,
that much income from the land. That was really
pressure on the foresters to manage the land to
produce that much income. This was in the early
1950s.

Robinson: Well, I figured out how much timber we could
sell, and estimated the income that we could get
from it. And nobody ever questioned it. My boss
was in between the president of the company and
the board of directors and me. I never dealt
directly with the board. Now maybe he had to do
some bargaining and arguing to defend my policies.
I don't know. But if so, he never revealed any
conflicts over it to me.

We had several members of the board who were
conservationists, too. I remember after we got
the management plan going, one time, we put up
a sale in the forest land just west of Lake Tahoe,
and one board member heard about it and was
terribly upset. We had to assure him that this
wasn't going to fuck up the landscape around
Lake Tahoe.

I think the district forester took him out
and showed it to him, and showed him the cut on
the land, and he could see for himself that it
could be logged and still be left looking like
a forest. 1In fact, some of the dead trees were
removed, and it looked pretty darn good.

Then he bragged about the policies after
that. But it took some doing. So I think that
we were just fortunate in the board members that
we had.

Steen: How did you interact with the Forest Service?
They had every other section...

Robinson: Oh, we were close. We were very close.
We were allies. The Forest Service people
helped me immensely in getting this established.
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They helped me find people to hire to implement
the program. They even conducted sales for us
for a couple of years to demonstrate that it was
possible to do this and satisfy our customers.

I had to use the people I had. There were only
three of us initially. I had to use the whole
crew to make an inventory and estimate the
sustained yield in order to have a definite
program.

Steen: How much forest land did you have there?

Robinson: Oh, around 750,000 acres. We had over a
million at the time I went to work, and we sold
the best during the time that I was trying to
get this gioing.

Steen: Were you involved with the SAF? Did you think
of yourself as a professional forester, in the
sense that they talked about it?

Robinson: Oh, yes.

Steen: I think we could say now safely, today, that
you don't see eye to eye with general SAF policy.

Robinson: No, no.

Steen: How about then? Has there been a change in
the profession or a change of view or what?

Robinson: Yes.,.

Steen: Or both, maybe?

Robinson: 1I'd say both. I think that the SAF was
more moderate than they are now, at that time.
People like Arthur Samson and Baker were active

in the Society of American Foresters.

Steen: So was Emanuel Fritz. He was editor of the
Journal of Forestry in the early thirties.

Robinson: Right, right. I didn't like the Journal
at the time he was editing it. I think the tone
has changed. I honestly can't remember. I have
never fully agreed with popular opinions in the
profession, but I never felt that I was an outcast
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either. I mean, I didn't in those days. I have
since I went to work for the Sierra Club, but I
just felt that I was using my right to speak up
within the society, 1like everybody else.

But about the time I left the railroad, the
Forest Service was changing, too. From there on,
they wouldn't even put me on the mailing 1list to
receive the mounds of publications that they used
to send to me when I was with the S.P. I still
can't get them.

Steen: It's pretty obvious from watching your slide
show that you're proud of your professional work
for the railroad--

Robinson: Sure.

Steen: --but you left the railroad.
Robinson: Oh, you wonder how I left?
Steen: Yes.

Robinson: I got fired.

Steen: You told me that they abolished your position
or something. [Laughter] Let's talk about that
a little bit.

Robinson: All right. That's a long story, too. You
know, in 1942 I was .cruising timber out around
Weaverville, and I met Everett Jensen, who was
then the district forester.

Steen: For the railroad?

Robinson: No, for the Forest Service, the Trinity
National Forest. The headquarters of the Trinity
National Forest was in Weaverville, and Shasta
was in Mount Shasta, and they combined them later
in Redding, but at that time it was a separate
national forest.

He thought that--well, he took advantage of
the fact that he was meeting me, and that I worked
for the Southern Pacific Company--to try to
persuade the company to withdraw any lands from



33

sale or development that was in the Trinity Alps
Primitive Area. We went up and looked at some

of it, and I was fully in agreement with him. I
felt that this was not the kind of land that should
be developed commercially. First of all, the
timber was scarce and the road costs would be
excessive, and then it had good recreational value.

So I went to the office or I guess I wrote
to them and told them that we should reserve that
land. They told me that it had already been
reserved, around 1925, but then they wrote the
Forest Service another letter, reassuring them
that this was being reserved.

From there on, Jens and I worked, whenever
we had an opportunity, to further that exchange.
The company had fifty thousand acres in there,
you see. The idea was to swap that for an equal
value of commercial forest land outside this
primitive area.

Some years later I turned up managing the
forest land, and he turned up as the principle
negotiator for exchanges in the land department
of the Forest Service in San Francisco.

So Jens came to me and thought that we
should get serious about the exchange. I agreed,
but I wanted to postpone it until I got the
timber management program going smoothly. That
would be selling our so-called allowable cut
annually, having the customers happy with it,
and being able to depend on the men to prepare
the sales and supervise them.

After that got going smoothly, then we set
to work on the exchange. First they suggested
an area for consolidation, and it was between
the Trinity River and Mount Shasta, around Mount
Eddy. That's low-quality land. Some of it is
of good value for recreation, but not as good
as the Trinity Alps, but not good commercial
timber either. I didn't think that was a good
show. I wanted equal value of the best commercial
forest land I could get, within the same county,
in order not to upset the tax roll.
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Steen: I'm holding a clipping from the 13 January
1978 California Log, which is region five's
newsletter, an article about land exchange with
S.P. It says that during the past several months,
the Forest Service and S.P. have been negotiating
for 94,000 acres of company land. It refers to
the Trinity Alps Primitive Area, and other places.
In the last paragraph, it says "Most of the land
S.P. will acquire is timber-growing land. Much
of the land that the Forest Service will acquire
is recreational land." So apparently, they're
finally getting around to--

Robinson: They're continuing, they're doing what I--

Steen: 94,000 acres is ten or fifteen percent of the
total S.P. ownership, isn't it? You said 750,000
acres.

Robinson: 730,000 actually. Yes.
Steen: That's a pretty sizable exchange.

Robinson: Well, I'm glad to hear that. I didn't
know about it.

Steen: It wasn't all in vain? .

Robinson: No. It wasn't. I want to see where these
are. I hope some of this is up around Mount
Shasta.

Well, that's good. All right. So we re-
tained Hammon, Jensen, and Wallen, a consulting
forestry firm in Oakland, to cruise the timber
in the two areas. I settled on the general area
around the Trinity, the headwaters of the Trinity
River, around Trinity Center, because that's the
highest site quality of land that was in the
county, and intermingled with our existing
holdings.

So Hammon, Jensen, and Wallen cruised the
timber of the stuff in the primitive area, and
in the area that we designated we were interested
in acquiring for exchange. Then we separately
appraised the land, although they helped by
providing me with transaction evidence. You
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know, each ranger district maintains a file on
the sale of property in and around the national
forest, for statistical purposes, I guess for
appraisal purposes when they're involved in land
exchanges. So they just made that available to
me. We were using much the same data, and so
then they made a specific proposal of certain
lands, or certain other described lands. They
sent it with maps and all.

, I responded by upping the ante. I thought
that they had underappraised our land and over-
valued theirs a bit. So I went to the other edge
of the range of plausibility and made a counter-
proposal, had it all written up with maps and
everything. Now, in the Southern Pacific Company,
you don't sign letters unless you're the head of
the department. People prepare them for you and
initial them and you send them in to the boss,

and he signs them.

So the boss got this letter. He called me
in to explain it. I told him all about it. He
said, "You know, I think we'd better send this
up to the executive department for approval
before we mail it." It was Jjust a counter-
proposal. :

So I did. I prepared a letter to Mr.
Biaginni, who was then the president of the
land company and general manager of the Southern
Pacific. He sent it back down, saying, "You
know, I think you'd better put this formally
up to Mr. Russell,'" who was the president of
the company. I don't know why. He said it was
a touchy subject.

Steen: You kicked this up to the top man.

Robinson: Yes. Mr. Russell was like Ronald Reagan.
He had to have everything put to him in a one-
page memorandum, you know. And so I prepared
a one-page memorandum, describing that the
Southern Pacific had 50,000 acres of worthless
land, suitable only for recreation and for which
there was no prospect of income. We proposed
to exchange that for eight thousand acres of
the best commercial forest land intermingled
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with Southern Pacific's holdings that now were
owned by the Forest Service, and the taxes on
- the land would be so much, and the type of land
that we would acquire so much, and the sustained
yield income would be approximately so many
thousand board-feet a year and so many dollars,
and I recommend approval.

I asked for authority to negotiate. Russell
took one look at it and he scribbled across it,
"If you can't make a better deal than that, you'd
better break off negotiations." He wanted equal
acreage exchange.

Well, I figured he was an ass, and I got
sarcastic about it, so they fired me.

Steen: You said something in one of your letters to
- me about a loyalty oath, as part and parcel to
your leaving the railroad.

Robinson: Oh, yes, that's right. I got into trouble
with the people there several times. During the
McCarthy era, 2all the big shots in the Southern
Pacific company were supporting McCarthy, and
they tried to feel me out on what I thought. I
thought McCarthy was awful, and said so. They
kept asking me, "Well, what's wrong with a
loyalty ocath?" and then nobody would pay any
attention when I tried to tell them.

I finally decided that the people who were
objecting to loyalty oaths--I mean to say, the
people who were asking that question, what's
wrong with the loyalty oath? didn't have an
interest span long enough to receive an explana-
tion. What this country needed was a one-
sentence answer to that question. And so I
went to Ernest Besig, who was my friend. I was
active in the Civil Liberties Union here, on
their board of directors for a number of years
too for the Marin Chapter. I told him that.

He never did anything about it. I came to
realize that if you have a bright idea, you're
the one that has to do something about it, and
giving it to somebody else doesn't work.
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So one day I sat me down with pen and
pencil, and I wrote a letter to the Chronicle,
and I said that people are always asking what's
wrong with the loyalty oath. I wrote: I can
answer that and two other similar questions, in
one sentence. To sign a loyalty oath or to
salute a flag or to recite a creed is not a
demonstration of loyalty but an act of submission;
free people just don't submit.

So that cost me my job! [Laughter] And
I'm very proud of it. I think that--I got it
all together in one sentence.

Steen: All right. You have this nice home in Marin,

and children, and the company and you have parted
ways. So you became a consultant.

Robinson: I became a consultant, right.

Steen: What were the options or alternatives at

that time?

Robinson: I should explain something. The record

will look a little confused at this point. In
1956, I think it was, when this loyalty oath
thing took place--at that time they punished me
by asking me to change places with my assistant,
who was then Kermit Cuff, and have him be the
chief forester, and I would continue to be the
forester.

I was bitterly hurt by it, but it did permit
me to continue to manage the land, although I did
it in somebody else's name, in the quiet. I
thought at the time that they just didn't want
me up front. They didn't want me to be known,
although they did appreciate what I was doing.
So they let me go on doing it, but had me be
sort of a secret employee.

But this second thing, over the Trinity
Alps, apparently was the last straw for Mr.
Russell. So then they abolished the position,
whereupon I refused to take what they offered.
I think they did that because I was an officer
of the company, and eligible for their company
retirement plan, which was quite generous.



38

But by abolishing the position, they were
able to cut me out of that and simply confiscate
the money that had been set aside for the retire-
ment. A lot of companies do that, you know, and
I was just three years from retirement. This
has been made unlawful since, but a lot of
companies throughout the country--

Steen: You're retired now, but--

Robinson: I'm drawing railroad retirement, but

that's a federal thing. That has nothing to

do with the company. When the Social Security
laws were set up, there were two set up, one
for railroad employees and the other for every-
body else.

Steen: Had you thought about being a consultant

before you left the company?

Robinson: No, I really hadn't. I didn't know what

to do. I have two stories to tell about that,
one about the reaction of my family, and the
other about what I did. I first want to tell
you about my family. I think you'll like this.
I felt ashamed--you know, when something like
that happens you feel guilty, even if you're
not. I'm convinced that what we call guilt,
the feeling of guilt, is Jjust a word we ascribe
to an emotional reaction which can come from a
variety of situations. [Laughs] I wonder what
happens with these lie detectors, whether
they'll turn up false information for that
reason.

My wife was teaching school at the time,
so we had a reasonable income from that. We
looked at our savings account, and we thought,
"We're all right if I never work again.' We
had three kids in college on a pay-as-you-go
basis at the time. But I didn't really want
to break this news to the kids. I was afraid
that it would disturb them.

But Charlotte, who was going to the
University of Washington, was the first one to
communicate with us after that. She phoned
home, and so I told her what happened. She
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said, "Hurrah, Dad! I never understood how you
could stand it with that company as long as you
did. Don't worry about me." I thought, '"Well,
for heaven's sake! That's terrific."

The next was Dan. He was going to U.C.
Davis. The same thing! The third one was Larry.
He was going to U.C. Santa Cruz. He started
down there when they opened the campus with the
trailers. Well, this was sad to me because that
was the only time that any one of the kids ever
phoned home for more money. Each school year
we worked out a budget for them, how much they
needed for room and board and books and tuition
and lab fees and all that, and we worked out a
schedule and I just sent them a check the first
of the month. If they wanted more than that,
they could get a part-time job. But it would
include spending money and stuff. We set them
up pretty well.

Steen: Then'you must have lost your job in '62 or 'é64.

Robinson:” '66. But Larry phoned home and asked me for
some extra money to buy a new pair of skis. He
and a bunch of friends were going to go up to
Heavenly Valley, and so I broke this news to him.
He said, "Oh, God," three or four times, and 1
said, "Don't worry about it, it's okay." He
said, "Well, then I won't go." I said, '"Well,
don't change your plans. Just don't do it the
most expensive way.'" You know, he wanted to buy
a new pair of the most expensive skis, the latest
thing. "Why can't you rent a pair, or borrow it?"
He said, "I won't go. Do you want me to come
home?" I said, '"There's no need to come home."
"Yes, but would you like me to come home?"

Well, Larry has always been a buddy of
mine. I said, "Sure, you're a comfort to me."
So he hitchhiked home, and he brought me Robert
Frost's poem, you know, that one "Whose woods
these are"? You know what it is. That isn't
the title. '"On the snowy evening stopping by
the woods,'" something like that.

The next weekend, he hitchhiked home again,
and this time he brought me Camus' Myth of Sisyphus.
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Do you know about that? Well, Sisyphus was this
Greek god who had a mind of his own, who was a
problem to the others because he didn't conform.
He was always figuring things out and going his
own way and defying them. One day he did something
that was unacceptable to the gang, and so they
rounded him up and meted out the worst punishment
they could contrive. They committed him to having
to roll a stone up Mount Olympus for all eternity,
and every time it got close to the top of the
mountain, it would break loose and roll down,

and he would have to shag after it and start over
again. So when you hear thunder on Mount Olympus,
you know that old Sisyphus is taking his punish-
ment and running down after that stone.

Camus, this great French philosopher, took
off on this. He said that he wasn't concerned
about Sisyphus's state of mind on his way up the
mountain. He knows that he's feeling his oats,
he's feeling good. What concerns him is what
goes on in his head on the way down. I don't
remember the line of logic--it's a rather difficult
book to read. But the general idea was that he
figured that Sisyphus triumphed over his adver-
saries by coming to realize that you don't get
your jollies from achievement, but rather through

~the struggle to achieve.

So that was the message that Larry brought
home for me. I've been very grateful for that,
and that's been part of my philosophy ever since.

Steen: So you had to look for a job. What did you do?

Robinson: As I say, we were okay financially. We
could get by if I never had a job. So my wife
said, "Well, Gordon, next time do what you really
want to do." So I got some professional advice
on jobhunting, and followed it. The idea was
first to prepare a resume of all the things I've
done that are worth talking about. So I did.

It was a beautiful springtime, and I'd sunbathe
out there for days. Every time I'd get an idea,
remember something that I had done, I'd come in
and type it up. [See appendix A] I had done a
fair amount of original work, but I'd never
published it, because I was just too busy with
other things.
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Then I made a list of all those specific
things I wanted most of all to do the rest of
my life. I wanted to expose the timber industry's
raid on the national forests. I wanted to write
about what had happened to the Forest Service.
And I wanted to write about the forestry schools,
and how they'd come to be dominated by the timber
industry. I wanted to paint. I wanted to learn
to play the guitar. There were. a bunch of things.

But the main thing was really a writing
project dealing with forestry. So then I made
a list of folks who might be persuaded to finance
my program. I was thinking in terms of a grant
at the time, or maybe employment. I thought of
teaching, maybe, at the University of California
forestry school. I hadn't realized what changes
had taken place. They just laughed.

I thought of the experiment station. John
McGuire was director then in Berkeley. He was
a friend of mine. They had no openings, but he
tried to talk me into international forestry.
They had some things through the United Nations
that he thought were useful.

I didn't think we were in a position to
teach other people how to manage their forest
land. I thought we ought to learn how to do it
ourselves first.

There was the Center for Democratic Studies
in Santa Barbara. I thought maybe I could go
down there and hole up and write this stuff. And
there was the Sierra Club. I thought maybe they
would know what grants were available, and how
to approach them.



FORESTRY CONSULTANT TO THE SIERRA CLUB

Gordon Robinson: I went over to the Sierra Club and
met Bob Golden, who was then the office manager,
and I told him what I wanted to do. He said,
"You know, I think this is a go." I said, '"What
do you mean?'" He said, "Well, Dave Brower has
wanted a forester on the staff for years, and
you're the only one he would trust.” I didn't
know that Dave Brower had ever heard of me. This
was amazing to me. I guess I had written stuff
to them, and sent them things, but that was really
amazing.

Well, I wasn't thinking of working for the
club. I was thinking of them helping me find
a grant, and do some writing. I just thought
right there, if they want to retain me, that's
2ll I want to do. I never looked any further.
So I just came home and waited for them to--
He said, "We don't have money; we'll have to see
what kinds of money--"

So every week or so, I'd phone Bob to see
if they found any money, and he always said no.
Finally one day I told him, "Look, Bob, one of
these days you're going to find the money. And
then we're both going to be unhappy, because
there's more to do than we can ever get done.
So why don't I just go to work?'" He said, ''Well,
21l right. You can use that desk out there if
you want to. Who do you want to work for, Ed
Wayburn, or Dave Brower?" I'd never heard of
Ed Wayburn. He was, I think, the president of
the club, but I had never paid any attention to
club politics.

"Well, he's handling the Redwood Park
battle, and Brower is mainly concerned with
general conservation and his writing projects."
I thought the Redwoods would be the thing first,
because that involved things close to what I'd
just been doing, appraisal of property and that
sort of thing. '

42
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So I went to work for Wayburn, but they
didn't want me as an employee, because this would
have involved them in fringe benefits, and for a
person my age that would have been expensive. So
they retained me as a consultant and I've been a
consultant ever since. They found the money, and
within a couple of years 1 was earning as much as
I did with the Southern Pacific, but much happier.
And that's the way it's been ever since.

Steen: Before we talk about what you did as a
consultant with the Sierra Club, let's scan
this list of your non-Sierra Club consulting
jobs. [See Appendix B] There's no particular
reason we need to talk about every one of them.
But I thought you might take this list and scan
down, and if you think you see one that you
really like to spend a little time on, Jjust so
people can see what you do when you're not working
for the club. There's quite a range of activities
on that list.

Robinson: The case of Mike Leon in Wyoming--Mike
Leon was a legislative consultant to Senator--
what was his name? He was defeated in the last
election. Gayle McGee, yes. Well, McGee was
upset about reports he had about mismanagement of
the National Forests in Wyoming. So Mike Leon
asked me to come and inspect those forests with
him and his secretary. We spent about a week
doing that. I looked at the reports that the
Forest Service had given them, and looked to see
where they were fooling and where they were not,
and prepared a report so the senator would know
what was going on.

I didn't get paid for that. They paid
my expenses, but they didn't give me a fee.
The reason is that it's unethical, apparently,
for senators to do that.
Steen: Is that right?
Robinson: Yes.

Steen: Sounds 1like a cheapskate to me.

Robinson: Well, maybe that was it. [Laughs]
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Steen: Obviously they have to hire expert witnesses--
anyway, they didn't pay you. How did they know
about you? Of course, you had Sierra Club
publicity by that time.

Robinson: Right. I've forgotten what it was. I
was convinced that he was correct in that, but
I've forgotten now.

Steen: It was 1972.
Robinson: Yes.

Steen: How about the Kern Plateau association in
19717 1've heard vague things about that. I
don't even know what the issues were.

Robinson: That's a group of people around Bakersfield
who were trying to get what is now the Golden
Trout Wilderness. The people who wanted me
involved in it were, again, people who had heard
of me through my association with the Sierra
Club. It was mainly a packer who had made a
business of packing people into this area. So
at the request of this association, I went down
there and spent a week on horseback going through
this area. The forest supervisor was on the
trip, and Willis Evans, who was the fish biologist
for the region.

Steen: Did you write a report?

Robinson: Sometimes I do. In that case, I never
got a report together.

Steen: The California Coastal Commission in '74.

Robinson: They wanted help in describing forest
practices, or prescribing forest practices for
the coastal strip. I didn't do a whole lot for
them. Actually, I went to a few meetings and
talked to people, and gave them some general
ideas, but I was too busy with Sierra Club work,
so I got Jim Greig to do it. So he did the
technical work.

Steen: The first draft of the coastal commission
recommendations for the coastal zone that I saw
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would have required a permit to operate, to log
within the coastal zone. That was thrown out. I
mean, to log within the coastal zone of Santa Cruz
County would have required three permits, one from
the CDF, one from the Coastal Commission, and one
from the county, which is kind of excessive.

Were you involved in that first draft of--7?

Robinson: Yes, I think so. But I have forgotten the
details. I think the idea was that the Forest
Practice Act was not being properly enforced, and
we wanted rules and regulations that would do the
job. We also wanted to show up the Board of
Forestry for their failure to use the opportunity
given to them through this Z'berg-Nejedly Act.

Steen: I see on your Sierra Club list you talk about
the Tongass suit, but on the non-Sierra Club
list, you have this Kodiak-Aleutian Chapter Alaska
Conservation Society. There must have been some
Sierra Clubbers involved in that.

Robinson: These are things I want to do, and the
fact that these are actually not the Sierra Club
doesn't mean that they aren't really independent
assignments. I did quite a job for them. [See
Appendix J]

Steen: These two jobs in Australia--they must have
been related, both at the same time.

Robinson: Yes, that was a speaking tour. A hectic
one and a delightful one. I'm going to do it
again in a couple of months. But they actually
asked me to come and talk to the forestry
committee of the House of Representatives in
Canberra, and I suppose I spent half a day with
them.

Steen: I suppose Australia is fifty years behind
us, as it's still a pioneer society in a lot
of senses.

Robinson: It looked pretty much like home to me,
clearcutting and everything. [Laughter] The
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same people and the same arguments and the same
corporations over there.

Steen: Maybe some of these topics will come up more
logically if we just get into your consulting
work in general, rather than having sort of an
artificial distinction between the two.

Robinson: All right. Any way you want to handle
it. The thing that's basic to understand is
that I regard myself as a consultant to conser-
vation organizations, and I'll make myself
available to any conservation group that wants
my help. But I'm not interested in helping
the timber industry. I don't take that kind
of work. They don't ask me anyway. [Laughs]

But as long as I had enough income from
my retainer with the Sierra Club, I just did
these things whenever I was invited to do them.
They retained me for 60 percent of my time, but
I worked full-time and then some, weekends and
everything else. But that's simply because
that's what I wanted to do.

Steen: Did you mean that literally? Say if the
National Forest Products Association said,
"Would you come to Washington, D.C., and
conduct a seminar, just so we can understand
better what the Sierra Club is really after,"
would you?

Robinson: Oh, if they did that, I would respond,
sure. But I wouldn't help them appraise and
acquire a tract of land in Borneo, so that
someone could set up a pulp mill or some damn
thing like that.

Steen: Let's talk about the club itself, before
we get to specific jobs. Obviously you have
a lot of affection for the club and you have
told me before that when you were working for
S.P. you didn't think about the Sierra Club
particularly, it was just something that
happened. You heard a speech of David Brower's
once, I guess, at the Berkeley forestry school,
where he was talking to the forestry students.
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You were impressed by the man, and that sort of
made you aware that the Sierra Club--obviously
you knew it existed, but you had never thought
much about it.

Why do we have groups like the Sierra Club
and Friends of the Earth and the Wilderness
Society, in a democratic society where
theoretically the rule of the majority is what
we have?

Robinson: These are all symptoms of a disease. I
think that our government, our system, is not
working. We have come to be run by the major
corporations instead of the people. I think
that the--well, that's just it. Congress and
the administration, usually, are much more
responsive to the big corporations than they
are to the people. This has been true for the
last thirty, forty years. Things that should
be done through government are being done by
volunteer organizations.

Steen: When Brower took over the c¢lub in the early
fifties, I think they had five or six thousand
members. It was during his administration,
until the mid-sixties or whenever he left the
club, that they had this tremendous increase
in enrollment; partly, I'm sure, due to national
events, but partly due to Brower himself, his
personality and his stamina, and so forth.

What are your opinions about Brower and
his net worth to the c¢lub? I mean, obviously,
he broke with the club, or the club broke with
him, in the mid-sixties, but would the club
have amounted to what it did without him?

Robinson: No, it would not. The club was simply a
hiking club. The club was not involved in
conservation at all that I know of from the
death of John Muir until the appointment of
Dave Brower. I think he revived it. I might
be wrong about that, but I don't think there
was very much of anything by way of conservation
accomplished in those intervening years.
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Steen: I noticed with amusement that the chief of
the Forest Service used to be an honorary vice-
president of the Sierra Club, automatically,
and that stopped somewhere along about the
Brower years. [Laughs] So it was Brower's
perceptions of the Forest Service, or maybe
the Forest Service changed, maybe both, that
caused the break.

Robinson: It was both. Yet, there are several
Forest Service people who were enthusiastic
Sierra Club members. John Hall's father was.

He was the supervisor of the Stanislaus National
Forest for many years. I know he would support’
the kinds of things that--

Steen: You went to work for the club, about the
time that Brower was on his way out. Were you
involved in that, in any way, an observer of
it--?

Robinson: I was an observer of it, and I tried to
prevent the break from happening. But I never
took a side, partly self-preservation, but more
because I really liked the people on both sides
of that dispute and I couldn't break with either

. of them. That's just a genuine thing. There
were differences in philosophy.

I can tell you several stories about it.
I kept trying to figure out what was happening,
you know. The first board meeting I went to,
after this had become a problem, was I think
about 1967. Ed Wayburn said, after the pre-
liminaries, "All right, gentlemen, I will
entertain a motion to increase the club's debt
limits from one hundred and fifty to three

hundred thousand dollars--" (maybe three hundred
and fifty, I've forgotten) '"--do I hear a motion?"
And somebody said, "I'll make a motion," and

"I second."

Discussion? Nathan Clark, who had been a
board member for thirty-five years, said, '"Well,
Ed, I'm not going to oppose this motion, but I
do want to know when in the world we're going
to learn to live within our means. Three years
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ago, you came to us for authority to borrow
twenty-five thousand dollars, and then you wanted
fifty and then a hundred and now you want to
borrow three hundred thousand dollars. I just
want to know when in the world we're going to
learn to live within our means.’

Paul Brooks spoke up. He was the editor
of Houghton Mifflin Company then, and in a
Bostonian accent he said, [mimicking] '"Well,
gentlemen! This is perfectly normal in the
course of the publishing business,' and he went
on to explain, '"The Christmas season is the book
season, and one cannot afford to print books as
they are sold." What one does is to estimate
the number that can be sold at the Christmas
season and then borrow money to pay the cost of
printing. And then sell them, and sometime early
in the next year, you settle the account, and
hopefully you have something left for yourself.

And somebody else says, '"Yeah! Every one
of these loans was repaid within three months
of the first of the year!" So then Ansel Adams
says, ''Well, it ain't so much the borrowin' that
bothers me, it's the interest on this loan. I
understand we'll have to pay twelve thousand
dollars interest, and I can think of all kinds
of things I'd rather do for conservation than
just pay this to a bank.”

Ed Wayburn says, "'Ansel, it seems to me
the first of these loans was to finance your

book!" Ansel goes, '"Ha, ha, ha! I suppose
that's so! Ha, ha, ha!" I thought, '"Well, the
old fool!" I guess he didn't know how business

is conducted, obviously. These weren't business-
men, they were hikers.

Steen: Was Brower at this meeting? He must have been.
Robinson: Yes, of course. And so then I thought,
"Well, I guess that's all it was. And that

should be the end of the argument." But it
wasn't.

Steen: They got the $300,000 debt 1limit?
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Robinson: Oh, yes, they did. Then they did--well,
this sort of thing--they kept pecking at Brower.
And the more they pecked at him, the more he
did the things out of reaction that they were
falsely accusing him of doing. It finally got
to a point where they had to fire him.

I've forgotten several of these, but the
last one--Dick Sill, who was professor of
physics at the University of Nevada, wrote a
scathing letter accusing Brower of misappropria-
tion of funds, and said that this was a criminal
offense. He was shaking down the authors of
Sierra Club books. So they held a special
board meeting to hear about that. I went to
that meeting.

Ed Wayburn was the president again. He
asked to have somebody recite the charges, and
Ansel Adams made the charges, and Dick Sill
elaborated on the thing. Then Ed asked the
board members in turn--fifteen of them--if
they had any comment. He went down the line,
”NO,” Hno’ll vvno’n Hno.H

They finally got to Eliot Porter, and he
said, "Yes, I have a good deal to say on that
subject." He said, "I think three years ago I
proposed a book on the Galapagos Islands to the
publication committee. The committee turned it
down on the grounds that we didn't have the
money to finance research. So I put up--"1I
think he said five thousand dollars "--of my
own to finance the research. This was with
the understanding that if a book came out of
it, I would pay 5 percent of my royalty back
to the c¢lub to establish a revolving fund for
Brower's use in financing research for future
publications.

"But if no book developed, the club would
owe me nothing." The board has the authority
to override the publications committee--1 guess
the executive committee has--so he took the
proposal to finance this research to the
executive committee, and they overrode the
publications committee, and we did the research
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and published the book. You know, that two-
volume thing on the Galapagos? Well, that's
how that came to be.

Many universities have revolving funds
for this purpose, but the Sierra Club has none.
I thought it was time that we had means of
financing research. Since then, Mr. Brower
has asked--he has not required, but he has
asked other authors to do the same thing. So
far, everyone who has been asked to do this
has complied.

That's all there was to it, and I thought,
"Well, what the helll!"

It was 1like that, but I think there are a
couple of things that lay behind it. One was
that it used to be that there were people who
worked in the Sierra Club for many years, and
felt they owned it. It was their province. I
know from my experience with the Unitarians
that sometimes these outside activities are
very important in one's life. I was not re-
ceived well. I wasn't happy in my profession,
nor with the people I worked with at the Southern
Pacific company. So I got a sense of accomplish-
ment, a sense of personal worth by being active
in the Unitarians and with the Civil Liberties
Union, because there I was among people with
whom I had a great deal in common, and a mutual
respect. It compensated for something missing
in my professional life.

I suspect that a lot of the people who
were leaders in the Sierra Club were using the
Sierra Club that way. Well, as the club expanded
and new people came in, their roles within the
club were challenged, and this threatened them
personally, for good--but not club--reasons.
And they were upset. That's one theory.

Another is that there were some board
members who were active in the club because
they wanted to direct the club away from things
that concerned their personal interests. Dick
Leonard, I understand, had a large block of
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stock in the Pacific Gas and Electric Company.
In fact, his wife is a member of the board

of directors at PG&E. He was very upset with
Brower because Brower opposed the nuclear plant
at Diablo Canyon, which is now stopped for some
other reason.

I think Ike Livermore had been a board
member. He was bitter about Brower because
Brower was unhappy with foresters, and he was
a big shot with the Pacific Lumber Company.
There were a number of those things, and I think
that had something to do with it.

I think that there are also people who
belong to the club and were afraid of losing
their jobs, because the club was taking a
controversial position on things, and this was
getting back to the boss, and they were worried
about this giving the boss the idea that they
were not working for the establishment. I felt
that. That's the reason I didn't join the Sierra
Club, I'm ashamed to say, for a number of years.
But when Brower came along, I decided that I
would. '

I had known Sierra Club people, and they
had urged me to join it for quite a long time
before that, and I was entirely in sympathy with
its purposes. I was Jjust a little worried about
how this might affect my career.

Steen: There were quite a few other things going on
at that time too. 1I've been reading interviews
with Sierra Club board members about the loyalty
oath and all the anti-Semitism and racism,
especially in the southern California chapter.

Robinson: I've heard of that, but I didn't--
Steen: You have no observations of your own to make?

Robinson: No, I didn't know anything about it.
There was one other thing that happened, though.
Yes, it's true. I think Brower was the really
great leader there. He still is. I think
almost everything he was accused of was wrong.
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But there were two things I wanted to say,
actually. One was that Brower had the philosophy
that he was hired as their executive director to
further the purposes of the club, and that of the
members, to do things for them that they were
afraid to do for themselves, or didn't know how
to do for themselves. He represents us.

And if it costs more money to do the things
that we've undertaken to do, in the name of the
club, then it's up to us to get the money to pay
for it, not for him to cut the program. He
didn't go too far out on that, but he did pull on
the reins, so to speak. There were other people
who say no, you must always be business-1like, you
must never lay out a program that hasn't been
financed in advance. I can see both of these
arguments.

I tend to be conservative, because I had
a rough time during the Depression, and we were
poor. [Laughs] So I'm kind of affected by that.
But at the same time, I see Brower's position
on that, and I think he's probably right. I
have passed up many opportunities in my own life
to make investments, simply because I'm too
conservative.

The final thing, though--he did play with
the board with impatience, and sometimes with
glee. They got into childish difficulties.

I'm reminded of the time when our oldest boy
ran across the street in front of our house. We
threatened him with punishment if he walked across
the street--we were afraid he'd get run over by
a car. So one day he ran across the street, and
I grabbed him and was going to paddle his little
bottom, but he argued 1like an attorney. He
said, '"But you didn't tell me I couldn't run

across the street!" [Laughs] Which was true.
[Laughter] :

That's what Brower did, that kind of stuff!
They forbade him to publish any more books with-
out the approval of both the executive committee
and the publications board, so he put out these
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posters—--they didn't say anything about posters.
And that did it. That was when they decided
he had to go.

Steen: So that's it in substance, really. The board
runs it, and he is supposed to answer to them?

Robinson: Yes. Basic to the c¢lub, though, is some-
thing else. This is the problem that McCloskey
has, too. You know, when they decided to hire
an executive director, along about 1955, they
did not change the bylaws to fit the new situation.
If you read the bylaws of the club, you'll realize
that the elected president is still the chief
executive of the club. It doesn't say it in
those words, but it's clearly established. And
the people who get to be president of the club
are pretty ambitious people. As they read the
bylaws if they disagree with the executive
director, they compete with him. We've had
some very highly competitive situations, to
say the least.

- One time, when Phil Berry was president,
the Society of American Foresters invited the--
I didn't see the correspondence, but evidently
they invited the chief executive of the club
to speak at their annual meeting in Syracuse,
New York, about eight or ten years ago. And do
you know, unbeknownst to each other, both Mike
McCloskey and Phil Berry showed up to accept
that appointment?

Steen: Interesting, isn't it?

Robinson: But what they normally would do in hiring
an executive director for what had formerly been
a purely volunteer organization is to amend the
bylaws so that the board establishes policy and
the executive director implements the policy,
and has a division of labor. If they don't
like his implementation, they can get a new
director. But the club never did that. Now
I'm still not sure that's wrong, but it did
lead to Brower's undoing.

Steen: So Brower's out, McCloskey was on the scene,
and he becomes the executive director.
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Robinson: Yes.

Steen: Did the board overreact and really clamp
down on McCloskey more than they ought to
have, do you think, or was it a pretty smooth
transition?

Robinson: It was a pretty smooth transition,
because McCloskey is a very smooth politician,
and Brower is not. Brower is just true-blue.
He tells it 1ike it is, and lets the chips
fall--

Steen: So Mike knew how to work with the board then?
Robinson: Yes.
Steen: And that's what it takes.

Robinson: It's typical of creative people to
establish something new and then get kicked
out, and a smooth administrator to follow.

Steen: Of course, Brower had been there over ten
years. Maybe that's all anybody can really
stand. :

Let's talk generally about the club and
Brower and the transition to McCloskey and the
way the board and the council and the officers
operate—-—

Robinson: No, I don't have much to say about that,
because I don't know very much about it. I
have concentrated so heavily on the timber
things and forestry matters that I have not
kept up. I don't know what the difference is
between the council and the board. I don't know
why they had it. I have some suspicions, but I
really haven't studied it.

Steen: We have talked a little bit about how you get
your assignments, and how you know what Sierra
Club policy is. When you go out and testify
for the club, how do you know that the board
agrees with what you're saying?
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Robinson: That's a good question. At first, I was
very reluctant to speak on behalf of the club
without having somebody check a written statement
for accuracy, to make sure it squared with policy
and that sort of thing. I'd take a draft of a
statement I was going to present on behalf of
the club to Mike, and ask him to review it. He'd
say, '"Why bother me with it? You're the expert,”
which was flattering, but it was inconsistent
with my ideas of how one should go forth. I was
very reluctant to speak for other people without
their knowledge and consent, you know.

So what I would do was simply say I was a
member of the club, and I had been for a number
of years, I know many club members, I know the
general attitude of the people, and while the
club has no policy on this particular matter,
I'm sure that the majority of the people would
agree with me, and this is my opinion, something
like that. That's the way I've handled it. It
has proved to be correct. The situations have
been very few where that hasn't been borne out.
I think it's never been borne out that there
was any major difference.

There are, in the eastern United States,
several professional foresters who are active
in the Sierra Club, and they pick at me from
time to time, but usually without knowledge of
what they're doing.

Steen: When we talk about Sierra Club policy, is
there a place you can turn to find out what
that is?

Robinson: Oh, yes. We have a policy guide, sure.
There are several volumes about that thick of
the policy decisions of the board of directors.
With respect to particular things, I refer to
that. There's very little in it dealing with
forestry. It usually has to do with decisions
to fight some particular bill in the legislature
or support another one. Sometimes it will have
to do with priorities among a variety of pro-
posals.

Steen: Somebody there is looking at what's going on
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in the forestry scene and saying, ''Hey, here's
something we want Gordon to do," and they get
on the phone, and--so who determines what ought
to be done?

Robinson: I guess it's Mike McCloskey and Paul Swa tek.
They ask me to do things, and I do them. They
still regard me as the club staff forester, and
their forestry consultant, although I'm not re-
tained. Actually, they ran out of money. I
think that's the main reason that they stopped
the thing. They are just using the fact that
I'm sixty-five as an excuse, [laughs] because
they know very well I get along all right without
their money.

Steen: It's interesting. I was chairman of the Santa
Cruz Sierra Club group, and it was difficult to,
even on a very small scale like that, maintain
some kind of continuity of public posture on the
issues. People are for what they like and against
what they are against, and they stand up in a
meeting and say that the Sierra Club is opposed
to an idea, without ever clearing it, even at
the local level. I just wondered how you
operated, with very important lawsuits, on
national scale. There has to be some way of--

Robinson: Oh, well, on lawsuits there is definitely
policy. There's quite a routine. First, in
order to file a suit, the local group has to
make the proposal. Then it goes to the legal
committee. I've forgotten just what the routine
is, but there's a legal committee, made up of
several attorneys who are members of the club,
and then there's the executive committee, and
sometimes the board. Now, if it's an emergency
situation, there's a way of handling that.



EXCELLENT FORESTRY

Harold Steen: Let's talk a bit about Excellent
Forestry. Referring to your own publication
[See Appendix C], you say excellent forestry
has four characteristics. First of all, cut
must be matched with growth. The idea of
sustained yield.

Gordon Robinson: Yes.

Steen: Is this a biological concept? Are you dealing
with soil productivity? How about sustained
yield in other concepts like the government has
used to stabilize communities with sustained
yield units. It's no longer biological, but
it's economic.

Robinson: Oh, no, no, no. That refers to the bio-
mass of the forest.

Steen: Your definition?

Robinson: ©Oh, yes.

Steen: Are you sympathetic with the concept of
sustained yield as developed by the Forest
Service? For example, the Simpson Timber
Company in Shelton, Washington, where a sub-
stantial portion of the Olympic National Forest
has been reserved by contract for ninety-nine
vears to supplement the private holdings thereby
maintaining the economy of that area.

Robinson: I'm not familiar with the details of that,
but I suspect I don't like it. I suspect that
if I understood, if I had all the facts, that I
would object. It's simply because there I think
that the sustained yield of the public land is
being rationalized away to compensate for
failure of the private lands, whoever owns the
private lands to have managed them for sustained
yield prior to that agreement. I think that

58



59

sustained yield has to apply to one's own hold-
ings or to each administrative unit.

You know, one time I used to manage Southern
Pacific Company's timberlands for quite a number
of years. I was out in the woods with Jude
White, who was vice president of International
Paper Company,; and in charge of the Longbell
Division. He had been the president at Longbell.
Well, they were negotiating for a purchase of
about one third of Southern Pacific Land
Company's holdings in Northern California, the
whole Trinity River drainage. And I was simply

.not going along with him, because he wanted more
timber than could be sustained from our land,

you see. And so one time he says, "Hell, Robbie,
we're on sustained yield. When we clean up the
timber in the west, we'll return to New England
where the industry began."

Steen: So, it's very definitely a local working
circle or watershed...

Robinson: Yes, of course. That is just an attempt
to subvert the whole principle, and it's wrong.
The Forest Service is doing that in varying
degrees on the national forests. The big
battle I have been conducting on behalf of the
Sierra Club is to try to expose it and get it
corrected. We haven't succeeded so far. But
the national forests are not being managed for
sustained yield, as I interpret the law.

Steen: That's it?

Robinson: As I interpret the principle. Because
they are cutting more than can be sustained.

Steen: I think I know your answer, but comment on
the economist's view that letting market deter-
mine yields, rather than a biological concept,
that supply and demand will balance based upon
price. As timber becomes scarce, it'll become
more expensive. We're going through this right
now. So demand will taper off and, at some
point, demand will equal supply because scarcity
will affect price. Are you confident or
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comfortable with the idea of letting the market
determine the rate of...

Robinson: Certainly not! ZEconomic conditions or
criteria have no place in the decision making
of sustained yield forestry.

Steen: 1Is that for both public and private lands?

Robinson: Oh, I'd say so, yes. The thing is, it
takes longer to grow timber than a prudent
investor can wait for a return on his investment.
And so money is not invested in forestry. It's
invested in public relations to make people
believe that they're practicing forestry, because
they don't want public regulation.

The Forest Service, as part of its respon-
sibility through the experiment stations, which
were set up I think under the McNary-McSweeney
Act in 1928. The initial purpose and the
continuing purpose of those experiment stations
is to conduct periodic surveys of the timber
resources of the United States. The first one
was published in 1933, and was called the
Copeland Report. And tpen the second was the
Reappraisal in 1945, and the Timber Resources
Review, 1953; Timber Trends, 1963; and the
Outlook for Timber, 1972.

All right, every one of these shows a great
deal more cutting than growth on all the forest
lands in the United States, and of course, one
third of the country is forested. The most
recent figures, now that's the one from the
Outlook for Timber, with 1970 being the resource
base, shows 48 billion board feet of saw timber
being cut annually against a growth of only
40 billion board feet.

That's the measure of the failure to balance
our resource budget. Now I've forgotten what
I've gotten into.

Steen: What I am getting at on the question of
sustained yield as a biological, as opposed to
an economic concept, is based upon the industry's
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attitude today that the market ought to control
supply, rather than the productivity of the soil.
Otherwise, you have fixed supply regardless of
demand, and they are claiming more and more that
this causes the greatly fluctuating prices in
the lumber market. So in that context, let's
talk about sustained yield and your preferences.

Robinson: Yes. The big problem is, as I said
earlier, it takes longer to grow timber than a
businessman can afford to wait for return on
his investment. For this reason, if we are to
continue to have forests, we must have artificial
constraints on the cutting of timber. That's
why I emphasize sustained yield. 1In a free
market, when people can readily find opportunities
for investment that will give a greater return
than forestry, they're not going to invest in
forestry. This has been our problem from the
beginning of the timber industry.

Steen: You're not really confident that the market
system, then, will sustain the forest. They'll
take their capital and invest it elsewhere?

Robinson: Right. That's what they're doing all the
time. Industry has continuously hunted for a
body of timber sufficient to last them while
they write off their capital expenditures in
plant, and then having cut the timber--then
buying more, whatever they can get around that
vicinity, when they have exhausted the timber
resources available to them, then they close
the mill and move on. This is still happening.
Even Weyerhaeuser Timber Company today is
planning to move into British Columbia and
into the South, out of the Pacific Northwest.

I have a copy of a speech made I think by
Lowry Wyatt--it was either he or George Weyer-
haeuser--to the security analysts, four or five
years ago, in which he explained that the forest
lands of the Pacific Northwest are the most
productive forest lands in the world. But
unfortunately, they cannot compete with British
Columbia or the eastern United States and the
South, because of transportation costs and
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because of the differential in labor costs. So
they are liquidating their timber resources in
the Pacific Northwest, and they're moving into
British Columbia and the South.

Steen: I don't want to put words into your mouth, but
are you saying at least to some degree that you're
very suspicious that when a company has fully
depreciated its mill, its interest in sustained
yield, as it were, might vanish there, and rather
than re-investing in a new mill, it might just
abandon the whole idea?

Robinson: Oh, yes. They do. That's the history of
the timber industry.

Steen: You don't feel that that's changed on the
west coast? Obviously in the Lake States it
hasn't--

Robinson: No, it has not changed. That's the thing.
Like today, we see that there's timber in the
north counties of the coast of California to
last only another ten years or so, based on
Oswald's recent report from the Pacific Northwest
Forest and Range Experiment Station. We have
reports from the Pacific Northwest Forest and
Range Experiment Station showing also that they
expect a very drastic decline in the amount of
timber available in the private lands in
Washington and Oregon over the next twenty years.

Steen: Professor John Beuter at Oregon State studied
the BLM lands in Oregon, the O & C lands, and
pointed out that they had been overcut. I guess
they're greatly reducing the cut on those govern-
ment lands in southern Oregon.

Robinson: I pointed out some of the deceptions
in the calculation of allowable cut on the
O & C lands in Oregon at a public hearing some
years ago, and was widely ridiculed for it.
[Laughs]

Well, then, the reason that I insist upon
sustained yield as one of the criteria for
forestry is that without that basic premise,
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you cannot manage a forest. It's one of the
essentials.

Steen: All right. But if it's not economic, what
are the conditions for an entrepreneur to hold
on to forest land? Does society step in, in
some way, and subsidize or use incentives? Do
we want to keep the land in private ownership
or do we want to acquire private wildland, so
that we don't have to worry about this?

Robinson: The way I look at that is that in this
country the basic structure of our government
is that it be a democratic society, and that
it be designed in such a way that reason can
prevail.

The idea of free enterprise is given to
the business community by the citizens, because
we believe it is the most efficient way of get-
ting our work done. But there is no sacred
right to have free enterprise. We, the people,
set the rules. If free enterprise doesn't work,
then we change the rules. That's the way I
look at it.

I think that forestry is simply not suitable
to free enterprise. I think that many industries
are, but I think that forestry is not, for the
reasons that I mentioned earlier, that it takes
longer to grow trees than people can wait for
return on investment.

We must either therefore establish separate
rules for management of private forest land or
we must have public ownership, or we must
abandon the forest--do without. We have to
make up our minds on those three choices, it
seems to me. I'm proposing regulation of a
variety that will minimize the interference of
government in the affairs of the businessman,
and at the same time, provide for continuation
of the forest.

But the basic principles that must be
implemented by any such plan are the ones we
are now discussing, these four basic principles
of excellent forestry. I described those as
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a starting point for attempting to bring about
an application of what we know of forestry to
the management of our forest lands.

I didn't want to get involved in nit-
picking debates over details, so I decided that
I'd take the initiative and just set the standard
by describing what good forestry is. Then let
the other people try to pick it to pieces, if
they could.

Steen: 1It's fascinating to speculate how historians
will look back. In his annual report about
1890, Bernhard Fernow said that forestry could
not be practiced on private land because it
was a long—term investment. The interest
would eat him up.

Maybe it has never been feasible, but
we have forced it, because that's, quote,
"the American way." We have to have free
enterprise, so we've created some kind of
gross inefficiency, a system of forest manage-
ment in the private sector that was doomed to
fail ultimately.

Robinson: Yes. But I don't think that we, the
people, forced this on the timber industry.
I think the timber industry argued that
regulation is contrary to the American way,
and, therefore, we should allow the free
enterprise system to work and give it a
chance.

They've argued this way against every
proposal to regulate the private forests
that has been brought up since the turn of
the century. There have been three or four
major efforts, and each time they have succeeded
in getting these bills defeated in Congress
because of that argument, that it was contrary
to the free enterprise system. But now we
know it didn't work. They proved it.

Steen: But still, they worked awfully hard to
practice forestry. They hired foresters, and
they reforest. They're creating the illusion,
at least in their own minds, that they want
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to stay in business forever. Anyway, the
future will judge how correct anybody is about
all this, but it certainly seems to be a lot of
hard work to make the system work, by people
who pride themselves on efficiency and Yankee
ingenuity and all the rest.

Robinson: The drive for getting more timber out of
the national forest denies the wvalidity of their.
own arguments. We know that the national
forests are being cut greatly in excess of what
can be sustained, and this is due to the response
of the Forest Service to lobbying by the timber
industry, which in turn is a response to their
failure to provide for a continuing supply on the
private land. So it's false, and they know it.

Steen: Let's go on to your second criterion for
excellent forestry--growing timber on long
rotations. Getting back to economics as opposed
to biology, how do you handle the compound in-
terest in the carrying costs of long rotations
in an economic sense? That's the real world.
This is industry's reaction to your--

Robinson: That is not the real world! The formula
that is commonly used for determining the
present value of an investment is appropriate
for calculating the price one should charge
for bonds, or for calculating the value of an
investment where one is buying an annuity or
something of that sort.

You can't use that technique for evaluating
an investment in forestry, because the data that
you have to have to make the calculation is
unknown and cannot be known.

You would have to know what stumpage
values are going to be at rotation age, or
at the time the trees are going to be cut.
Suppose you're considering the idea of planting
some timber which will be mature in 70 years.
That means you have to know what price the
stuff is going to fetch in a free competitive
market 70 years hence. We don't know what it's
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going to be 7 months hence. You have to know
what interest rates are going to prevail
throughout that 70 years. You have to know

what costs you are going to be involved with

over that period of time. You need to know

what risk is involved. And you need to know

how much of this timber are you going to lose
through insects and diseases and storms and fires.
How much will come through. You have to know
what the rate of growth is going to be.

We do not have answers to any of those
questions. So what they commonly do is sub-
stitute present stumpage rates, present costs,
and simply ignore the fact that they don't
really have the answers to the questions. And
then, perform a calculation. This, of course,
always gives you an overly conservative
valuation. But for that reason, you cannot
use that formula.

Another approach is to see the forest as
a whole rather than seeing the present value of
a specific investment. In that case you would
say, we have this block of timber and its growth
or potential growth is rather carefully deter-
mined as so much and we have so much timber and
so we have certain volume that we can sell under
sustained yield annually. Now, we have an
opportunity to increase that sustained yield
by making certain investments such as planting.

The analysis then consists of determining
the present value of the present increase in
annual yield that would result from that invest-
ment. How does the cost of the investment
compare with the value of the increased yield?
Of course this is only valid where you have an
excess of old growth timber as here in the West
starting with virgin forest.

I developed this way of looking at invest-
ments in forestry as a method of persuading the
board of directors of Southern Pacific Company
to let me invest in some reforestation of
Southern Pacific Land Company lands and to
try and acquire some lands.
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Steen: Since long rotations, by definition,
accentuate uncertainty and risk, do you support
the idea of increasing incentives to the private
sector for that, such as, yield taxes as opposed
to ad valorem tax, open space, tax write-offs,
and so forth?

Robinson: Yes, I do, providing we, along with those
incentives, have some requirements that people
do the things that we are attempting to buy
through the incentives. The costs of the in-
centives should be consistent with the social
good that we gain for the expenditure. I
approve of economics for making that type of
decision.

Steen: Are you current on the legislation in
California on timber protection zones that we're
just getting into in the various counties?

Robinson: No, I'm not fully up on that.

Steen: Apparently it's in effect an amendment to
the Williamson Act where you can set aside
forest lands in the same kind of reserve. It's
something to watch to see-—-

Robinson: Well, yes, I think that's appropriate. I
think that's appropriate. I think that we must
develop a combination of incentives and require-
ments that will bring about a sustained yield
management of the private forest lands. At the
same time, minimize the amount of interference
with the owner. After all, the whole purpose
of having a free enterprise system was to get
out from under unreasonable bureaucratic control.
We don't want to step back into that any more
than is necessary to bring about a stability of
our civilization.

But we are destroying ourselves now. So
we must go back far enough to accomplish our
purpose--balancing our resource budget.

I just thought of something else that I
wanted to tell you about the use of economics
in forest management decision making. You know,
I think that we must recognize a hierarchy in
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our decision making. It's a mistake to assume
that all types of decisions are of equal impor-
tance. There's a tendency to do that. I think
that it's basic that we make the decision first,
and this is a moral decision, to manage our lands
in such a way that we can perpetuate the resources
wherever renewable resources are involved.

In the case of timber, it means sustained
yvield. The high levels of sustained yield.
Once that decision has been made, then it's
probably appropriate to use economic criteria
for making the secondary decision, concerning
the production of wood, lumber and materials
from the wood that the forester makes available,
and that sort of thing. But we must recognize
that the basic decisions are moral decisions
and should not be made in terms of economic
criteria.

We need to make a clear separation, I
believe, in the responsibility between the
forester and the businessman. The forester
should manage the forests. I am willing to
see the businessman make all the money he can
off the timber the forester makes available.
But I don't want the businessman, or the guy
behind the cash register, directing the
forester.

Steen: Are you satisfied with the language in the
Multiple Use--Sustained Yield Act that says that
economics is not the sole criteria for determining
the balance of uses? Is that strong enough
language?

Robinson: No, I don't think it is. That act is
ambiguous. But, I think that in the course of
time, we will be able to bring about adequate
interpretation of that law to accomplish the
common good. I can see it coming.

Steen: Selective logging is best. That's your third
criteria for excellent forestry. But how about--

Robinson: --using a selection system. Yes. Did we
talk about rotations really?



69

Steen: You talked about growing timber on long
rotations. The difficulties caused by carrying
charges and incentives, and so forth.

Robinson: Oh, yes. Well, the reason I wanted to see
timber grown on a long rotation is...is there's
more to it than just that. It's the fact that
many of the multiple use values of the forest
are dependent upon the presence of large trees
and the forest canopy. The longer the rotation,
the more large trees there are on the land. And
therefore, the greater are the wildlife values,
the recreational values and the watershed pro-
tection, and so on.

Also, the higher's the value of the wood
that's sold. Not the costs, of course. The
longer it stands, why the more it costs, if
one's thinking in terms of return on his initial
investment, which is the theory I would not use,
but the way people normally look at these things.

But the multiple use values are propor-
tional to the length of the rotation; therefore,
the longer the rotation, the better the manage-
ment.

Steen: Do you have any difficulty advocating multiple
use for private lands? The non-commodity uses
of private lands? Should there be incentives,
and how do we actually tell the private land
owner that he has other responsibilities beyond
maximizing his investment?

Robinson: Well, I guess you don't. The only thing
that I know of that has been effectively done
along those lines is in the South. I know
several foresters in the southern states, in
fact there's quite a group of them, who insist
that one should manage the natural stands--that's
their terminology--rather than using clearcutting
and even-aged management. By managing natural
stands, they mean what I mean when I talk about
using a selection system or keeping the openings
no larger than necessary to meet biological
requirements. Two of these men work for com-
peting banks in Mobile. Their position is that
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when private land owners come to them for loans
using their forest property as collateral, they
cannot grant the loan unless there is a good
distribution of age classes of timber on the
land and the owner is committed to--or willing
to commit himself to--a selection system
because, thereby, he will be able to sell
timber periodically. This gives the banks
assurance that there are prospects of income
from the use of the land.

Second, as long as there is a good dis-
tribution of age classes and some large trees
on the land, that land can be leased for
recreation at the same time that it is produc-
ing timber. These people make much of this
argument as a means of persuading the local
land owners to manage their forests rather
than just letting the pulp companies come and
clearcut.

Steen: It's interesting that banks, the stereo-
type would be very hard-headed businessmen,
would adopt this view of a need for long term
collateral 1like this.

Robinson: Yes. Well, a bank cannot loan money
for twenty-five years without any prospect of
income up to that period of time. It's just
too hazardous. I don't know but what it's
even unlawful. Prior to the Depression, it
was unlawful for banks to lend money for more
than three years at a time.

That's why we have the Federal Housing Act.
That was an insurance set up by the federal
government to authorize the banks which are
chartered under state law, to lend money for
more than three years to enable the people to
buy houses with confidence and pay for them.

Steen: Did your forester friends in the South ever
recount to you whether or not it was difficult
to sell this concept to the bank?

Robinson: No, not to the bank. But it's difficult
to sell it to the landowners, because everybody
is constantly seeing a barrage of propaganda
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by the Forest Service and the timber industry
advocating even-age management and clearcutting.
And it's difficult for these people to establish
their credibility when what they advise people
is contrary to what seems to be coming from the
federal agencies and the big successful organi-
zations, and all that sort of thing.

Yet these people approached the chief of
the Forest Service trying to get him to desist
- on this, because it's making it difficult for
them to do their job, bringing about good manage-
ment of private lands.

Steen: Let's look at the fourth criteria for
excellent forestry, "infinite care to avoid
damaged soil."

Let me read you something--this is kind
of baiting you, because I suspect you won't
agree with all this. This is a Forest Service
publication entitled '"The Impact of Timber
Harvest on Soils and Water," reprinted from the
Report of the President's Advisory on Timber
and the Environment, April 1973, on page 435.
Let me read you this paragraph, to put your
question in context about Excellent Forestry.

"Cutting a tree, even clearcutting, does
not immediately change the water-handling
capacity of a forest soil. Unless otherwise
disturbed, the forest floor is still physically
intact during the first few years. Water entry
rates remain very high, and no overland flow
occurs. Any increase in stream turbidity is
minimal. Even on heavily-cut areas, regrowth
of trees or other vegetation normally occupies
the soil long before the stabilizing influences
of the former forest have disappeared." Now,
this is what the Forest Service says.

Robinson: That is a half-truth. Would you read again
the initial sentence?

Steen: '"Cutting a tree, even clearcutting, does not
immediately change the water-handling capacity
of a forest soil."
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Robinson: All right. But logging does. There is
research that the Forest Service has conducted
about clearcutting, per se, as distinct from
the removal of the trees that have been cut
from the land. They find that it is the con-
struction of roads and the skidding of logs
to the landing, which causes the erosion and
the damage to the soil, not the cutting of the
trees. So that statement is wvalid, but it's
tricky because it does not deal with the real
subject. I think I said in the essay that you
are referring to that foresters the world over
are behaving as though the soil theory has
somehow been exploded.

I have seriously questioned that very thing
myself, because it didn't occur to me that
foresters were really that careless. People
like Paul Zinke, who have considerable stature
in the profession, have been defending the
timber industry's logging practices. So at
one time, I questioned him on that.

I said, "Paul, can it be that I'm out of
date, that there's been new information showing
that the nutrients in the topsoil is not impor-
tant for growing timber?'" He said, ""Oh, no,
that's all valid.'" Well, then, why in the
world--? [Laughs]

Steen: I find this intriguing from my background,
both in forestry school and with the Forest
Service. Soil was king, and there was no
question about that. We did everything we could
to protect the soil.

Robinson: But this is not the way that forests are
being managed. The timber industry and the
people who work with us selling machinery,
designing machinery for them, are continuously
designing larger, heavier machinery that gets
the timber out more quickly and cheaper, and
in a manner that's more destructive.

Actually, what I see that has happened in
this country is that we logged the gentle topo-
graphy first--most heavy stands of timber, and
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the timber on soil that is relatively stable and
less likely to be damaged. But as timber became
increasingly scarce, the industry moved into the
more--~the steeper slopes and the more fragile
areas.

But meanwhile, the industry was developing
heavier and more damaging equipment. So at the
present time, we are using the most destructive
machinery, destructive techniques of logging in
history, and we're logging on the most fragile
lands that have ever been logged in history.

Steen: How much cable-yarding goes on in northern
California?

Robinson: Oh, I don't think a great deal in northern
California. But cable-logging itself is not as
serious--it's a considerable improvement over
tractor logging. You know, the term '"'cable-
logging" covers a multitude of--I should say
that it covers a variety of logging techniques.
There's just plain cable-logging, ground-
skidding, which is every bit as damaging as
tractor-logging. There is high-lead, in which
the butt end of the log is lifted up but the
tail end is dragged. Well, that prevents some
of the gouging up of the earth that is done by
this ground-skidding.

Then there is skyline, in which the log is
lifted clear off the ground and hauled to the
loading place. That, of course, provides a great
improvement over the other two. But in Redwood
Creek, where logging techniques have been a
matter of major controversy in the last few years,
nobody is doing any skyline logging. All they're
doing is ground-skidding, and high-leading. The
topography is such that they can't get cables
rigged up in such ways to lift the logs off the
ground, and the logs are so heavy, these huge
redwood trees, that it wouldn't work anyhow,
they say. It would be so expensive they couldn't
do it.

So the cable-logging is as destructive as
the tractor logging at the present time, the way
they're doing it in California.
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Steen: Because of the more broken terrain, I guess.
Robinson: Because of that.

Steen: In the northwest, you have very long slopes,
and you can put a pole on the top. Of course,
it's clearcutting, but you only have one road
and one landing. It's minimum road disturbance,
at least.

Robinson: You can go about eight hundred feet with
cable. You can go about four hundred feet with
cable on the back on a tractor--four hundred
feet up and four hundred feet down, and a road
every eight hundred feet. You've got the same
thing, haven't you?

Steen: Skidding into a landing, when you have the
skid trails going up toward the spar tree, tends
to disperse runoff rather than concentrate it.
Downhill yarding is very destructive because of
runoff.

Robinson: Yes, that's correct. Twenty years ago,
the Forest Service was putting out photographs
and illustrations showing the destructiveness
from using cables, cables on the top of a hill,
advocating the use of tractors. I'd be happy
to show you one.

Steen: I was appalled by the photographs of that
bit in Montana. The University of Montana got
involved two years ago on the clearcutting
controversy. It was just a mass of skid roads.
I had never seen that. Terracing, I guess,
besides. I never was gquite sure what was going
on, if that was an experimental project with the
Forest Service--

Robinson: No, that's a full-scale program, and now
that Guy Brandborg has died, they're returned
to it. There's nobody there to complain about
it, I guess.

There may be more on this, but there are
two basic things they are doing there, and I
object to both of them. One is removing
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relatively undesirable timber, stands of lodge-
pole pine and alpine fir, and then terracing
it with tractors and planting it to ponderosa

pine. I object to it because of the massive
disturbance of the soil and those ecological
factors.

But the second thing I object to is that
they are playing with numbers in doing this.
They will take an area which is not productive,
because it's naturally stocked with non-commercial
species or species of very minimal commercial
value. They will sell all that timber to the
pulp mills for maybe two dollars a thousand board
feet, and the price they pay applies only to the
larger trees, the smaller ones go free. So they
get 90 percent of it, or 80 percent of it, for
nothing.

Having done that, they will take that area,
terrace it, plant the ponderosa pine, and they
will estimate what the average growth per acre
per year is going to be, from that terraced
land, and thereby increase the allowable cut by
that much. Suppose you've got a thousand acres
and it's going to grow, they estimate, five
hundred board feet per acre per year. So there's
five hundred thousand board feet they can add to
the allowable cut. So they increase the allowable
cut by that much, and then they escalate the
removal of the old growth timber on that basis
of that calculation.

They carried this kind of logic to an
extreme, so that they have now cut almost all
of the merchantable sized timber on that forest.
One mill which used the larger ponderosa pine
has closed, because there's no longer timber
available to them.

Steen: I can't see how the economics works out. The
site preparation must be a hundred dollars an
acre, two hundred dollars an acre; how you can
carry that up through the rotation--? Bring
cats in and terrace it--

Robinson: Oh, I think they do it only once. They
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just plant it, and they figure they'll go in and
thin it periodically, but they don't consider
that they have to reterrace it. I think they
regard that as a one-time investment. However,
I agree with you, but I haven't analyzed it
mathematically.

Steen:

At forestry school in class projects, we tried

to make the cost of hand-planting pay--over a
eighty-year rotation at 6 percent and all that.
But if you're going to bring in equipment, do
all this landscaping, and carry that plus the
cost of planting--

Robinson: You're simply reiterating the things that
I've said regarding sustained yield initially,
that forestry does not pay in competition with
other investment opportunities. This is why
we have public forestry. I don't object at all
to public money being spent for reforestation
and for thinning and these things. I think
that's desirable.

But I do object to selling timber -in

excessive quantities, violating the sustained-
yield principle, stretching the definition of
sustained yield to pretend they're observing

the law while helping the lobbyists for the
timber industry. That's the kind of thing that's
happening. That's where the problem is.

Steen:

But sustained yield obviously, through

several rotations, is dependent upon maintenance
of the soil. '

Robinson: Yes. Oh, yes.

Steen:

We can determine by the slope and the thinness

of the so0il wherever it shouldn't be logged--what
do we do about that land that's in private owner-
ship that's too steep, so it ought not to be
logged? Do we acquire that? Do we buy the
development rights? We're going to wind up
buying an awful lot of land, it seems. Is that
the ultimate solution to--

Robinson: Something of that kind is essential, I
believe, yes.
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Steen: Because to ask somebody to pay taxes on this
stuff, which has market value, even though it
shouldn't be logged.

Robinson: Right. I wanted to point that out earlier,
and I see you anticipate me here. There is a
lot of land that should not be logged, period.
The fact that people own it should not give them
the right to log, just because it's possible to
make some money from it.

Steen: But say you own a sawmill, and you have enough
acreage, based upon some calculations, to sustain
that mill, and suddenly, for whatever good
purpose, a portion of the land is removed from
your cut. Even if you're reimbursed for it--

Robinson: By government action?
Steen: By whatever action.
Robinson: Public action.

Steen: Suddenly you only have 70 percent of the
timber you need to run that sawmill, and you've
just been put out of business. I think this is
one of the arguments, isn't it, in Redwood Park,
that that land has more value than the actual
market value, because it impacts their sustained
yield. It takes twenty years out of their
rotation by pulling 45,000 acres out of there.
This is one of their arguments.

Robinson: ©Oh, that's one of their arguments. But
I don't think they have any rotation. I don't
know any private timber company that really has
a rotation. I've discussed this with some of
the foresters from the big timber companies in
the South, where they say they are really
practicing forestry. And they don't have a
rotation.

Steen: It's really when the tree gets marketable
in forty years, eighty years--that's sort of
the theoretical rotation age, in that sense,
when it gets big enough to cut again.
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Robinson: The foresters down there that I referred
to did not want to be quoted, but two or three
very large, nationally-known companies, who have
huge holdings in the South, southern pine and
pulp mills and that kind of thing, say they have
a twenty-five year rotation on the growth of
their timber, and they plant a fair amount.
Rather large acreages, actually, but a very
small porportion of the total amount of forest
land in the South.

Now what they are doing is planting enough
so that they can go to private owners and tell
them that they'd like to buy their timber, and
then tell them if they don't sell it to them,
they've got timber of their own, so they can
name the price. This again gets back to what
I was saying, [laughs] that forestry's not
profitable.

The owner has no alternative. If there's
one big outfit in the community, and that's the
one that buys the timber, and they tell them,
"Better sell it to us, or we'll let you keep it,"
and he's invested money and he's held it for
fifteen or twenty years, had to pay taxes on it,
and he wants out, so he yields.

All right. So they grow enough timber to
be able to pull that on the private landowner.
But they're not practicing sustained yield as
I interpret it, or as I defined it earlier in
the conversation.

Steen: How in the world are we going to protect soil
with that kind of a market system?

Robinson: Well, we're not. We're going the way of
the North Africans, around the Mediterranean.

Steen: There must be some interesting data accumu-
lating after our drought is over, and all the
heavy rainfall. I don't know what's going on
up north, but there must be a lot of slippage
somewhere.,

Robinson: Oh, I'm sure. I haven't heard a thing
about that, but I'm sure you're right.
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Steen: I've still got some questions to ask about
soil. Maybe it's so self-evident that it doesn't
require a lot of articulation, the need to
maintain the soil--

Robinson: Well, that may be. There's some semi-
technical things that I'd like to talk about.
You know, I'm not a soil scientist, but I gather
that there are four or five essential nutrients
which must be present in appropriate amounts for
vegetation to grow. They are calcium, phosphorus,
potassium, magnesium, and nitrogen. There's
five, I guess--that when they're in a form that
is available to plants, are in a soluble con-
dition.

Therefore, as land is saturated and water's
running through it, these tend to be leached out.
So in a normal situation, these nutrients are
bound up chemically in the tissue of living
organisms or in the humus, which is the decaying
material of past generations of living material.

As these chemicals are released, the roots
of living organisms pick them up and recycle
them. There is no way of determining how much
of these nutrients are available to plants,
through any chemical analysis that we know of.
When I was in the university, back in the 1930s,
Dr. Holman was our professor, and he had us all
get a textbook by Maximov, translated from the
Russian, because there was no such textbook in
the English language.

Maximov explained that there are two ways
of going about making an analysis of soil. One
is to take a soil sample, dissolve it in distilled
water, and then make a chemical analysis of that
water to determine what proportion of these
essential nutrients are present. This under-
estimates the amount grossly, because plants
have the capacity of extracting nutrients that
will not dissolve in distilled water. They are
held in the soil by colloidal phenomena.

The other extreme is to take a sample of
the soil and give it a standard chemical analysis.
This grossly overestimates the amount that's
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available to the plant, because it results in
measurement of stuff that cannot by any stretch
of the imagination be available to these plants.

Now, the range of availability to the plants,
from paucity to surfeit, is so well within the
range of these two methods of estimating the
amount that's present, measuring the amount present,
that there is no way of determining the fertility
of soil by soil analysis.

So what you do is get a sample of soil and
plant things in it and then add small quantities
of the various nutrients to these in various
combinations and measure the growth to see if
addition of any of them causes an increase. If
it does, then you realize--you infer that that
nutrient is lacking in sufficient qualities and
so forth. That's the only thing you can do.

But you can't do this effectively with
forest soils, because trees require different
nutrient combinations at different stages of
their development--I should say, plants do--and
the nutrient requirements vary from one species
to another.

So actually, in the long run, the only test
of the nutrient supply in the effective capacity
of the soil is to grow timber on it. But we do
know that, as I said earlier, the amount that's
present is generally bound up in the humus
material, and therefore it is definitely essential
that we maintain that nutrient supply by pro-
tecting the soil.

That's what I'm trying to get at. There's
no question about it. And a logging technique,
or the silvicultural methods that expose that
soil to erosion or leaching by water without
there being vegetation present to protect--you
know, to take up the nutrients that it would
leave-—-is going to lead to a decline in the
productivity, and there is no question about it.

Steen: How about what some of the companies are
doing, at least in the pilot project phases—--
dropping fertilizer from helicopters and this
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sort of thing. Is that an alternative, or a way
to maintain soil productivity?

Robinson: It can help in some situations, but again,
that is very expensive, It costs a great deal of
money. I'd like to fertilize, and fertilizer is
becoming increasingly expensive these days because
it is dependent upon energy to manufacture, or to
mine it. You know, the nitrogen compounds are
manufactured, and the others are mined. As the
food supply becomes scarce, and as the population
increases, we're not going to be able to use
fertilizer for growing trees.

Steen: Yes, we're going to have to use it for food.

Robinson: That's one thing. For another, experiments
in fertilizing are not consistent. I know one
experiment in Douglas fir which resulted in a
dramatic increase in the rate of growth of the
young trees, but when it snowed, the limbs broke
off because the wood was more rapidly grown and
therefore not as strong.

I know of another experiment where fertili-
zation increased the growth of competing vegeta-
tion, but it interfered with the growth of the
trees. There is an experiment which recently
reported--which shows that fertilization inter-
feres with the growth of mycorrhiza. The
mycorrhiza are essential to the growth of trees.
So if you kill the mycorrhiza with fertilizer,
then you're defeating yourself.

So unless the person has done a great deal
of very careful research over a period of time,
really, to check his hypothesis out, he isn't
even sure that fertilization will do any good.
So I'm skeptical about that.

No, I think the best thing to do is to
protect the nutrient reservoir that's there by
using the most conservative methods of forestry
imaginable. [Laughs] That's what I'm describing.

Steen: Another problem, I suspect, of using fertilizers
is that it leaches out and raises the nutrient
level in lakes, causing algae blooms and whatnot.
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Robinson: Yes. If you clearcut the whole watershed,
that definitely does occur. If you are practicing
sustained yield, that is limiting the cut to
growth, so that you're cutting, clearcutting only
a small portion of the watershed at any one time,
and using a reasonably long rotation, you're not
going to materially affect the quality of the
water, I don't think. But you are, nevertheless,
depleting the soil gradually, and you have other
difficulties arriving from--

Steen: No matter how carefully you practice forestry,
how correct you are, after the fourth or fifth
rotation, when you keep taking out the trunk,
aren't you depleting this reservoir?

Robinson: Oh, definitely, you are. Yes. The
nutrients in a forest are distributed approxi-
mately 80 percent in the tree and around 20
percent in the humus. Now, this would be in
the coniferous forest. With a hardwood forest,
it varies dramatically during the year, depending
on whether the leaves are on the ground or
whether the trees are leafed out.

We base that estimate on knowledge about
the growth capacity of soil we know that it has
impoverished, or are impoverished to begin with.
For example, in Alaska, on Kodiak Island, which
is the frontier of the advancing forests, follow-
ing the last ice age, the soil there is pure
glass beads. It's almost microscopic, it's
dust. Volcanic dust from Katmai, which
periodically erupts.

Herbs and grasses and various things take
root in this volecanic soil, and over a long
period of time they build up a sufficient
nutrient reservoir so the trees can get started.
And the trees will grow very, very slowly at
first, maybe an inch or two in height a year,
until they get to be about a hundred, hundred
and fifty years old. Then they begin recycling
their own nutrients, and then they get bird
droppings, you know, from birds that are perched
in the trees and all that.
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Eventually the nutrient reservoir builds
up, so by the time trees are several hundred
vears old, the indications of site, by measuring
these trees, is relatively good. So the site
improves as the trees grow and collect and recycle
the nutrients.

So there is one good way of determining
this business that I just expressed, that the
nutrient level is largely in the standing timber.

There are similar situations that have been
studied in the South, in lands that were impover-
ished by having been cleared and then used for
cotton plantations for many years, abandoned
when they became infertile to the point that
they couldn't compete, and now are coming up
with pine. There again, the pine grew slowly
at first and the rate of growth, and the nutrient
present, has become the key to this.

From there on then, we find that measure-
ments of the nutrients in trees are about 20
percent in the roots, about a third in the bole
of the tree, and the rest in the branches and
leaves. So if you leave the roots, and you
leave the branches and leaves, and merely take
out the bole of the tree, and you're practicing
forestry on a relatively long rotation--as I'm
advocating--the probability is that the nutrient
reservoir will be maintained, that during the
growth of those trees, what's been removed by
removal of the bole of the tree will be re-
rlenished, as is happening in Alaska.

Steen: So the care of the soil goes far beyond just

preventing erosion. You're also maintaining the
nutrient reservoir.

Robinson: Right. But this, of course, what I've

Just said, points up the fallacy of whole-tree
logging.

Steen: With helicopters.

Robinson: Yes. Somebody in the South has recently

developed machinery that will cut out the roots-—-
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Steen: 1 saw that, on the SAF tour last year in New
Orleans. We went out to Mississippi on a field
trip, and we saw one of these things. It would
go up to a tree up to fifteen inches in diameter
and grab it with two big steel hands and rip it
right out of the ground. Now I don't know what
the price of energy is. The thing had to grunt
and groan for about thirty seconds [laughter]
before it would rip this thing out and then
throw it down and grab another one.

But they claimed that it would increase
fiber production 22 percent, or some such thing.
I didn't realize that much was stump. But anyway,
it was an increase in fiber, but it looked 1like
Vietnam, with all these little bomb craters all
throughout this area.

Robinson: But you're certainly removing the nutrient
reservoir, and that is dangerous.



THE TEXAS LAWSUIT

(Interview Date: 20 September 1977)

Gordon Robinson: I have been involved in some things
that the club does not approve of, and I don't
want anyone to be confused about what I'm doing.
I'm thinking specifically of a case in Texas.

Harold Steen: That's a specific case I wanted to
explore. 1t was, officially, Texas Committee on
Natural Resources versus the U.S. Forest Service.

Robinson: Oh, that's a good story.

Steen: It's a good story. How did you get involved?
You've already said that this is not an official
Sierra Club lawsuit.

Robinson: No, it is not. Along about January 1976,
I began getting phone calls from a woman named
Madeline Framson, in Houston, Texas. She was
very disturbed because the elected officials of
the Houston Group, of the Lone Star Chapter of
the Sierra Club...

I should digress a bit to explain to the
people who may not understand that the work of
the Sierra Club is done by groups and chapters.
And we have some forty chapters, throughout the
United States and Canada. And the chapters have
representation at our board meetings through the
Sierra Club Council. There got to be so many of

these that we have in addition groups which report
to the chapters. So that we can remain democratic

without the expense of the board meeting becoming
unmanageable. So we have some 200 groups in
addition to something like 40 to 50 chapters.

So the Houston Group of the Lone Star
Chapter of the Sierra Club--it's elected
officials—--was cooperating with the Forest
Service in promoting an 1800-acre wilderness

85
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on the Sam Houston National Forest. Madeline
Framson was very concerned about this, because
she and a group of friends, including the Bonnys,
who had organized the Lone Star Chapter, had
built what is known as the Lone Star Trail in
the Sam Houston National Forest, under a written
agreement with the Forest Service. A large
segment of that trail would not be included in
this wilderness, and was scheduled to be clear-
cut. And this just made them wild.

The Forest Service wanted to go put inter-
pretive signs along their trail showing, you
know these tree farm signs and all this stuff
about rationalizing their clearcutting and
stuff. And here the elected officials of the
club were supporting that. She thought that
the minimum wilderness proposal should comprise
about 4,500 acres. She wanted to know what to
do about it.

I didn't want to - - it would be totally
improper for me to get involved in the local
politics of the club. So the best I could do
was to just listen patiently and give her what
encouragement I could. But then, one time, she
called and said that the Forest Service had
scheduled a charette.

A charette is a public meeting designed to
bring about public participation, rather broad
participation in planning for land use. It's
a type of meeting developed by French architects
for bringing dissenting parties together where
they are involved with land use planning. They
will invite several hundred people for a weekend,
and that way they get a cross-section of the
people who are the various interests. Then when
they arrive, they are divided up into small
groups, each representing the cross-section of
interest groups. Then each group is sent off
with an advisor and recorder, and stuff like
the group dynamics that we developed in this
country in the 50s. Then they all get together
and compare notes. And lo and behold, they all
have substantially the same plans and so they're
all expected to get behind the architect's design.
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So the Forest Service scheduled one of
these to consider planning on the Conroe unit
of the Sam Houston National Forest, which con-
tained this proposal. Meanwhile, they were
going ahead with their plans to clearcut within
the 4,500 acres that she thought ought to be
considered for wilderness.

I asked her if she had an attorney, be-~
cause it occurred to me that it wouldn't be too
difficult to develop some kind of a legal theory
whereby they could get an injunction against
tampering with that 4,500 acres up to the time
when they at least come up with the results of
this meeting. It seems to be a great breach
of faith to go ahead and foreclose the alter-
natives that they're inviting these people to
consider.

Steen: Right.

Robinson: The next thing I knew, I got a phone call
from one Ned Fritz in Dallas, telling me he was
preparing to file suit against the U.S. Forest

Service to stop them from clearcutting on the
national forests.

Steen: Fritz is an attorney?

Robinson: He is an attorney, right. He wanted to

know if I knew Madeline Framson. '"Yes. I had
suggested that she get ahold of somebody. And
I guess you're the one." "But I'm not going to

file on the behalf of Madeline, but rather, in
the name of the Texas Committee on Natural
Resources, and I'm the executive secretary of
that organization. Will you help?" "Well, of
course, what do you want me to do?'" And he
says, '"Well, I'm filing suit on the grounds that
clearcutting is a violation of the Organic Act
of 1897 using the Monongahela decision as a
precedent." And I said, ""Ah, oh! Hold the
phonel™

Because at that time we had won the lawsuit
in West Virginia. So our strategy was to try to
prevent that decision from being applied to other
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areas of the nation through court action, because
the timber industry would use it as ammunition

to gain momentum for bringing about repeal of
those provisions of the Organic Act, you see.

So I asked him to please check with our
lobbyist in Washington and the attorneys in the
Sierra Club Legal Defense, and so on, before
proceeding, to see if he couldn't develop some
other theory. I urged him to use the Multiple
Use Law. He says, "All right, I'll check."

The next thing I knew, he had filed suit
anyway, using that Monongahela decision. Well,
of course that made everybody furious. And the
Houston group was furious with me, and they
phoned and wrote very nasty letters to Mike
McCloskey about the Sierra Club being involved
in a matter and taking the position diametrically
contrary to that of the group.

They explained that the Forest Service was
proposing this 1800 acre wilderness and the
timber industry had agreed not to oppose it.
Senator Towers had introduced a bill to bring
about study of that area. Now as a result of
the fact that the Sierra Club forester was going
to be a witness in a suit against them, Towers
had withdrawn his bill, the Forest Service said
that they will withdraw their support for the
wilderness, and the timber industry says that
we will fight every wilderness proposal that
comes out from now on. And it's all your fault!
[Laughter]

Oh, and Brock Evans was mad at me, too. I
don't know how, but it got in the papers that
Gordon Robinson, Sierra Club forester, was going
to be the witness for them. 1 discussed it with
Mike McCloskey, and he said in effect, '"Well,
you've got to help them. But do it on your own.
Just don't involve the Sierra Club. You can do
it on your 40 percent time, can't you?" I said,
"Well, sure.'" "But check with Jim Moorman, who
is our attorney."

So I checked with Jim. And he said the same
thing. '"Oh, well, you have to help them. Maybe
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you can pull their chestnuts out of the fire.
But, but, for Heaven's sake, make certain that
it's on the record that you're not doing this
on behalf of the Sierra Club. So I agreed with
Ned that that's what I would do.

Then Ned phoned and said, "We're going to
trial next Tuesday. The court convenes at 9 a.m.,
Tyler, Texas. I want you to come and examine
the forest and look at the proposed timber sales
so that you will be prepared to testify that
they're in violation of the Organic Act."

I said, "Well, now, Ned, I have a speaking
engagement in Portland, Oregon, at noon on Monday.
There is no way I can get there.' He says, '"Well,
can't you get to Texas after your speech Monday
and go look at the forest and be bright-eyed
and bushy-tailed at 9 o'clock Tuesday morning?"
And I said, '"Ned, no, it's not possible."
[Laughter] I thought I was off the hook.

He said, '"The judge is very reluctant to
postpone the hearing." I said, "Well, that's
just too bad. This is an engagement that I made
six months ago and I am not going to break it."
He says, '"Well, all right." He called back a
couple of hours later and said, "The judge has
postponed the hearing until Wednesday. Now will
you come?" I said, '"Oh, God. Well, all right.
I'1l come."

I took a plane out of Portland Monday
afternoon, got to Dallas at midnight, and I was
met by the conservation chairman for the regional
conservation committee. Howard Saxion was his
name. He took me to his apartment for the night,
and the next morning we drove some several hundred
miles, and saw this forest. We picked up a
professor at the university at Huntsville, also
interested.

So we went out to this timber sale, one in
particular; I guess we looked at two of them.
So I got out the Monongahela decision. The
Organic Act specifies that the secretary of
agriculture may sell only the dead, matured, and
large growth trees.
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Steen: Right.

Robinson: And the trees to be sold must be marked
and designated; not marked or designated.
Marked and designated. And trees to be sold
must be cut and removed to prevent high grading,
of course. I got out the Jjudge's decision and
read his definition of mature. Essentially it
meant trees that have virtually ceased in their
height growth and are slowing down in their
diameter growth.

Well, we looked at these trees. All of
them were marked. All they were selling was
pine. Every pine tree had paint on it. And
they were branching out, flattening out at the
top, which meant height-growth was virtually
over. I bored them with my increment borer and
found that the growth rings were becoming quite
close together. Therefore, according to the
judge's decision, they were mature. They varied
in size. There were some that big and some that
big, but they were mature.

So I simply told them, "If the contract
requires that they remove the timber that's to
be cut, they are in agreement with the Organic
Act, and there is no--"

Steen: No case.

Robinson: --no case. We got back to Tyler that night,
at midnight. Up the crack of dawn the next day
to the court house, and there at eight-thirty I
met Ned Fritz for the first time. [Laughter]
.He says, "What did you find?" I told him. Then
he said, "We can't use you as a witness." I
says, '"Yes, you can. Put me on the witness
stand and ask me what's wrong with clearcutting?"

He says, "All right, all right. But I'm
not the attorney. I want to be a witness, so I
hired Bill Kugle to be the attorney in this case.
I want you to meet Bill. Come on over.' So we
shook hands with Bill. He said, '"But we don't
have time to talk to you now. I have to line
up these other witnesses."
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Here these guys were, putting their
nationally important case together a half hour
before the trial was to begin. They do things
different in Texas, I guess. [Laughter] Anyhow,
Ned says, "Well, I don't know if he'll remember."
I said, "Well, that's...that's what I want you
to do anyway."

Lo and behold, in the middle of the after-
noon, I was on the witness stand, and Bill Kugle
said, "Now, Mr. Robinson, tell us just what's
wrong with clearcutting, anyhow." I leaned back
in the chair and I...this was the moment I'd
been waiting for...Gosh. So I turned to the
judge and I says, "Your Honor, do you mind if
I just hold forth on this subject?"” The judge
says, "Go right ahead.”

I didn't realize it, but it happened that
I pulled a coup, because by getting permission
to just orate on that subject from the judge,
I foreclosed the opportunity for these attorneys
to keep popping up and objecting on the grounds
that I wasn't answering any specific questions.

Steen: But the attorneys didn't .object to the basic
permission to go ahead?

Robinson: No, no.

Steen: The Forest Service attorney didn't say, "I
object" on some grounds?

Robinson: No. The judge just said, "Go right ahead."”
There were eight attorneys there, too, on the
other side. Two for the Forest Service. Two
for the Texas state forest service. Two for
the timber industry. And two representing the
lumber companies that were involved in the
particular sales proposals. Well, they were
just looking at me like snakes, [laughter]
while I was on the witness stand. It was funny.

Then I told the Jjudge, "I would like to
get a copy of the Multiple Use Law from my
briefcase. Do you mind if I step down for a
minute?'" He said, "Go right ahead." So I went
over the thing, and I read the definition of
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multiple use. You know, that's very ambiguous.
Apparently, lawyers feel an obligation in saying
something to put it all in one sentence, and
it's a whole paragraph, which is one sentence,
and it's almost unreadable.

So I turned to him and said, '"Now I grant
you that is like a horse designed by a committee.
But, I think the meaning becomes clear when we
read the definition of sustained yield."

And then I read, '"Sustained yield of the
several products and uses means the achievement
and maintenance in perpetuity of a high level,
annual, or regular periodic output of the
various renewable resources of the national
forests without impairment of the productivity
of the land. All right, now I interpret pro-
ductivity, in that definition, to refer to all
of the multiple uses described in the definition
of multiple use." Okay? All right, and I
proceeded to give him about a forty-five minute
lecture on that.

I won't give you that lecture, but basically,
I said, "Clearcutting impairs the productivity
of the land because it increases the fire hazard,
there's lots of incendiarism in which young
plantations of pine are destroyed in the South,
and this is one of their major problems. It
increases the amount of erosion that takes place,
exponentially in proportion to the size of the
clearcut. It results in the leaching of nutrients,
likewise, exponentially in proportion to the size
of the openings. This is demonstrated through
Forest Service research, and some research in
Japan, incidentally. It leads to plantations
or stands of timber the same age and frequently
of the same species and, thereby, increases the
hazards from insects and disease, because most
insects and diseases attack trees or a particular
species or a particular age."

And I pointed out that the present epidemic
with pine beetles in the South is very likely
the result of the fact that there are large
areas of even-aged stands of southern pine.
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There are other examples to support that.
It over simplifies the ecology by reducing the
number of species and, thereby, destroying the
subtle interrelationships of species upon which
the security of the ecosystem is based.

And I pointed out things like the fact that
dogwood is a calcium pump, which replenishes the
calcium supply in the top layer of soil where
the roots of most trees are. That kind of thing.
It destroys the habitat for many species of wild-
life, 1like hole-nesting species who have an
important part in the ecology. And, finally,
it destroys the recreational values for long
periods of time. And, in all these respects, in
my opinion, it is contrary to and is a violation
of the Multiple Use-Sustained Yield Law.

I had to leave after that, because I had a
speaking engagement in Dallas. I suppose Howard
Saxion had set up a meeting with the Dallas
group, hoping that I would make friends with
them and thereby counter balance the animosity
that developed in Houston. [Laughter] I don't
know, but anyhow, that's what I had to do that
night. '

Next morning, I called Ned to see what
happened. He says, "Well, the judge had another
case he had to try today so he held a night
session. But we adjourned at ten o'clock last
night, and on adjournment, he asked me into his
chambers and ordered me to prepare a statement
of findings. I'm doing it now,; come on over
and help.”

So we went over to his house, and he handed
me one of those yellow pads, and he says, ''Here.
Summarize what you said on the witness stand
yesterday." ZFor a moment, I guess I had stage
fright or something. I just couldn't start.
Finally, he says, '"Well, clearcutting impairs
the productivity of the land because..." '"Yeah,
yeah, that's right." And so I wrote that.
[Laughter] I summarized approximately as I
recited it here a moment ago.
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Then I had to leave to catch my plane to
come home. On the way home, I had some after-
thoughts. I wasn't sure that I had actually
mentioned one of those points from the witness
stand, and didn't know what effect that would
have. I thought we would have to see the tran-
script to make sure. I had some additional
thoughts. He said, "Oh, well, it's all done."
I said, "What do you mean?'' He says, '""Well, we
finished the statement of findings and took it
down to the Greyhound last night at eight o'clock,
my wife and I did, and we gave it to the driver
and phoned the judge. He went down in Tyler at
ten o'clock and picked it up, and now I have to
leave because he's rendering his decision this
afternoon. He's calling court to order, and I
have to be there."

Well, there's two hours difference in time.
It's a two hour drive. I knew what he meant.
"But he's using your statement of findings
verbatim. That is, I think he is. I gave it
to him verbatim."

Steen: The image of using Greyhound for a courier
for this important document boggles the mind!

Robinson: [Laughter] Yeah, I know. The whole:
thing, it's crazy! It's almost like a Mack
Sennett comedy. But anyhow, that's exactly
what the judge did. He gave them a temporary
injunction against clearcutting on the national
forests in the state of Texas, on the grounds
that it violated the Multiple Use-Sustained
Yield Law. He used my statement; there was a
lot of other stuff in it, but he did use that.

That, to me, was the thing that's critically
important in the big picture in trying to
straighten out the Forest Service. I understand
that this threw the Forest Service into panic,
that the people were pacing the halls in the
South Office Building the next day. But I never
heard much about it really.

Steen: What's happened since the injunction? What's
the status...?
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Robinson: Well, all right, the trial took place on
December 6, I believe, in Texas. That hearing
was just for the.injunction. But the formal
trial lasted three weeks beginning the sixth
of December of last year. And we got the
decision, I guess, about three months ago.

It's essentially the same as we had before.
The judge granted a permanent injunction against
clearcutting on the national forests in the
state of Texas. He cited all of these findings;
in fact, he elaborated on them considerably from
the way they appeared in his findings that I
helped write. I'm told that the judged worked
for three months on that. He spent every weekend
on it for three months and wrote every word of
it himself. He elaborated on those points from
material that was introduced in the trial.

For the trial we brought together witnesses
who could support those specific points, as much
as we were able to find. We didn't have much
money to work with, so we couldn't do it all.

So what we couldn't do was supported by Forest
Service documents, which I introduced.

Well, the judge said that he was not, after
reciting all these ways in which clearcutting
impairs the productivity of the land, he said
that the court was not addressing itself to the
question of whether or not they were violating
the Multiple Use-Sustained Yield Law at this
time. In view of the impending regulations,
which the Forest Service is required to prepare
under the Forest Management Act and these are
due, I think, October 1, 1978. However, he did
find that their impact statement was inadequate.
(I've got a story about that, too. Well, I'll
stick with what I'm saying here.)

For that reason, he is issuing this
permanent injunction until they come forth with
an impact statement that is satisfactory to his
court and the Environmental Protection Agency.
I read that to mean that the impact statement
will have to deal adequately with those points.
If they do that, and continue to clearcut, we
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will then have a document, which can be used as
evidence in court to force them to practice
multiple use as defined in the Multiple Use-
Sustained Yield Law.

Steen: This whole case has received very little
publicity.

Robinson: I know.

Steen: Particularly the decision. The only item
I've seen in print is in the National Forest
Products Association Newsletter.

Robinson:” I have not seen that.

Steen: It's just a brief paragraph describing the
decision. It says what you said that the
environmental impact statement was inadequate
under the Environmental Policy Act. And that
the impact statements have to be submitted to
the judge for approval for clearcutting in Texas.

Robinson: Yes, yes. And it has to be a programatic
impact statement. 1In other words, it has to
deal with the whole philosophy of clearcutting
in the southern pine forest and not just with
a few timber sales or with a particular manage-
ment plan.

Steen: You had a story about the impact statement.

Robinson: While I was on the witness stand, Mr.
Ulmer, the attorney for the defense, and a very
nasty person, [laughs] picked up an environmental
impact statement for the Conroe Unit. He said,
"Mr. Robinson, have you seen this document?"

I said, "No, sir." He said, '"This is the final
impact statement for the Conroe Unit of the Sam
Houston National Forest, and you have not seen
this document?" '"No, sir."

"Well, why haven't you seen that document?
This is basic to this case!" I said, "Well, I
suppose that nobody put that in my hands during
the time that I was awake and working in pre-
paration for this trial. I don't know what else
I can tell you."
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He said, '"Do you mean to tell me that you
have come here as an expert witness in this trial,
which has tied up the timber industry in the
state of Texas, and threatens the timber industry
throughout the entire United States, and has cost
any amount of money to bring in witnesses from
all over the country, and you have not even read
this essential document?!" '"That is correct."

The judge said, "Just a minute, Mr. Ulmer.
Mr. Robinson, do you intend to be here--do you
plan to be here throughout the course of this
trial?" I said, "Yes, I do." He said, '"Do you
mind studying this document, and then sometime
during the course of the trial giving me your
opinion?" I said, "I'd be glad to do that.
Thank you very much, your honor." [Laughs]

So I was provided with a copy of the thing,
and later in the trial I presented my findings,
that they were essentially--as I just told you--
that they never considered the possibility of
anything but clearcutting and even-age management.

Steen: For such a potentially far—reaching_decision,
there was little public attention.

Robinson: Yes, I‘puzzled about that. I can tell you
a few things about the politics of the judge in
this, if you think that would be of interest.

Steen: By all means.

Robinson: This judge, William Wayne Justice, is a
liberal democrat from the South. He's been
going to the national Democratic conventions
for a number of years. He was appointed by
Johnson to the federal court I presume to pay
off a political debt for his support. He's a
leading political figure, or has been in that
community; of course he's withdrawn from that
now as a federal judge.

_ He proceeded to hand down some decisions
that are very favorable to the Blacks under the
Civil Rights Act. He became the hero of the
minorities in the South. But he also became
the enemy of the reactionary people in the South,



98

and they've been threatening his life and all
that sort of thing. I guess a good deal of that
sort of thinking emanates from some of the old
timers who live out in the woods.

Now those same people were bitterly disturbed
by the clearcutting, because this destroys much
of the habitat that they require. See, they're
living pretty much the way the Indians did before
the whites came. They're hunting deer and possums
and squirrels and all that kind of thing. The
game population is way down as a result of their
clearcutting, you see. And it disturbs them
mightily; also they don't like the appearance of
it. So Ned Fritz brought in several of these
people as witnesses to testify to what's happen-
ing locally.

Let me give you an example of the sort of
thing that happened. Mr. Ulmer was one of these
fifty-thousand-a-year attorneys for some big law
firm in Houston representing the timber industry.
He's a very nasty man, but very smooth. At one
point, one of these old gentlemen was on the
witness stand, and he says, "Your Honor, I object
to that man testifying on the subject of silvi-
culture! That man doesn't even have a grammar
school education! He is not qualified to discuss
silviculture and matters of that kind!"

The judge says, "Mr. Ulmer, I must remind
you once again, this is not a jury trial. I
will decide what evidence is relevant to this
case. Your objection is overruled. 1I'd
appreciate it if you would not harass the
witness. You may proceed."

So the 0ld guy proceeds, and he says,
"After they clearcut, then the brush comes up
so thick an armadillo can't get through it."
Everybody laughs, you know. But you see while
the judge is fair and he's open-minded and
concerned about these things, also in his mind
is the opportunity to ingratiate himself to
these people, who are disturbed because of his
Civil Rights decisions, you see.
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Steen: Interesting commentary on the law, the way
' things work out.

Robinson: Yes. But he's a genuine man, and he's not
doing anything he doesn't believe in, I'm sure.
But he's taking advantage of the opportunity to
put it all together.

(Interview date: 3 October 1978)

Steen: The U.S. Circuit Court of Appeals, on May
8, 1978, overturned the U.S. District Court ban
on clearcutting in Texas, saying the appellate
court ruled that the district court judge, Willijiam
Wayne Justice, had improperly intervened in a
matter governed by Congress, through the National
Forest Management Act in imposing the ban.

As you said before the recorder was turned
on, this has now been appealed to the Supreme
Court. But, for the sake of discussion this
morning, if the Supreme Court refuses to hear it
or upholds the circuit court judge, how do you
judge the success of that lawsuit?*

In the earlier interviews you were in good
spirits, because it looked as though at least
you had won a temporary victory over what had
happened. When you fight these kinds of battles,
but in the long run--technically at least--lose,
is the battle worth waging in the first place?
And how do you allocate your energy in the kinds
of things you want to do?

Robinson: I guess I judge my own energy by reflecting
back on the myth of Sisyphus, where you get your
jollies in the struggle to achieve, rather than
in victories. There are no final victories.
What I do is try to see what I might do next and
see if there's anything I did wrong that I might
profit by, and go back to rolling the stone up
Mount Olympus, I guess.

*Note: The Supreme Court refused to review
the appeals court decision.
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Steen: Some of your comments about Judge Justice
suggested that, in effect, you're not surprised
that it was overturned. It seemed like he was
sort of politically--

Robinson: Yes, I was surprised! I did not believe
that that would be overturned.

Steen: Was that right?

Robinson: Yes. I knew the judge did his best to
write his decision in such a way that it would
not be overturned.

Steen: There was something you'd said earlier about
some of his political motivations. He was
trying to appeal to the backwoods people of
Texas.

Robinson: Oh, yes.

Steen: This element to the man--that I wondered if
it might not have been part of the downfall of
his decision that he was--

Robinson: No-- ,
Steen: --willing to stretch the legal procedure
because of his own personal goal.

Robinson: No, I don't think that's right. I think
the downfall was on the part of Ned Fritz, who
failed to bring in scientists to support our
position. He wanted to play to what he perceived
would be sympathies of the judge, rather than to
appeal to his reason with good witnesses.

He was trying to save money. That was the
main thing there. The Texas Committee on
Natural Resources doesn't have much money. It
was all they could do to pay my expenses to go
out there. And they paid me no fee, of course.
They didn't pay anybody any fees for being
witnesses.

Steen: We're reading this very brief summary out of
context, but some of the language suggests that
maybe the overturned decision really was not a
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loss for you at all. The ruling added, '"We
would emphasize that our decision today is

not a wholesale license to clearcut in Texas
forests. Rather, clearcutting must be used
only where it is essential to accomplish rele-
vant forest objectives."

I would assume that the Forest Service
would be hard pressed in certain situations to
demonstrate that through its EIR process, or '
whatever it uses in Texas, under the watchdogging
of your colleagues there.

Robinson: I don't think so. I think that in their
minds they've established that clearcutting is
the way to go in all of the forest types in the
United States, except for about 5 percent, which
they set aside for what they call multiple use
purposes—--for recreation or for visual qualities
around a lot of highways, campgrounds, and
recreation areas. They intend to just make
tree farms out of the national forests, period.

Steen: The Forest Management Act refers to clear-
cutting, which can be used when it's the
appropriate silvicultural tool. I guess that's
certainly the language of this-—-

Robinson: Oh, yes, that's right. Well, I don't
think they understood.

Recently the Sierra Club intervened in a
lawsuit in Arkansas, in which the Newton County
Wildlife Association is suing the Forest Service
to stop them from using herbicides. I got the
Newton County Wildlife Society to amend their
complaint to get at the reasons that the Forest
Service is using herbicides. I was afraid that
if we won on that and merely got them to stop
using 24D and 245T, then they'd use something
else.

The problem that we see is their deter-
mination to simplify the ecosystem and grow only
that which seems to have the highest commercial
value and to ignore the other values of the
forest.
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Steen: These are herbicides to control brush after
clearcutting--or is this to get rid of hardwoods?

Robinson: It's to get rid of hardwoods in favor of
pine.

Steen: These are relatively immature forests that
they 're spraying?

Robinson: Relatively, yes. I don't think that in
the Ozarks there is any virgin timber, but a
lot of it's fifty, eighty, a hundred years old,
but it's almost all hardwood. But there're
walnut trees--that big around.

Steen: That's the same argument--or same observation
you made in Texas. You described oak two feet
through that they were girdling--just to get rid
of it.

Robinson: Right. Because they wanted to grow pine.
What I'm pointing out here is if we lose the
Texas lawsuit we'll try somewhere else--in
another way. In fact, we are already doing that
in this Arkansas suit.

We're going to go on fighting until they
employ the research that comes out of the
experiment stations on this subject. That's
all there is to it.

Steen: If either side views it as a victory and a
validation of their perceptions--I suppose that's
a danger. The Forest Service, in effect, is
chastized, and is more careful. I don't think
anything but good can come of this demonstration
that they didn't do their homework.

Even assuming that their silvicultural
procedures were the appropriate ones; I know you
don't agree. But if they were appropriate, they
didn't do a very good job of explaining to anyone
what they were doing. Otherwise, they wouldn't
have gone through all this.

Robinson: I think that's not right! I think the
admonition of the judge in this case and the
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language of the Forest Management Act are too
broad to have any impact.

Have you seen the regulations that were
proposed by the committee of scientists under
the Forest Management Act?

Steen: No, I haven't seen that.

Robinson: I have studied them, and I've been called
upon to comment. But I can tell you in connection
with this that the regulations, as now proposed,
would if enacted result in the removal of all the
remaining saw-timber size timber in the national
forests over the next fifteen to twenty years.
This Forest Management Act is ineffective because
they twisted it into license to just simply rip
off the forests.
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Harold Steen: One of the things that you said that
you wanted to talk about was the Monongahela suit,
the Randolph and Humphrey bills, and the Forest
Management Act of 1976.

Gordon Robinson: Oh, yes.

Steen: I don't know what your role was in the
Monongahela suit. I assume that you testified
in favor of the Randolph bill.

Robinson: I helped draft the Randolph bill, and I was
the adviser to Helen Needham, who was the attorney
in the Monongahela case.

Steen: Let's go back a 1little bit. I've heard various
accounts about the Sierra Club's position on the
Monongahela suit, and their fear that it would
be developed into an overkill and then lose
everything. They didn't want it to be a ban on
clearcutting in the United States--they wanted
to hold it together while they got their forces
going, because what potentially was growing out
of that suit was too drastic.

What was the Sierra Club's official role in
that lawsuit? Do you know? It was actually
Izaak Walton League versus Butz. But where was
the Club in that?

Robinson: Plaintiffs in that suit were the Izaak
Walton League, the Sierra Club, Natural Resources
Defense Council, West Virginia Highlands Con-
servancy, and Forrest Armentrout.

Actually, that suit grew out of an effort
on the part of Jim Moorman, who was executive
director of the Sierra Club Legal Defense, to
try to stop clearcutting in the national forests.

104
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And he asked me what thoughts I had on how
we could do that. When he was first appointed
and they set up the Sierra Club Legal Defense,
he and I had some long discussions on what we
might do.

I think he was already aware of this thing
and he wanted to know if I thought attacking them
on grounds that clearcutting violated the Organic
Act of 1897 would make a good suit. I thought it
would and I pointed out to him that I had
suggested this to Skip Matthews in Alaska in
connection with the suit on the Tongass National
Forest, and he'd amended the complaint to include
it. But the judge ruled it out up there. You
know, the Forest Service has been afraid someone
would sue on these grounds as long as I can
remember.

I thought that would be the appropriate
thing to do. So he got a young attorney--one
of the Rockefellers. I don't know his name, but
he's in his thirties, and is an attorney in
Washington, and is very strong on conservation.
He's a friend of Jim Moorman. I guess they knew
each other in law school, or something.

So Jim got him to do research on the law,
and he came forth with a tremendous, wonderful
collection of stuff, looking into every court
case that had anything to do with this since
this Forest Service was set up, and the legis-
lative history of the Organic Act--the whole
thing. There is marvelous stuff in it. I don't
know if that was submitted to the court or not,
but I guess it was.

Then he looked around to see where we could
find a suit. He wanted to have this suit in a
place where the national forest was of minimal
importance and where the clearcutting was
relatively innocuous, in order not to make any
bigger waves than necessary but while winning
a major point.

I don't know how he got connected with the
case in West Virginia, but you know the people
there for several years had been complaining
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to Congress and to the Forest Service and every-
thing, through Senator Jennings Randolph, about
their cutting on the Monongahela.

Steen: It's interesting, Gordon, that at the annual
meeting of the American Forestry Association
in 1975 in Washington, D.C., Hubert Humphrey
was the keynote speaker. He was obviously
stumping for his own bill, but he gave a little
history on the Monongahela suit--and said that
the president of the West Virginia Izaak Walton
League was a member of a country club, where
he was playing golf. It's in the Monongahela
National Forest--and there was a major clearcut
in progress--visible--from the golf course. He
said that was the origin of this suit.

This commentary of yours adds a whole
different dimension to it. I don't know how much
Humphrey knew--if he was just playing to the
audience, or what--but that was his explanation.
How foolish the Forest Service was, in effect,
to clearcut next to a country club, where the
president of the Izaak Walton League routinely
played golf.

Robinson: I think that Mr. Humplirey was just a
weather-vane politician. I have very little
respect for him. I don't share the admiration
that so many people have. I think Senator
Humphrey did a good thing--a very good thing--
in fighting for the civil rights bill, early
in his career. But I think from there on,
he coasted and was simply a weather vane. I
don't place much credence on what he has to
say about anything.

Steen: Were you involved in the suit in any way?
Did you testify?

Robinson: No. I wrote affidavits--a couple of them--
for the court or for the attorneys who presented
it to the court. I guess that's being a witness,
I'm not sure, technically, what being a witness
is. I asked an attorney once if one is a witness
if he submits an affidavit even though there is
no actual appearance in court.
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Steen: Did you actually go there, or did you write
philosophically about clearcutting in hardwood
types?

Robinson: It was both. I went there and looked at
the forest to see what they were doing.

Steen: Was there a specific unit that this suit was
about or was it--

Robinson: Yes.

Steen: --just in the Monongahela National Forest
in general?

Robinson: No, it was to challenge, I think, three
small timber sales, or three timber sales in the
area—-—1 think they amounted to about 2 million
board feet. I think the largest one was 2.3
million. They're not very big sales. The clear-

cuts themselves are not very large. It seems to
me that the largest one was fifteen or twenty
acres.

Steen: Is that right?
Robinson: Yes, they were just little things.

Steen: In the mind's eye are visions of what went on
in Montana and is going on in West Virginia.

Robinson: Oh, no, it was nothing of the sort. However,
following that, you have a tangle of buggy whips,
you see, coming from the stumps. I went out with
Leon Minckler, who is a Sierra Club member and a
forester colleague.

He showed me quite a bit about hardwood
forestry, and what the basic principles are--
how it differs from conifer forestry. The
basic difference which had to be born in mind
is that hardwood trees grow toward the light,
and the young ones sprout. So, it's important
to plan the removal of trees so that you're not
leaving stumps of small trees in a place where
a lot of sprouts are going to be stimulated by
the light.
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But when you clearcut, you just get a
tremendous thicket of sprouts which grow into
poor trees, and they're no good for wildlife.
It's just a terrible tangle for a very long
time--20, 30, 50 years.

Steen: You won the suit.
Robinson: Yes.

Steen: It looked as though you had almost too hot
a deal to handle. What was the reaction within
the c¢lub? Tactically, what do you do now?

Robinson: The strategy was to lay low like Br'er
Rabbit. Don't brag about it, don't talk about
it. So I said nothing--did nothing. We hoped
to keep it quiet. We also hoped to prevent--or
rather discourage--other groups from using that
as a precedent for other law suits.

Steen: There was some discussion on whether or not
the Forest Service should carry this on through
appeals process. It didn't go very far.

Robinson: Right.

Steen: Théy decided to their best interests not to
go any farther than they did.

Robinson: Yes, it was affirmed by the circuit court.
And with rather firm language, as I recall.

Steen: Did you have a contingency plan that, had
the Forest Service gone to the U.S. Court of
Appeals or the Supreme Court--wherever the
logical next step would have been--that there
would have been a campaign that the Sierra Club
would have maintained the active pursuit of this?

Robinson: Oh, yes, I'm sure--the attorneys were the
ones who discussed that and I was--

Steen: You weren't involved in that.

Robinson: No, I wasn't involved in that discussion.
They kept me informed what they were doing.
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It's no secret, but it's simply that I'm not
an attorney, so I wouldn't be involved.

Steen: Was there a dbalition, then, of conservation

groups, ready with resources to keep this
thing going if necessary? Or was the Sierra
Club really handling this alone? Or was the
Izaak Walton League willing to go further with
this?

Robinson: That I can't tell you, because that

would have to do with financing, and that would
be negotiation on the level of the executive
director of the Sierra Club Legal Defense,

and, while I don't think it would have been a
secret, I just never thought to inquire. So I
don't know.

Steen: The suit was won, but the judge, in effect,

said to the Forest Service and whoever else,

"If you don't like it, go to Congress because
it's the law that needs to be changed. We

just interpreted the law." - Inviting, in effect,
the Forest Management Act of 1976. So then what
happened?

Robinson: Then, Jennings Randolph asked Jim Moorman

to draft a bill for him, because we heard that
Humphrey--I guess before that, a couple of
other things happened. Well, I guess these
2ll happened about the same time, and I can't
tell you just what the precise sequence was.

I'1ll stick with what I started to say there.
So Moorman asked me to outline what I thought
would be an ideal forestry bill. I told him
I thought the ideal was to stick with the law
we have. The only law that I can see that we
might use would be authority of Congress to
sell trees that are cut in thinning operations--
trees that are immature--in stand-improvement
work.

Under the Organic Act they could give away
those trees but couldn't sell them. Of course,
there was no market in 1897 for the stuff cut
in thinning operations, so there wasn't a problem.
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All they needed was authority to sell it,
[laughs] but for many years in appraising timber--
anyhow, they have simply appraised the trees of
different species and different quality sizes
and got the total amount, and then allocated
that amount in order to have a positive price
for each element in the sale.

So they could sell it, and they did sell
it. They really didn't need another law, but
if they needed anything at all, it would be
authority to sell the material that otherwise
is not merchantable.

Well, that was my thought. However, he
insisted that we had to have a compromise
position where you could go, because he didn't
think we'd be able to hold that position of no
repeal of the Organic Act in Congress, owing
to the amount of steam that the Forest Service
and industry had built up.

I thought we ought to have a major campaign
to fight for the Organic Act. So did Mike Frome.
So did a number of people. Actually, I think
what happened in terms of strategy is that
Brock Evans was more interested in getting
wilderness than he was in management of the
national forests.

You know, he and I and Mike McCloskey had
debated on this many times. I had thought that
our ideal policy should be to get all the
wilderness we can; get as much of the remaining
virgin timber as possible in wilderness--to
withdraw all of the non-commercial forest lands
from exploitation. There's a lot of commercial
timber standing on non-commercial forest land.
It's not all suitable for wilderness classi-
fications.

On the remaining commercial forest land
in the national forest, insist upon multiple-
use forestry as had been practiced for the first
50, 60 years by the Forest Service--under the
Organic Act. Then fight for regulatory measures
to bring about at least a decent level of
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sustained yield management on the private
forest lands, because the cause of all this
clamor for wilderness and the clamor for
clearcutting is the failure to manage this 80
percent of the forest lands that are private.

I think each time I went through this,
they agreed with me. But you know, the
timber industry and the Forest Service have
for a long time been trying to get the conser-
vationists to buy a trade-off, whereby if we
would withdraw our objection to intensive
management of some 50 million acres--the most
productive portion of the commercial forest
land in the national forest--they would in
turn withdraw their objections to expanded
wilderness in the higher elevation.

I think that Brock Evans bought that
trade-off. He didn't turn a hand to fight the
Resource Planning Act or the Forest Management
Act.

It was in view of that strategy that
Moorman wanted a bill for Jennings Randolph.
I helped him design it, but with the idea that
this would be a compromise measure to be thrown
in only as a last resort. So we put that bill
together. And then there was a committee of
people who met in Washington, and I was one
of them.

Actually, Moorman kept me out of that.
First he said he wanted me to go with him and
help him draft this bill. Then he kept me out
of it. I think he felt either that I was an
extremist, or he wanted to do some compromising
that he knew I wouldn't go for. Anyhow, they
got this bill together, and I was not too happy
with it.

Steen: Tell me again who Jim Moorman is officially.

Robinson: He is now assistant attorney general for
the United States in charge of land.

Steen: He was under a retainer by the club?
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Robinson: No, he was executive director of the
Sierra Club Legal Defense, which is a parallel
organization set up by the club to handle our
legal matters.

Steen: I know when the Sierra Club membership
renewals come, you canh check a box for the
Legal Defense, or the Sierra Club Foundation,
or whatever., So that's where he fit into the
hierarchy.

Robinson: Right.

Steen: And he reported to McCloskey? VWho would work
with--

Robinson: Independent, actually. They have their
own board of directors, just as the Sierra Club
Foundation has—--and I don't even know who they
are.

But certainly the club is involved in it.
It's for the purpose of carrying out the objectives
of the club, but legally, they have to have their
own board of directors. He technically does not
report to the club--he reports to this board of
directors—--then the board of directors coordinates
their efforts with the club.

Steen: All right. There's the Randolph Bill--and
you participated in drafting that--and then
there's a whole series of other bills, including
the Humphrey Bill, which in effect was an amend-
ment to the Resources Planning Act.

Robinson: Right.

Steen: What is your feeling about RPA? Was that
the right way to go?

Robinson: No! The Resource Planning Act was an
effort to get what the industry failed to get
in the Timber Supply Bill.

Steen: Let's go back to the basic principles of RPA.

Robinson: But they were afraid that if they put in
the stuff about forestry that is now in the
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Forest Management Act in the Resource Planning
Act initially, that the conservationists would
defeat it in Congress and they couldn't have
passed it--that was Humphrey's idea--so they
put it through in two parts.

Steen: But the need for long-~term planning--
obviously you would agree with that.

Robinson: I agree with long-term planning, of
course! But I don't agree with planning on
the assumption that we're going to make short
rotation tree farms out of all the commercial
forest land in the National Forests!--and ignore
industry and simply trust the free enterprise
system to take care of the 80 percent of the
forest land that's in private ownership. That
won't work. It hasn't worked anywhere in the
world.

Steen: I think this is relevant to RPA. The Forest
Service has complained over the years that they
have gone to Congress, and asked for appropria-
tions to do tasks one, two, and three. Congress
gives them 90 percent of what they ask for for
timber, 40 percent of what they ask for for
recreation. It's a fluctuating kind of support
from Congress, and part of the rationale behind
RPA was to have Congress accept a long-term
commitment.

The Forest Service comes to them with a
proposal, and the Congress examines the proposal
for the long term; then the Congress is accepting
a commitment so the Forest Service then can make
better plans.

But your feeling is that there is a basic
loophole in the whole thing.

Robinson: That's correct. What you say is the way
it was presented and is the purpose. However,
what the timber industry was constantly doing
was trying to get appropriations that would
finance planting, thinning--well, all of the
intensive forestry measures which are used
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technically to justify increases in the present
allowable cut. They're looking for the hasty
liquidation of the present old-growth timber

in the national forests to compensate for the
fact that the private forest land has been
depleted.

Steen: Congress has appropriated substantially less
than a hundred percent of the RPA authorizations
for reforestation and so forth. It's more than
last year, but, as I understand the whole process,
Congress is not living up to, in effect, its
promise that if the Forest Service would come
to it with this long-term projection, Congress
would review it and adopt it, and then the
Forest Service could count on appropriations.

Robinson: Of course, part of our lobbying is to
prevent them from implementing this intensive
forestry until there is a commitment to manage
the forest for multiple use. [Laughs] We want
to support them and we will support them if
they will manage the forests according to the
multiple use law. But they'we made up their
minds they're not going to do it! That's what
the battle's about, you see?

Steen: Okay. I want to talk about the Forest
Management Act, but I guess we should go back
and talk briefly about the National Timber
Supply Act—--they're all tied together.

Robinson: Yes, they are. What happened was that in
1968, before the election, the timber industry
persuaded several committees of Congress to
cooperate in conducting hearings on cost of
lumber and housing. [See Appendix D] I called
McCloskey's and Brock Evans' attention to this,
with the idea that that's where we've got to
fight them--also Phil Berry, who's interested
in forestry.

Steen: Was Brock in Washington in 1968?

Robinson: At that time, he was our representative
in the Pacific Northwest, but he was the most
effective of our field representatives--and
most concerned with timber because the Pacific
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Northwest was where most of the timber is.

At first they were skeptical; they didn't
think that was our battle. Brock agreed with
me, and we persuaded Mike and we persuaded other
members of the board that we really should attend
those hearings and make a presentation. We got
representatives of a variety of conservation
organizations in Washington to work with us.
They were the Trout Unlimited, Audubon Society,
Wilderness Society--oh, there must have been
some others. This is before Friends of the
Earth was organized.

Lloyd Tupling was our Washington represen-
tative at that time. We gathered at his house
at St. Michaels on Chesapeake Bay over a weekend,
and I explained what I foresaw coming out of
this Timber Supply Act, as the thing was written.
I had written something for these people to read
on the subject in advance.

I pointed out, though, that what the industry
was essentially trying to do was to get the
receipts from the sale of timber put into a
revolving fund to be used for accelerating the
sale of old-growth timber out of the national
forests. And it applied to all the commercial
forest land. It was an effort to Jjustify hasily
liquidating the old-growth timber throughout the
national forest system.

Steen: The Forest Service has always been very proud
that it generates income to the treasury.

Robinson: Yes.

Steen: This seems to me act 12 of the same play,
where the Forest Service wanted to show the
people that it wasn't like a lot of other
government agencies that just took from the
people. They brought back money into the
treasury. This idea of generating money from
timber sales to support forest management has
always been very appealing to the Forest
Service.

Robinson: I know.
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Steen: That's probably part of the Timber Supply
Act.

Robinson: Oh, yes, right! We objected to it on
the grounds that it would be 1like financing
them, and have the same pitfalls that result
from financing the freeway builders out of the
gasoline tax--that they'd just go on building
their bureaucracy and cutting more and more
timber in order to get more money in order to
build their bureaucracy. They'd lose track of
their objectives.

We thought there should be more public con-
trol over the management of the national forests
than we would have under those circumstances.
And Congress agreed with us. And that's why it
was defeated.

Steen: It was killed in committee? What actually
happened?

Robinson: We went to Washington, and had this
gathering, you know, and we developed our
arguments about it. I think one of the
principle arguments we used in talking to
Congressmen was that the Forest Service was
so adamantly determined to sell all the timber
of the national forest, in several cases we've
had to sue them!

For example, they put up a timber sale
within the Gore Range Primitive Area in Colorado,
and the local conservationists objected. They
objected years before the sale came up. They
saw it on the long-range sale program.

The Forest Service people just came back
and said, '""Well, we're going to remove that from
the primitive area, when it's classified for
Wilderness." And they had to argue with them
that it's Congress that's going to decide the
wilderness; not you! They didn't agree.

They did change the boundaries of the area
to coincide with the boundary of the primitive
area, but they left the East Meadowcreek sale
in there. They went right ahead and made the
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sale! So we filed suit. We won. I was a
witness in that suit. Judge Doyle said at the
close of the trial, "I understand your concerns.
I realize that you've invested money in this
timber and that you're relying on this for
operating your mill. I understand these things.
But if you're permitted to go ahead and cut that
timber, the opportunity for Congress to consider
this area for wilderness is foreclosed! 1I'11
give you my decision as soon as I can." It was
just marvelous.

But the arrogance of the Forest Service
was just absurd! I remember they had the
regional forester on the witness stand during
that trial. Tony Ruckel was our attorney and
he and the judge got the guy in a cross-fire.
They took turns asking him questions and they
were leading up to the circumstances under which
he would recommend that an area be withheld from
timber sale.

Under the wilderness law, there's a provision

that the president can add up to twelve hundred
acres of contiguous land in a compact unit to
the proposal. So, at one point, the judge asked
the regional forester, if he would withhold a
timber sale in an area that the president asked
to have deleted. ’

Nordwall looked around and said, 'Well, I
suppose that all depends on where it is!" And
the judge just flushed and he looked at the guy
and he wrote notes.

the committees--~-that there was a real opposition
to what the Timber Supply Act stood for.

Robinson: Yes! We had to explain this kind of thing

to congressmen to get them to realize that the
Forest Service had lost their way. They're
absolutely arrogant about what they're going to
do and they were ignoring the other laws and
even the meanings of the laws. So that was the
way we went.

This kind of victory showed people in Congress--
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Steen: What happened to the Timber Supply Act?

Robinson: The industry had been lobbying for that
act for a long time.

Steen: I remember a speech by Spiro Agnew,
supporting clearcutting. I thought it was
incredible that the vice-president of the
United States--out talking to somebody--would
refer to clearcutting as an acceptable silvi-
cultural practice with shade-intolerant species.
Obviously somebody had written those words, and
he was reading them.

Robinson: Oh, yes. The timber industry's lobbying
effort was thorough and complete--they had the
State Department and the Department of Commerce
and it seems to me, everybody on the Cabinet
level was involved in promoting this thing.

The State Department, in order to appease
the Japanese by having exports of logs. They
wanted to increase the amount of timber available
so that wouldn't be a drain on the economy. They
thought they had everybody lined up, and they
thought this thing was a go.

We had our meeting in Washington on a
weekend, and the bill was to come up for a vote
on Tuesday. That gave us just one day--

Steen: In committee--not on the floor--or was it?

Robinson: No, it was to be a floor vote. The
committee had voted it out and they thought
it was going to succeed. It was in the Rules
Committee, and they were going to vote it out.

Who's that Congressman from Ohio--his name
begins with D--he's a forester. Dingle. John
Dingle. He helped us. He gave us a room in the
House Office Building--the headquarters for our
lobbying effort. Brock Evans was directing it
all, and he had a big chart on the wall. He
had the names of all the congressmen and the
rooms they were in--in columns--who was to call
on them and what result they got.
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There were perhaps a dozen of us, from
these various organizations, working on this
thing. We went around and talked to all of
the key people. We tried to meet with all
of them.

Whenever somebody wanted to really get
serious about it, and talk about the details
of what was involved in the thing, they'd send
for me. So I'd go around and talk to the
legislative assistants. You realize that you
rarely get to talk to a congressman. He'll
be pretty pleasant and he'll assure you that
he'll follow the recommendations of his L.A.
having to do with the subject; then he'll
introduce you to this guy, and then you talk
to him.

It turns out that there are a few congress-
men who are particularly interested in this
subject, and everybody knows it. So when it
comes to a vote, they ask this guy, "What's your
recommendation?" I guess we talked to most of
those--one is Hamilton Fish, who is very much
interested in conservation.

It seemed that some congressman died and
so they decided to--in memory of this guy--to
have no session on Tuesday, so we met Wednesday
instead. That gave us another day to do our
work-—-so we had two days instead of one, as we
thought. Good thing we did. That's the way
it went. So then we all went into the balcony
of the House to see the action on the floor.

We were sitting in the balcony, and these
people all came in. It seems there is something
they call a cloak tally--I'm not sure that's
the right word--there's some guy at each door
and he asks each congressman as he comes in how
he's going to vote on the issue. Then they put
all this together and they give this to the
leader.

He discovered that the majority was opposed
to the bill. This was a shock--they thought
they had it in the bag. We could see that Carl
Albert was called down from the podium, and
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somebody handed him a piece of paper and they
went buzz, buzz, buzz. They went out of the
room with it and came back, and then everybody
started going out. What the hell happened?

Steen: They withdrew the bill, in effect, rather
than take it to a vote.

Robinson: They withdrew the bill! Because they saw
they couldn't win. Then we all went home.

Steen: Who was handling the strategy for the bill?
Robinson: I think it was Saylor. John Saylor.
Steen: This was about 1969 or 1970--

Robinson: This was '69. The bill was called up
again two weeks later. At that time they voted
on it and the vote was overwhelmingly in favor
of rejection. The Timber Supply Bill was
defeated.

It was kind of interesting. In that two-
week period I put together a brochure showing
what this allowable cut effect amounts to, with
photographs. I had I guess a. thousand of them
printed and got them done just in time to tie
a string on them and haul them down to the
airport and fly them to Washington for this
second vote on the bill.*

Again, we had only a day or so to prepare.
We were in that room again that Dingle gave us,
wondering how we were going to distribute these
things, because to visit 500 offices is quite
a chore.

Just at that time, some young man from one
of the universities in the East stuck his head
in the door and said, '"John Dingle sent us up
here. I have a group of law students who want
to know something about how Congress works.

*This Is What We Stand to Lose, San Francisco: Sierra
Club, 1970. 4 pp.
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Have you got a job we could do?" We said, '"Do
you suppose you could distribute these things?"
[Laughs] The guy says, '"'Sure, we can do that."
They planned a strategy to distribute those
things, and by noon, every congressman had one
in his fist. [Claps hands together and laughs]
That was just marvelous.

Steen: It's these little acts of history that make
things work.

Robinson: Right. I don't know that that changed
the vote, but it was delightful to have that
happen. It was so nice.

Steen: Let's go back. There was a bunch of bills
that led to the Forest Management Act--the
Randolph Bill and the Humphrey Bill, and so
forth. What sort of to-ing and fro-ing and
negotiating went on there? Did you really feel
that the Randolph Bill had any chance, or was
that just a stalking horse?

Robinson: I thought it should have a chance, but
Randolph introduced it at the beginning of the
debate instead of trying to hang on to the
Organic Act. That shocked me.

Steen: You felt it should be used as a compromise.

Robinson: That's right! I helped draft it with the
understanding that it was a compromise to be
used only in the event there's no other way to
go. But they started in with it, so that in
turn was compromised, and so the Forest Manage-
ment Act was enacted and that was the defeat.

I think the Forest Management Act did for
conservation policy what the Tonkin Gulf
Resolution did for foreign policy.

Steen: That's a very strong statement.

Robinson: Yes--but Congress simply abdicated their
responsibility with regard to the forest lands
to the administration. That's what that bill
does.
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Steen: We've lived with the law for a couple of
years now, and obviously it's being implemented
a piece at a time. Some things won't be
implemented for quite awhile yet. Luke Popovich
had an essay in the Journal of Forestry about
the committee of scientists. There are no
conclusions, just the process and the debates
within the group, and how they interacted with
the Forest Service and others.

Robinson: They have not done their job. [See
Appendix E] They were supposed, under the
Forest Management Act, to advise the Forest
Service on scientific and technical matters to
be sure that there is an effective inter-
disciplinary approach to responding to a long
list of concerns about environmental matters--
soil erosion, and maintaining the diversity of
species, and protecting endangered species and
wildlife, and the whole gamut of things that
concern us. They didn't do any of that at all!

All they did was to paraphrase the law with
respect to the kinds of things that the Forest
Service is to be concerned with. Then they
described how allowable cuts are to be deter-
mined, and they did it in such a way that the
allowable cut will be the absolute maximum that
can be justified under the very minimum standards
of the sustained yield.

The way they've drawn it up, they say that
the allowable cut must be determined on the
basis of the utilization standards forty years
hence. That means cubic feet of the total tree,
doesn't it?

Steen: Yes.

Robinson: All right. If you determine the point
of diminishing returns or the culmination of
mean annual increment, for any species, using
total volume of trees one inch in diameter and
over, you get rotations in the neighborhood of
25 to 40 years. It's 40 years typically in
Douglas fir and 25 in the southern pine and
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about 40 for ponderosa pine of an average size,
and so on.

Now, the way you determine an allowable cut
is to take the total volume of timber you have,
divided by the rotation, and that gives you your
cut. It's then modified to reflect growth and
factors that would influence it, but all the
factors are relatively minor compared to that.
It's the total volume divided by the rotation,
so the shorter the rotation, the more rapidly
you can rip off the forest.

Then they describe departures from sustained
yield that are authorized, and it says that they
must consider and formulate plans for departing
from the sustained yield whenever sticking with
the sustained yield would work a hardship on the
economy of the local community.

We all know that throughout the western
states, mills are running out of timber because
they're cutting all they've got. They can put
up the argument that they're in a hardship now
and so are justified in cutting more rapidly
than the sustained yield, in order to compensate
for the failure--for the fact that there isn't
sufficient private timber.

The argument they put up back in '68--during
- the hearings on lumber prices--was that we should
increase the rate of sale of timber on the national
forests in order to keep the industry going at its
present level, or to meet the demand, while the
trees on the private lands grow up to sufficient
size to be merchantable.

Steen: A concept of sustained yield in effect, using
private and public lands alternatively.

Robinson: Yes, but with no obligation on the part of
the private land owners to practice forestry! It's
a one-sided bargain. The government agrees to fill
the gap with publicly owned timber on the theory
that the profit motive is sufficient to get these
guys to do likewise on their own land. But all
they're doing is selling the stuff off to sub-
divisions!
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Steen: If there were some legislative requirement
that private industry practice forestry in
certain ways, would you have supported this
concept of filling this gap with public timber
to maintain industry?

Robinson: No, I wouldn't.

Steen: This concept, I believe, is being proposed
for western Oregon.

Robinson: I think that the owner must be required,
because it takes longer to grow trees than
people can wait for a return on investment.
That is, if your objective is to maximize
income, which, when you have corporate enter-
prise, that is the objective.

That's basically what's wrong with the
economy of our nation today. Everybody's
trying to maximize income instead of being
satisfied with a modest income and being
concerned with the welfare of the country
and their neighbor.

So long as that's the way corporate
enterprise is structured, then there is no
bargain. As they develop a technology or
develop a way of making more money from the
land than they can by growing timber, that's
what they'll do!

Steen: There was another law that went through
almost without comment in 1976, the so-called
BLM Organic Act. Are you familiar with that?

Robinson: Yes, I am. I think that was a disaster,
and I thought we should be fighting it, and
they didn't do it.

Steen: There wasn't much information, pro or con.
I don't know why.

Robinson: I was aware of it, but I couldn't get
our representatives--

Steen: It strikes me as a hodge-podge of things.
The definition of multiple use in that law



125

is much more comprehensive and complex than it
is in the Forest Service version. For whatever
reason.

I don't know who supported that idea of
greater legislative attention to the specifics
of multiple use rather than a philosophy that
the Forest Service has.

Robinson: 1I've forgotten just what it said, but I
know the objective of the lobbyists on the part
of the timber industry was to make sure that the
definition of multiple use was not ambiguous--
that it could not be interpreted as I interpret
the definition in the Multiple Use-Sustained
Yield Law to mean integrated multiple uses.

You see, the Public Land Law Review
Commission came out with their report--One Third
of the Nation's Land, in which they stated that
there should be legislation--there should be an
act of Congress—-—-interpreting multiple use to
mean zoning and dominant use by zone as they in-
terpret it, in order to avoid the kind of thing
I tried to bring about through our Texas suit.

But that still isn't resolved! They
haven't got that law. They tried to get it
through the Organic Act of BLM, yes.

Also, there's a proposal to do the same
thing with regard to the lands in the wildlife
refuges. That's why we're fighting them in
Florida on that one.

Steen: The last time we talked--and this was six
months ago--you had been down on those refuges,
and they were clearcutting?

Robinson: Yes! They made tree farms out of the
forest lands in the wildlife refuges.

Steen: I was asking if you had any knowledge at
the time that the authorization that the
Wildlife Service was using to do this. Was
this habitat improvement?
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Robinson: They had no authorization. It's just an
administrative decision on their part. What
they have done is to justify all the things
they want to do in terms of habitat requirements
for some wildlife on each refuge. Their program
is identical with the program in the national
forest, but the language they use to describe
it and justify it is in--

Steen: It's strictly an administrative ruling?

Robinson: It's similar to what the Forest Service
does, but it's Jjust they talk more about wild-
life because it's a wildlife refuge. It amounts
to exactly the same thing as in the national
forest. |

This again is implementing what was proposed
by Aspinal's committee in the Public Land Law
Review Commission. They want to gather all of
the publicly owned forest lands and make them
into tree farms.

Steen: Is there more that you want to say about the
Forest Management Act?

Robinson: Oh! There is something more about the
Forest Management Act, I'd like to say. You
know, that act is ambiguous, again, as to the
meaning of multiple use. I think we have very
good grounds to force the Forest Service to
return to multiple use under that law.

It states, I believe six times, with respect
to various aspects of management in the national
forest, that it has to be done within the con-
straints of the Multiple Use ~ Sustained Yield
Law. Owing to the fact that the Public Land
Law Review Commission recommended that Congress
enact a law defining multiple use to mean zoning
and dominant use instead of as they interpret it,
it means that without that legislation, it doesn't
mean that. Therefore, it means what we think
it means.

It also means what Congress meant when they
passed the Organic Act of 1897. It means what
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the Forest Service said it meant for fifty
years—-that they were managing the forest under
that act! I think we still have a chance of
reversing that.

Steen: It's interesting. I guess that the battle
keeps going on and the tide of victory ebbs and
flows for whatever side you're on.

Robinson: But meantime the timber's being ripped
off! That's the thing, you see. Part of the
strategy of the timber industry is to just keep
the ball rolling, because as long as this thing
isn't finally settled--as long as the Forest
Service continues to sell more timber than can
be sustained, why, that's really all they care
about.

Steen: The Redwood Park, I guess, was a defeat for
the forest industries. 1It's such a complex,
long-term issue that I don't know how we should
discuss it, so why don't you start with your
involvement in it?

Robinson: All right. When I went to work for the
club in 1966, Bob Golden asked me if I wanted
to work for Ed Wayburn or for Dave Brower. He
told me, incidentally, that Brower had said I
was the only forester he would trust. I was
astonished, because I had never met Brower.

I don't know how he ever heard of me.

Anyhow, that was a factor. I had never
heard of Ed Wayburn. I didn't know who he was.
They said, well, he's the president of the
club--or he's a board member--and he's the
chairman of the Redwoods Task Force, and he's
trying to get a redwood park. So I thought,

"I guess I'd better work with Wayburn because
getting the redwood park will employ the skills
that I'm sharp on right now, having worked with
the S.P. all these years.

So we met Ed Wayburn, and the first thing
they wanted me to determine was whether the
timber industry was practicing sustained yield
like they said, and if the park would destroy
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their sustained yield plans, or whether they're
Jjust cutting with the idea of going out of
business-~-the way the industry's always done

in the past.

I went to Eureka. It turned out that a
friend of mine by the name of Guy Konnersman
was the forester for the assessor. He co-
operated with me to the extent that he could
without violating confidences. But you see,

I had represented the Southern Pacific Company
and had gone with our tax representative to
meet the county assessors each year in some
thirteen counties that the S.P. Land Company
owns timberland in.

So I knew what the assessment process 1is
and how it works. I was able to work back from
the assessed value of the land owned by these
companies, and with some of the information that
Guy Konnersman gave me as to the values that
they used, which is public information, I could
readily determine what volume of timber the
assessor thought was on those lands.

And the assessor based his assessment on a
county cruise. It was done by Hammon, Jensen,
and Wallen just a few years before. I remembered
that there was some controversy about the cruise.
The timber industry thought that if they're going
to get a full accurate cruise, they ought to get
a change in the tax law,

I found that they had like twelve years to
go and twenty years to go, and things like that.
They're not practicing sustained yield. [Laughs]
I estimated how many years they had to go with
the park as proposed, and how many years to go
without it, and what volume of timber they had,
and put this together in a report.

Mike McCloskey took it to Washington. He'd
simply attached the statement that I wrote [See
Appendix F] to the presentation that he made for
the committee-—-the Interior Committee hearing--
on the redwood park.
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At the time, I was with Ed Z'burg's
committee on a tour concerning forest practices
in Northern California. A lot of people had
been complaining about the failure of the Forest
Practice Act to protect forest lands, and he
wanted to know what this was all about, so we
stopped at Benbow Inn, and we had a meeting
there.

It was interesting. Paul Zinke was defend-
ing the timber industry's clearcutting on the
grounds that it was not causing this soil
erosion and was not going to reduce [laughs]
the growing capacity of the land. God Almighty!
Those people are terrible.

Steen: He's a professor at Berkeley?

Robinson: Professor of forest influences. The next

morning, I came down to the lobby of the hotel
for breakfast, and here was Gene Hofsted, red
as a beet and ready to tear me all apart, limb
by limb [laughs]--he had just flown back from
Washington, where he'd heard Mike McCloskey
present this testimony that I'd gathered--

Steen: Who's Gene Hofsted?

Robinson: He's forester for Arcata National. He

accused me of getting secret information--
confidential information--from the assessor,
and he was going to have me kicked out of the
Society of American Foresters for unethical
conduct.

A1l I could say was, '"Gee, I must have
come pretty close!" [Laughs] Well, that's
the way it went.

Steen: I remember that épisode about the SAF. 1

don't know how far it got, but there was some
discussion that you were violating the SAF
code of conduct.

Robinson: It was because they thought I had stolen

this information and I didn't. It was simply
worked back from the assessor's record. [Laughs]
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As far as ethics is concerned, my wife
thinks that--and I think that she's quite right--
professional ethics means you scratch my back and
I'll scratch yours; my profession right or wrong.

In addition to that, I showed that the
volume of timber in the proposed park was equal
to the amount of timber cut in Humboldt and Del
Norte counties in about two years. So that if
they are practicing sustained yield, as they
say they are in the county--then the loss of
this timber would be no more than the error of
estimate of the quantity that could be cut under
sustained yield. [See Appendix K]

If you have a hundred-year rotation and you
lose a two-year supply, you can't even come that
close in estimating how much you've got. So I
thought it was inconsequential in terms of its
impact on the economy. That's still true.

I also pointed out that the timber industry
had only about fifteen years to go in Humboldt
County before they're reduced to the sustained
yield capacity of the national forests plus
whatever pulp they can get out of the young
second-growth stands. .

Steen: Did they specifically challenge these
estimates of yours?

Robinson: ©No, they never did. The only challenge
to those figures was that I had confused Korbel
with Klamath; I said something about Simpson's
Mill at Korbel--actually it was the one at
Klamath. So they made a big fuss over that--how
careless I was and misleading the public.
[Laughs] That's the only fault they found in it.

No, I have never been challenged directly
on anything that I have done for the Club,
except that one point, that I can recall. That
makes me think I've been too conservative.

Steen: Were you involved at all at the apparent
conflict--at least in strategy—--between Save
the Redwoods League and the Sierra Club?
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Robinson: Yes! Yes.

Steen: Which I guess was a little bitter at times.
Robinson: Yes.

Steen: They have sort of kissed and made up now, but--

Robinson: What happened--you know, in 1964, the
National Geographic Society gave $50,000 to the
Department of the Interior to conduct a study
for determining where we might locate a redwood
national park.

One of the purposes of the Save the Redwoods
League when it was founded, back in 1917, was
to promote a redwood national park, and they
never did anything about it. They formed a
detente with the timber industry, whereby the
industry would set aside certain lands that the
Park Service wanted for the state parks, and
strips along the highways. They agreed to with-
hold it from sale until such time as it would
be mutually convenient to sell it.

The Save the Redwoods League lobbied the
state to get matching funds, and that sort of
thing. So that's how they were rounding out
the parks.

The thing is that nothing had been done
about a redwood national park, and time was
running out, so they wanted this study. I don't
know who promoted that, but that's where they
went. So they came out with a brochure recommend-
ing a redwood national park in Redwood Creek,
plus the stuff in Mill Creek in Del Norte County.

There was a bunch of land around there in
Mill Creek, which would be a logical extension
of the Jedediah Smith State Park. The idea
was to appropriate money to purchase that land
as an addition to Jedediah Smith State Park,
which would remain under state jurisdiction.

But Prairie Creek State Park would become
part of the redwood national park. The timber



132

industry flew into a rage at the announcement
of this proposal, and it appears that they
caucused and decided to throw their little
brother to the wolves because, you see, the
Redwood Creek area was owned by three national
corporations—-Simpson Timber Company, Georgia
Pacific, which is now Louisiana Pacific, and
Arcata National, which is a Weyerhaueser
interest. It isn't part of the Weyerhaueser
Company, but the chairman of the board of
directors is C. Davis Weyerhaueser, who's of
the family.

But the owners of the private land in
Del Norte County was Miller-Rellim, a relatively
small local outfit. So they decided to throw
him to the wolves, you see. They talked Newton
Drury into supporting the redwood national park
in Mill Creek, and dropping the Redwood Creek
area.

Ed Wayburn was furious about this!
He thought that we should support the Park
Service's recommendation. The board of directors
of the Sierra Club agreed with him, and we went
to bat for the Park Service. Meanwhile, a few
members—--I guess Dick Leonard, who was also a
member of the board of directors of Save the
Redwoods League, broke with us on that, and he
insisted that was an error.

There was no open rebellion by anybody--
he was loyal to the club but he thought that
we should support Newton Drury. But we didn't
do it simply because we thought that Newton
Drury had been sucked in by the timber industry
and was making a mistake. While we regretted
it and had great respect for him--still do--
we just thought the greater park was important.

I said "we''--1 was more or less impartial
in the thing, personally.

Steen: Were you involved in the basic strategies
or only as a forestry consultant on sustained
yield?

Robinson: I was Jjust a forestry consultant.
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Steen: But you must have sat in on some of the
sessions.

Robinson: Oh, yes, sure. I certainly supported
the proposal. I wanted both for parks. I
couldn't see why we couldn't do both--and I
think we could have if it hadn't been for the
Vietnam War and Johnson, who tried to have guns
and butter at the same time. He began trying
to reduce the federal expenditures to a bare
minimum.

Steen: Were there other conservation problem areas
that were neglected because the Sierra Club was
focusing on redwood park? We've talked about
this before--how the Sierra Club determined its
target problem and how you're assigned.

Obviously a lot of energy went into the
park battle, at the expense of other things
that would have ordinarily received attention,
had you not been working on the redwoods.

Robinson: Part of the Sierra Club's strategy is to
put a high priority on issues that have wide
popular appeal, in order to attract members and
to strengthen the club for taking care of these
other projects. '

Let me come back to what might have been
neglected. You see, most of the work of the
club is done by the groups and the chapters
and the volunteers. We at the headquarters
only do those things which the local people
are unable to do for themselves.

We don't even know what they're all doing.
There are just too many things going on. No
one person knows all the projects that the club
is working on. We just coordinate as to policy
and purpose and then it's every man for himself.

We fight like the Indians did during the
Revolution, I guess. Much to the consternation
of our opponents. They're never going to find
out who to talk to. [Laughter] .
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Steen: I don't know if the redwood park controversy
is in two pieces: the original park and the
recent additions. Is it all one struggle?

Robinson: I think it's all one struggle. Ed Wayburn

has been the principal strategist in this thing.
He's really been magnificent. He has more to
his credit than any living conservationist, I
think, in terms of areas preserved.

I would have dropped it myself. I didn't
think that expanding the park would be worth
the struggle. But they got me involved, and I
went up and looked at it and found that there
was more there than I thought there was. I
thought they'd cut most of it, from flying over
it, you know.

Well, they had just completely wiped out
that whole east slope of redwood trees that
belonged to Arcata National--there's hardly
anything left. That, to me, was the important
thing to try to get in the park, because that
was an example of the transition from the open
grasslands and prairies through Douglas fir and
occasional redwood, down to redwood forest.

Steen: There was quite a controversy over the widen-
ing of Highway 101 in the early sixties. I was
in Seattle at the time; I'd never seen the
redwoods and I couldn't understand what the
problem was. I didn't realize how rugged the
terrain was—--a full bench cut for a four lane
highway is a big cut.

Robinson: That cut that they made in Humboldt Redwood
State Park, I understand, is the highest highway
cut in the world; 800 feet or something like
that? Absolute trench right in the middle of
that park! That pissed off the Rockefellers to
where they put out plenty for this conservation
battle.

As a matter of fact, it was that and the
fact that the Save the Redwoods League didn't
have money enough to acquire Cuneo Creek and
all that. The timber industry logged that in
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spite of the protest of Save the Redwoods League,
and this led to a flood that wiped out something
like 20 percent of the trees that the Rockefellers
had bought and donated to that park. That's why
that young Rockefeller worked so hard on that
lawsuit in West Virginia. He puts up a lot of
money for conservation for that reason.

I'm not supposed to make this sort of thing
public, I guess, but [laughs]--

Steen: You can pull any of that out that you feel
shouldn't be released, when you go over the
transcript.

Robinson: I'm of the opinion that there shouldn't
be secrets.

Steen: I agree. Some people are awfully nervous.
I suppose if you have a lot of money or whatever,
you worry about being sued. Ordinary folks don't
worry about that because try your darnedest,
you're not going to get very much. We, in our
oral history program, run into a lot of sensitivity.

Robinson: I know you do. You told me that before--
but I don't believe in secrets.

Steen: Getting back to the park, is there any
philosophical substance to the anti-park
argument about property rights? They bought
the land--they went through some legal process
and they pay taxes on it. They have to in-
voluntarily give it up, even though they're
being compensated for it--apparently at fair
market value.

Is there some philosophical objection to
what happened in the taking of the land, to use
the rhetoric of the anti-park forces--and where
do you draw the line in a democracy in this
whole issue? Are the redwoods themselves
important enough to establish a precedent--
taking land for recreation--or was it a
precedent?

Robinson: I don't think it was a precedent and I
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don't think there's anything wrong with it. I
think philosophically the error was made long
ago, when we carried the free enterprise system
altogether too far.

I don't believe people should have the
right to do whatever they please with their
land. I don't believe people have the right
to destroy land the way that they do in the
logging up there. I don't think anyone should
be permitted to do that.

I don't understand how it is people can
take money from the state to get an education
in forestry and then make a career of destroying
the very forest land that they've been taught
how to manage. I'm incensed at the whole
profession.

Steen: Almost all of the national parks have been
reserved from public lands.

Robinson: Until with the Pt. Reyes National Seashore
and the Redwood Park.

Steen: Right--this was one of the arguments that
was advanced: that this is a very dangerous
precedent. But you obviously don't accept this.

Robinson: I don't accept that, no. Philosophically,
I think that in a democracy we have the right
to change the rules, and--

Steen: Can we make an analogy that we Americans
would be incensed if the Egyptians were to
grind up the pyramids for chicken grit or
something, saying that they owned the pyramids.
We would say they belong to all of mankind.

Are the redwoods analogous in that sense--

Robinson: Indeed they are.
Steen: --that they belong to the world and not to
California or the Forest Service or the Park

Service, is that--?

Robinson: 1 agree, yes.
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Steen: Because they are so unique that there is that
justification to do that.

Robinson: I don't think we even need that justifi-
cation. I think that's exactly right. I think
that's clear.

Steen: That's kind of the feeling I have about the
redwoods. I wouldn't favor the same kind of
strategy, say, for a stand of lodgepole pine
in Montana. To me the redwoods are that unique--
there's so few of them left in such a small
geographic area.

Anyway, this is your interview; not mine.
However, I was just wondering about the arguments
that various sides put up--jobs versus recreation
and all of the other issues. Which ones are
legitimate?

Robinson: The least impressive argument is the private
property one. It's been established, I think,
throughout our history, that we can acquire
private property for public use, providing there's
just remuneration.

As a matter of fact, I think that people
get paid altogether too much in their just
compensation. I thought we ought to sue the
Department of Justice or at least intervene in
the settlement of the case in the first redwood
park bill.

Steen: This was one of the arguments used against
expansion~--this was the most expensive park in
history and had the least use, and so the dollar
bper user was not justified.

Robinson: I believe there was dishonesty in the
settlement of that.

Steen: Are you satisfied now with the basic geometry
of the park, or do you think it needs to be
enlarged in certain watersheds, and is it worth
going after still more? You said you were
surprised Wayburn continued on.

Robinson: Yes.
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Steen: You wouldn't have, would you? Are there
more battles to be fought up there?

Robinson: Yes, there aré.

Steen: It's not over then.

Robinson: No, it's not over. [Laughs]

Steen: Do you want to talk about the park?
Specifically your role in it? I think there's

probably enough documentation eventually to
write a full history of the controversy.

Robinson: Oh, yes. You asked me for my comments
on some of the other arguments against the
park, 1like jobs. I think that the arguments
about that are almost totally false. I think
that the timber industry has no concern whatso-
ever for the long-range employment of their
personnel., As soon as they've cut the timber
that's left, they'll fire them, and that'll be
the end of it. They've always done that.

They put up that argument merely to get as
much popular support as they could for opposing
the park. But I don't think they really opposed
the expansion.

I went to Washington as spokesman for the
Sierra Club on the first hearings we had on
this bill to expand the park. That was in
March last year, I guess. It was a hearing
conducted by Phillip Burton. I saw John Miles,
who was the forester for the industry.

All these foresters for the timber industry
were there making their arguments. They were
all so pleased to see me and cordial--you
wouldn't believe it! Shake hands all around
and happy and stuff. Well, in the past, those
people have acted like they hated my guts, and
I wondered what the hell was going on. They
certainly don't object to this park expansion.
They're not emotionally [laughs] objecting to
it anyway, or they wouldn't have been so
pleasant to me.
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I figured right then that we were going
to get the park expansion and their opposition
is merely bargaining to get as much money as
they can. I think that's exactly what happened.
I think that when Tip O'Neil withdrew the thing
for postponing the vote on the bill last fall
til early this year, he was doing that only at
the request of the timber industry to give them
time to contrive some transactions that would
be used for establishing high prices.

Right now, there's another battle shaping
up over the wvalues.

Steen: I don't know when the actual price will be
determined, but by the press release Arcata
National sent out, they got their first $60
million payment. I guess that was to get the
ball rolling—-but the total amount is still--

Robinson: Oh, they filed suit against--I don't know
who they sued--but they filed suit the day
after the bill was signed--all three of those
companies did--on the grounds that Congress
didn't appropriate enough money.

Steen: It's fascinating when experts disagree with
experts. For example, the erosion controversy
and whether or not logging causes erosion--
soil scientists claim it does and soil scientists
claim it doesn’'t.

Robinson: The truth of the matter is clear. [See
Appendix G] The soil scientists who were saying
it doesn't cause damage were faking it. Those
are just paid liars. I know that. If you know
Janda-—-~

Steen: No, I don't. I don't know any of the cast
of characters.

Robinson: I see. Well, Dick Janda works for the
Department of the Interior, the Geological
Survey, in Menlo Park. He's been conducting
studies up there for the Park Service for a
number of years. He's objective and honest,
and, as a matter of fact, he's conservative.
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He's taken me down personally a number of times
for being an extremist in the positions that

I've taken. I don't know why--I can't understand
it.

He's afraid of losing his job, too. He
was a witness in our lawsuit, you know, to try
to stop the logging in there. We sued the Park
Service for failure to implement that provision
that gave them the authority to regulate logging
on the private lands. He was a witness for the
Park Service.

Our attorneys had talked to him, and he
said some very good things privately, but then
when he got on the witness stand, he contradicted
himself. So that tells you that the man's
objective as he knows how to be and is afraid
of telling the truth, and still, he totally
destroys the evidence that is presented by the
people hired by industry. I think that that
shows you where the truth is.

Steen: Let's talk about the Forest Practice Act.
It's interesting in its own right but is
certainly related to the need for a park or
no-need for a park. One of the arguments
against the park is that most of the good
redwoods are already in state parks, and we
have the California Forest Practice Act that
protects the integrity of the redwood ecosystem.
You don't agree with that, I'm sure.

Robinson: Oh, no! Would you like to know my role
in the Forest Practice Act? One of the first
things I did for the Sierra Club after starting
to work with them was to comment on the Forest
Practice Act for Ed Z'berg's committee and the
hearing they had in Giannini Hall in Berkeley.
This must have been about 1967.

I simply said that we've had this Forest
Practice Act now for twenty-five years and I
think that we can declare it a total failure,
and explained my reasons. It was a brief
statement. This made the press.
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The president of International Paper
Company called the president of Southern
Pacific Company, Mr. D. J. Russell, and said,
"Can't you shut him up?!'" [Laughs] And Mr.
Russell says, ""Well, we couldn't shut him up
when he worked for us. What the hell do you
expect us to do about it now?!" They had fired
me, you Know.

Steen: Yes.

Robinson: I'd fought that Forest Practice Act from
the time they'd adopted the thing, from the
Southern Pacific's point of view. That's
nothing new.

Sometime later Z'berg had a field trip.
That's the one in which Hofsted accosted me in
the Benbow Inn. On that field trip, we went
up and looked at some atrocious logging along
the coast. John Callaghan was tagging along,
trying to convince Z'berg of the adequacy of
the present rules in the Forest Practice Act.

We were -in a canyon--I1've forgotten where
it was now, but there was this steep slope.
Some guy had gone on with a tractor, used a
bulldozer blade, and made horizontal paths about
every fifty feet all the way up this thing.
Then when it rained, it all came down to the
creek. One of the guys--1 guess he's the
director of the Fish and Game Department--was
in there too, and he was pointing to Ed how all
this had resulted in silting the stream and
destroying the salmon spawning beds.

Ed turns to somebody and says, ''Well, why
in the hell don't we have rules that would
prevent this kind of thing?" And Callaghan
says, "We have to have rules that the logger
can understand."

Then I said, '""Well, then, why don't we have
rules that the foresters can understand--and
license the foresters and forbid logging except
under the supervision of a licensed forester?"
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That became the basic policy, I guess,
or objective in the new Forest Practice Act.
Ed tried to get a new law passed and couldn't
get it out of committee--anyhow, it was
dropped for several years. Then the Bayside
Timber case came up, you know, in San Mateo
County.

Steen: Were you involved in that in any way?

Robinson: Yes. I came down and represented the
Sierra Club before the county board of super-
visors, and I did several things. I've
forgotten now just what they all were, but I
worked with the attorney on the case, too.
The principal person, though, was Leonard
Theiss.

Steen: I know. He works with the CDF up at Felton
now.

Robinson: Yes. My participation in that was
peripheral. Anyhow, when the Forest Practice
Act was declared unconstitutional, then of
course we needed a new law,.

They had hearings and I presented an
outline of what I thought the law should be.
[See Appendix H] It was an expansion of that
idea--licensing foresters--forbidding logging
except under the supervision of one who was
licensed, and tax reform to make good forestry
possible. Then some basic requirements con-
cerning forest practices.

Steen: I remember the earlier drafts. It was very
stiff on the licensed forester. If he screws
up, he would automatically lose his license.

Robinson: That was the purpose.
Steen: But that got softened.

Robinson: That's right. The timber industry got
to Nejedly, who was a Republican and represented
real estate people. He was the head of the
Resources Committee in the Senate. He took
industry's position right down the line.
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Ed Z'berg was also strong. He and Charles
Warren in the Assembly fought it out, and we
lost some important measures in that bill.

Steen: 1 was disappointed that the SAF didn't fight
harder for giving the full responsibility to
the professional forester. I can understand
why industry would have opposed that. Any
corporation, I guess, would oppose having this
autonomous profession, as it were, running
its show for them, but I thought SAF missed
its chance.

Robinson: It did. The reason they did it was
that the foresters working for the State
Division of Forestry did not want to have the
responsibility. For a long time they have
seen themselves as cops. They want to have
very clear instructions. They want to be able
to say this guy's in violation or he's not in
violation on the basis of some very measurable
objective, so that their judgment is not at
stake--so that they themselves are free of
responsibility.

I blame them. But this has been their
attitude toward rules ever since the Forest
Practice Act was adopted in 1945.

Steen: Maybe in a large agency, it has to be that
way.

Robinson: No, I don't think it does. I think this
is the result of lobbying on the part of the
timber industry. I think these people were
simply frightened by industry into thinking
that they themselves would be in difficulty
and their lives would be miserable unless that's
the way the rules are.

Steen: ‘I was on a committee here where we drafted
a revision to the county ordinance--which is
authorized by the state--but which has to be
equal to or stronger than the Forest Practice
Act. We tried to give the county forester
discretion—--not just to go out and count stumps
and measure a hundred feet from a stream and
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so forth. But CDF was always a thorn in our
side on this matter of discretion. Their inter-
pretation was that it weakened the law if a
forester received discretion. 1It's discouraging
to me just from the standpoint of the philosophy
of what a professional's supposed to do.

Robinson: That's right.

Steen: To use your best judgment, based upon some
technical skills and information.

Robinson: That's correct. That's correct. I think
we still have to work on that. I have said for
years that what we need to do is to develop a
clear separation of responsibility between the
forester and the businessman.

I'm willing to see the businessman make
all the money he can from the timber the forester
makes available, but I would deny the businessman
the right to order the forester around. I think
the forester should be free to practice his
profession as the medical people are.

You can see what the medical profession
woyld be if the doctors were all employees of
hospitals and drug companies. Can't you hear
them just say, '"Well, sure, I know what good
medical practice is, but how the hell do you
expect me to do it?" That's exactly what it
would be.

What I tried to bring about in my efforts
on this Forest Practice Bill was that very
thing, and Ed Z'berg saw it and tried to bring
it about, but he couldn't do it.

Steen: It's in there, but it's pretty watered down.

Robinson: Yes. But we have a chance yet. You see,
I was assured by our attorneys, who were advising
us in this process, that if the purpose of the
law was clear and was related to public interest
in the land, that anything that followed in the
- bill that's inconsistent with the purpose would
lose in court, because what the court looks at
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is the purpose rather than the details for
accomplishing that purpose.

So I concentrated my effort--my lobbying
effort--in getting a clear statement of objectives
in the purpose. If you read the purpose, you'll
see it's good. That's how we got around or hoped,
in the long run, to overcome Nejedly's opposition
to our objectives. We may win yet on that.

Nobody's gone to court on it for two
reasons: One is as long as the timber industry's
still strong in the legislature to overcome it,-
we don't want to press it.

Steen: You get the same licensing flier from
Sacramento that I do, and every now and then,
there's three or four foresters lose their
license, because they have falsified some
document--

Robinson: I hadn't noticed that.

Steen: 1It's based upon gross negligence, which is
still under definition. They are actually
rescinding licenses of certain foresters. Some
of them are contested and some are not contested.

It's not as strong as was the language in
the original bill, but at least the licensing
operation is providing some pressure. You make
out a timber harvest plan, and the hillside
slides into the creek, you might lose your
license.

Robinson: That's what we were after, but I didn't
know that was happening. Well, that's good.

Steen: Maybe it's enough--I don't know. It's hard
to say.

Robinson: That got by me--I didn't know that.

You asked me what was lost by concentrating
on the redwood park. I've mentioned one thing.
But another thing that was lost was that every
damned time there were hot issues in Washington
that took my attention, along, at the same time,



146

came these things that are urgently important
in California, and I couldn't be two places at
once. I did not devote as much attention to
the state legislature as I thought I should.
That's what was lost.

But you couldn't do both! I did think that
if we could bring about a really strong and
adequate Forest Practice Act in California, that
it could set an example for the rest of the
nation. :

Steen: That's a question I was leading up to: How
does the Sierra Club Jjustify, as a national
organization, concentrating on California?
Mineral King, Redwood Park-~there are issues
in Minnesota, in Florida, and so on and so
forth. 1Is it still predominantly a California-
oriented organization because of its membership,
and only national on certain issues?

Robinson: No, I wouldn't say that. I think that
it's much more national than it used to be--
much more.

Steen: And by using the ¥orest Practice Act as an
example for the nation, it can be Justified as
a national effort, really.

Robinson: Yes, oh, yes. Following those hearings
on clearcutting that Senator Church had, which
I had a role in, too. [See Appendix I]

Steen: Okay, we can come to that, but let's finish
the Forest Practice Act.

Robinson: Well, it fits in with this. I helped in
the drafting of that Metcalf Bill, which would
have required multiple use forestry, as I see
it, on the national forest and on the private
lands, too. That never got out of committee,
but that was a good bill. It was a bill to
regulate forestry throughout the country.

This was our response to the Timber Supply
Bill, you see. Somebody--I guess it was Chuck
Stoddard, who's now president of the Wilderness
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Society and formerly was the director of BLM,
he's a friend of mine, suggested that the best
strategy for fighting that timber supply bill
was to come up with a bill of our own. That
was a bill that would have nationally required
the states to license foresters and carry out
this thing, like I said, in California. That
never got out of committee.

When the Forest Practice Act was repealed
in California, then what we attempted to do
was to implement in California what would have
been required under federal law if that bill
had passed. That's the substance of it and
that's how they relate.

Steen: You're very supportive of the concept of
professional foresters. Maybe you don't have
much to do with SAF because it doesn't police
its membership or whatever, but the forester
is definitely a valuable member of our society
and has a service to offer.

Robinson: Yes--if they can free themselves from
this concept of being employees or servants of
the owners--that we must do. Let me say this,
though. You know Z'berg reasoned that that
whole thing couldn't be in one bill, because
it would have to go before three different
committees, any one of which could shoot it
down. So he carved it into three bills: one
was licensing, one was forest practices, and
then there was a tax reform bill. So we now
have all three.

The Sierra Club supported the licensing
bill. As a matter of fact, the Sierra Club and
the Society of American Foresters wrote a joint
letter in support of that licensing bill and
sent it to Reagan to get him to sign it. For
once, we did something together. It was Judge
Sherwin who was president of the club at the
time who brought that about.

Steen: So the Forest Practice Act was enacted, and
about this time, Jerry Brown gets elected and
appoints that wild woman, Claire Dedrick, as
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Resources Secretary. We have all this fuss over
EIRs and negative declarations.

Robinson: But she unfortunately didn't know what she
was doing.

Steen: All the logging trucks honking their horns
in Sacramento.

Robinson: She was a total washout. I1'd known Claire
for a long time. When she first was elected to
the board of directors, she told me that she
wanted to have some long talks with me, because
she was interested in forestry. That's one of
her pet concerns.

I'd been down there to help her with some-
thing in connection with a logging hearing in
San Mateo County--before she was elected to the
board. So I tried to tell her what the basic
problems are and explain these things. Every
time the subject would get a little complicated,
she'd grin and say, '"Don't confuse me with facts,"
and light another cigarette or pour another
drink, or something. That's just a favorite
comment of hers--'"Don't confuse me with facts."

I made many efforts to brief her on the
real problems, so that she could effectively
serve as a board member on this thing. Well,
goddamit, she was appointed Resource Secretary,
and she still didn't know. Then when all these
things came up, the only people she had around
her to advise her were the old guard in the
Division of Forestry--and those people support
the timber industry right down the line. That's
why she failed.

She quickly lost her credibility both with
the conservationists and she never had it, to
begin with, with industry, because she'd been
secretary for the Sierra Club board. At that
point, Jerry Brown kicked her upstairs.

Since then, Huey has done better. But hell!
He's got Hank Vaux as chairman of the board, for
God's sake! Hank doesn't believe in forestry,
either.
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Steen: I know Hank pretty well. He's an interesting
guy.

Robinson: Yes. He's first a Republican! Free
enterprise person.

Steen: He is an economist--

Robinson: That's right. Whatever forestry he advo-
cates has to first square with his theories of
economics and free enterprise. But forestry is
not suited to free enterprise--so this won't
work! He doesn't seem to know that--well, he
never will know it--but that's the way it is.
[Laughs] But that's why we have national
forests--because it won't work.

Steen: Now that we have the Act to license foresters,
how's it working? I'm going to quote from
Gordon Robinson--an article in the Chronicle
of January 29, 1978. You're pretty unhappy
with the way things are going, and they're
pairing you up with Lou Moran. They're quoting
from you, quoting from him, back and forth--I
don't know if you saw this--it's on the first
page of the Chronicle.

Robinson: I've never heard of it.

Steen: [Reading from article] You quote the problem
of soil erosion and your concerns--"Robinson,
however, is optimistic. [Maybe you didn't know
that.] He welcomes the latest state proposals
[this is last January] and believes that the
new members of the State Forest Board want to
promote widespread regeneration. Moreover,
Robinson believes that California inevitably
will come to value its forests and that in
another fifty years they will provide 'sustained
yield.'"

Robinson: I don't think I ever said that to anybody.
Steen: Carl Irving--do you know him?

Robinson: Yes.
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Steen: Staff writer for the Chronicle.

Robinson: Oh, he came and spent a day with me--he's
a good guy.

Steen: He's creating the news story by contrasting
you with other points of view. Are you optimistic?

Robinson: No. Oh, optimistic. [Laughs] I start
from scratch every time. [Laughs] I don't know
what I felt about the time that I had talked
with him. I did see this article, and I don't
remember that particular part of it. I thought
that he did a good job writing it up, and he
listened very carefully to what I had to say and
understood it. I thought he was okay.

Steen: If we have the toughest Forest Practice Act
in the nation--which I understand we do, isn't
that pretty good?

Robinson: If that's true, it's a reflection on the
rest of the nation, because it does not have a
sustained yield requirement. Unless you require
sustained yield, all this fiddling around about
rules in senseless.

Steen: We debated that quite a bit when we were
drafting the Santa Cruz County ordinance (the
CDF was involved on the committee to make sure
that the law was compatable with the Forest
Practice Act).

The argument seemed to be that because of
the regeneration requirements and the restrictions
on logging--particularly in the areas where
clearcutting's illegal, like down here, where
you can only take 60 percent of the trees over
eighteen inches, that in effect, you have
sustained yield. When you go back every ten
years, you take less and less.

‘ Even though the law doesn’'t really address
sustained yield specifically, the mathematics
is such because you're required to regenerate,
and you can't take it all; in effect, you have
sustained yield.
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Robinson: I realize that there are a number of
ways of bringing about sustained yield, and I
think that it can be done under the Forest
Practice Act without any--

Steen: I don't know how well it would work in
Northern California, where clearcutting is
still acceptable.

Robinson: I had recommended this repeatedly--but
Hank Vaux is determined to make sure nothing
comes of it--I've told it to him, and he just
goes, ha-ha-ha.

There are the minimum stocking standards
in that Forest Practice Act--and they're
contradictory. It says in one place that
you have to leave so many seedlings per acre
on various sites, and, in another place, it
says you have to leave so many square feet of
basal area per acre. But there's nothing to
say which of these is to be applied.

If you read the law to mean that those
are minimum rules to apply to the landowner
or the logger, that says that the logger is
free to clearcut or not to clearcut, depending
upon what he decides to do [laughs]-—-and that's
stupid.

I would interpret the intent of having
those two standards in there to mean that
the responsibility of applying that section
is with the Division of Forestry--not with
the owner.

If you can accept that, then they could
set rules like this: no timber harvest plan
shall be approved if it reduces basal area
to less than 50 percent of normal basal area
for the site and type. And there should be
no final harvest or clearcutting until trees
have reached culmination of mean annual
increment--or some percentage of culmination
of mean annual increment.

Steen: I recently went on a field trip the CDF
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sponsored for their Forest Board through this
area. dJim Greig, who you know--consulting
forester in Soquel, showed two areas he's
working on. One is pretty much a hardwood
stand; the other is a kind of a ratty looking
stand of pine and redwood--high elevation.

He made the statement over and over again
that the Forest Practice Act makes it easier
to practice bad forestry than good forestry--
that the restrictions on the way you count a
tree——the fact that you can't count hardwoods--
almost eliminates hardwood forest management.

He showed us the area that was a pure _
stand hardwood, and rather than going in with
one of these big Letourneaux and smashing it
flat, he wanted to manage the hardwood for the
landowner. He thought there was a market for
firewood, and that the Forest Practice Act was
really holding him back, because you can't count
hardwoods. 1It’'s conifer oriented.

Robinson: Has he pointed this out?

Steen: Hank Vaux and ha